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Friday, November 18, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Any matters?

     MS. LEA:  Not at this time, sir, that I am aware of.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chair, I have provided Ms. Lea with copies of the response to the undertaking that the Union panel number 3 gave yesterday with respect to the distances from transmission pipelines of the shippers described in schedule 3 to Union's evidence.  And for those who aren't here, but who are listening, the minimum distance is 0.1 kilometres, the maximum distance is 12.5 kilometres and the median distance is 4.5 kilometres.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.


Mr. Moran, there are a number of undertakings that your company has accepted.  Any idea as to when they may be filed?


MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I will be able to report on that after the lunch break.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you.  Let's resume the cross‑examination.  Mr. Lokan.  Oh, Mr. Manning has changed seats on me.


UNION GAS LIMITED PANEL 3; RESUMED:

David Simpson; Previously Sworn


David Lawrence Dent; Previously Sworn


Mark Kitchen; Previously Affirmed

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MANNING:

MR. MANNING:  My client is with me today and the logistics meant I moved here.  I will go before Mr. Lokan, if that is okay.  Forgive me for being to your side at this stage.


I have some simple questions about capacity, or, rather, volume of gas.  These are matters that I raised briefly with a previous panel, but I am told that you're the right people to ask these questions of.


Firstly, I was interested to know if you have an idea of -- in ballpark terms, of the total volume of gas that will be used by the GEC, if it becomes your customer, say.  I will move through the questions, actually, and then you can come back on all of them.


The second question is:  What proportion of your total sales, if I can call them that, will that represent?


The next question is whether you've had any involvement with the proposed Invenergy or St. Clair Centre, as I believe it is known, and whether you have given any thought to the total volumes that you would be supplying to that, assuming that they're dealing with you, and then aggregation of them.  I don't know if you have those figures.  It's a matter that was suggested to me that you would be able to respond to.


MR. DENT:  Mr. Chairman, it would be helpful for me if we just took those one at a time, and that would give me a chance to get to each of them.


MR. MANNING:  Yes, indeed.


MR. DENT:  First item?


MR. MANNING:  Is total volume for the GEC.


MR. DENT:  Total volume for the GEC at 40 percent load factor approximately is about 730 million cubic metres, or ballpark ‑‑ roughly 27, 28 Bcf, in those terms.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  Proportion that that would represent of your total supply, total sales?


MR. DENT:  Of our total sales, contract and non‑contract, that would be about 5 percent.


MR. MANNING:  And I think I heard that that would make them your biggest customer by some margin?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  At 40 percent, they would be ‑‑ yes, I think we could say they would be certainly the largest T1 customer at 40 percent load factor.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  Then the St. Clair Energy Centre, are you proposing to deal with them?  How is that going to work?


MR. DENT:  The St. Clair project, there's some publicly-available information that says they're about 60 percent, in rough ratio terms, of the GEC project.


So although I wouldn't be able to give specific volume numbers, that roughly 60 percent ratio would allow my friend to fill in the gap.


MR. MANNING:  Right.  Thank you.  And one final question.  Do you have the volumes -- the ballpark volumes that you just gave me for the GEC?  Do you have any idea how much that represents of Ontario's total gas consumption?


MR. DENT:  My recollection is that total Ontario gas consumption is approximately a trillion cubic feet, so ballpark, it would be somewhat less than 3 percent.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  That's very helpful.  That is all of my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.  Mr. Lokan?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. LOKAN:

MR. LOKAN:  Just to clarify that last 3 percent, is that 3 percent for just the GEC, or 3 percent for both GEC and St. Clair?


MR. DENT:  No.  That would be 3 percent for just the GEC facility.


MR. LOKAN:  So if St. Clair is about 60 percent as large cumulatively, they're about 5 percent on that 40 percent load factor?


MR. DENT:  If you used that ratio, that would be correct.  Again, I don't have the specific St. Clair volumes, but that rough ratio probably is at least a decent ballpark estimate.


MR. LOKAN:  So if these two projects go ahead, then they're -- looking just at those, there's approximately a 5 percent increase in the demand for natural gas in Ontario's system?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  I think that is fair to say.


MR. LOKAN:  I take it you would agree ‑‑ 


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, just to make sure I understand that, it is the demand -- what is it, the energy, or is it the big demand?  We better clarify this.


MR. DENT:  The way I understood the question, it was of the total molecules burned in Ontario, it would represent about 5 percent of today's current demand.


MR. VLAHOS:  Was that the question, Mr. Lokan?  You're looking at the total consumption?


MR. LOKAN:  Yes, because it was based on a 40 percent load factor rather than peak demand in the underlying assumption, so it was the total consumption.


I take it a 5 percent increase in total consumption would be enough to have an effect on natural gas prices?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure if you're making a specific reference to an interrogatory or evidence, or is that just a general question?


MR. LOKAN:  It is a general question.


MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly as part of our submission or application, I don't think we really contemplated that, but perhaps you could repeat your question and I will try and give you an answer.


MR. LOKAN:  I'm just asking, if you add 5 percent increase in demand to Ontario's total natural gas system, I take it that would be enough to affect the price of natural gas in Ontario?


MR. SIMPSON:  I would offer that I wouldn't necessarily jump to that conclusion.  Ontario is a very integrated natural gas marketplace within the larger scope of North America.


There's a tremendous amount of infrastructure that exists, upstream transportation, storage.  That demand is certainly a good-size demand, but on a North American scale it really isn't.  And the fact that North America truly is now an integrated natural gas marketplace, I would purely be speculating in terms of the definitive impact that might have on the price of gas in Ontario.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Lokan.  Mr. Scully, do you have any questions?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SCULLY:

MR. SCULLY:  Yes, I have a few, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you.


My questions will be for you, Mr. Kitchen.  If you could turn up the answers to interrogatories, specifically Mr. Aiken's interrogatories, I would like to discuss his first interrogatory.  In the answer to paragraph A of his interrogatories, you're talking about the $29 million potential margin loss if GEC is granted the direct connection and other customers seek to take advantage of that situation; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SCULLY:  And in that, you confirm that the largest portion of that margin loss would flow through to the general service customers.
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. SCULLY:  I just want to read your explanation of that in your paragraph A:

 

“Since in-franchise general service customers are 

the largest contributor to in-franchise design day demand, they will be allocated the largest portion of any demand-related costs not recovered from customers who are granted bypass competitive rates or physical bypass.
“Based on Union's RP 2003-0063 to approve a cost-allocation study general service customers account for approximately 60 percent of Union's in-franchise design day demand.”

     So that's the mechanics that are driving that flow through to that customer class; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. SCULLY:  And in the answers to these interrogatories, in paragraph (c), you say that Union is not able to provide an estimate of the impact by rate class.
     And I wondered at that, because in the next interrogatory --
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Scully, we're having a bit of difficulty hearing you.  Could you move closer to the mike, please.  Thank you.
     MR. SCULLY:  Sorry.  In his next interrogatory, interrogatory number 2, you have produced a table that does spread the impact by customer categories.
     Can you tell me why you couldn't do it for the $29 million?
     MR. KITCHEN:  As we indicated in part C of that interrogatory, the $29 million is a potential loss, and the actual loss will depend on the actual difference between any posted toll and any bypass competitive rate that is approved by the Board.
     Given that it's a maximum potential, I didn't feel comfortable with trying to estimate what the impact would be.
     MR. SCULLY:  So if we just said to you, Don't fuss about that.  It's 29 million bucks.  Spread it.  You could do it?
     What I'm tripping over is, on your attachment number 

-- your attachment to interrogatory number 2, it was 6,900,000 bucks that you had to deal with and you can spread that.
     MR. KITCHEN:  The reason that we were able to do the second interrogatory for Mr. Aiken was that it was specific to GEC and the amounts of capital were known; the revenues were known, and it was a much simpler task.
     To do the same analysis for the 19 customers that appear on schedule 3, it would be a long and extensive -- very long analysis that would need to be performed.  I'm not saying it can't be done, but it would be extremely arduous.
     I think that noting that approximately 60 percent of the in-franchised design day demands are related to general service markets and that's where the majority of the costs would go, is sufficient.
     MR. SCULLY:  So we should think in terms of 60 percent of $29 million or what's the ...     

MR. KITCHEN:  That would be a ballpark.
     MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  Then turning to that table that you did produce, I'm wondering why, when you're spreading that 6,900,000, and it largely goes to the general service class, I see up in line 1, under northern deliveries that the people in the north got 35,000.  Then going down to line 9 under the southern delivery area, those general service customers got 2,673,000 bucks.
     It seems to be a fair discrepancy between the two.  Can you walk us through why that happens?
     MR. KITCHEN:  The attachment to Mr. Aiken's interrogatory number 2 deals specifically with the impact of GEC on Union's customers.
     GEC is a southern operations area customer, and as a result, is served using the assets in the southern operations area.
     There is no impact on the allocation of demand-related costs in the north, because they are not a northern customer.
     MR. SCULLY:  Well, there is some impact.  If I see -- if I look at the northern delivery area, I see at least $49 million that spills over there.
     MR. KITCHEN:  It's 49,000.
     MR. SCULLY:  49,000 I mean.
     MR. KITCHEN:  The small impact is the result of the fact that the cost study is run on an integrated basis, and there are internal factors to the cost study that are impacted that run across operating areas.  They would largely represent small changes in the allocation of general operating costs.
     MR. SCULLY:  So what we're tripping over here is a north-south split in your cost allocation process?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  Under the approved cost study, we separately allocate the distribution 

demand-related costs between the north and the south and we do not allocate other transmission costs to the north because they are not using those assets.
     The only way that you could get a benefit in the north from GEC, is if we were to increase rates to reflect the allocation of other transmission costs in the -- of other transmission costs in the south to the north.
     MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  The Board, in your last cost of service rate application, 0063, gave you some directives in their appendix G.
     One of them was item number 8.  Let me read it to you:
     
“Union will provide, in its next rate

application, a detailed program for the 

integration of the cost allocation systems of the

respective operations of the former Centra Gas 

Ontario Inc. and Union Gas Limited.”

     I presume that that's going to be filed in your 2007 cost-of-service rate application?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. SCULLY:  And will that integration do anything to the north-south split allocation that we've just been talking about or will that still be there?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I think it's premature for me to say.  I haven't actually seen the results of the directive at this point.
     MR. SCULLY:  What about if we took the GEC situation and said to you, Oh, well, that plant's not in Sarnia, it's in Hurst, and asked you to do the attachment table.  Then would we see a comparable number flowing through to the general service customers in the north.
     MR. KITCHEN:  I would expect to see the benefits of the facility ending up in the north and not impacting the south or impacting the south only very minorly.
     MR. SCULLY:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, Board and Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.  My mind is going blank.  Mr. Dingwall.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL: 
     MR. DINGWALL:  Hopefully that is not causal to my cross-examination.
     Gentlemen, my name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.
     Our concern in this proceeding is based around whether or not new customers are added or are offered rates which are preferential over the rates that are offered to existing customers, and that's kind of the subtext of the questions that I'm going to be asking you.
     Now, there was some discussion of T1 firm contracts yesterday.  I take it from that discussion that these contracts are generally non-negotiatable, but there was one contract, a few years ago, in which there was some variation from the posted rate; is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think I need to just make clear, when I was speaking yesterday, that the ‑- there was actually -- it's not just one contract.  There are -- I think it's four contracts that were discounted, and those were bundled M7 contracts, not T1 contracts.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm sorry, there were seven contracts that were ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  No.  No.  There were four contracts within the M7 rate class that were discounted.  They were not in the T1 rate class.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So the discounted contracts were not in T1.  They were in M7?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So there are no discounted T1 contracts?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, there are not.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So it seems, then, that if there is any variation between the posted contract rates and the rates that customers can negotiate, that that's within the interruptible T1 rate; is that correct?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to the interruptible T1 contracts, can these customers acquire storage with that service?


MR. DENT:  Yes, they can.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is that one of the elements of where the T1 interruptible contract is negotiable, or is that a separate service?


MR. KITCHEN:  On the T1 rate schedule, storage is a separate service.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it's not within the T1 rate schedule?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.  It's within the T1 rate schedule, but it's a separate service, separate rate.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Does the use of storage within these ‑‑ this rate essentially make it non‑interruptible?  Can they use the storage to avoid interruption?


MR. DENT:  No, they could not.


MR. DINGWALL:  So the storage is more for mitigating the daily loads; is that correct?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  Storage would be used, as I described yesterday, the customer again delivering to Union, Union re-delivering to the plant.  And if there is any surplus or deficiency, storage takes a swing on that.


There's really no difference there, whether it's a firm or an interruptible contract in that process.


MR. DINGWALL:  There was some discussion yesterday as to the premium associated with interruption being a negotiatable element for the T1 interruptible contracts; is that correct?


MR. DENT:  I don't quite recall those words.  Certainly ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, I'm coming at this from the perspective of someone who comes into this industry every once in a while to ask folks like you questions.  So if you would like to couch it in your own terms, I would certainly be happy that that accuracy be provided.


MR. DENT:  Could you then repeat the question for my benefit?


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  I take it, from discussions yesterday, that the rates associated with T1 interruptible service vary.  One of the factors of variation is the proximity of the customer to transmission lines?


MR. DENT:  No, that's incorrect.  That's not part of the criteria.  The criteria has nothing to do with location or distance to a transmission line.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is the criteria based around the actual propensity of that customer's location to actual interruption?


MR. DENT:  Well, in general terms, curtailment would be one of the factors, but location itself is -- distance to the interconnect is really not an issue.


MR. DINGWALL:  So what, then, are the factors where Union exercises discretion in the negotiation of T1 interruptible rates?


MR. DENT:  The four factors include size or the volume of interruptible transport that the customer contracts for, and obviously size does matter.


Secondly, load factor, a higher load factor is certainly better than a low load factor.  Curtailment is an issue, if a customer, for example, can turn off his plant with, say, an hour's notice, that is certainly better than a 4-, 12- or 18-hour notice.


And then the final factor is one of competition, and that generally refers to competition with alternate fuels and, in our market today, oil is a fairly aggressive competitive alternative.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, the factors with which you vary the rates, are there other elements of the rate schedule itself that are negotiable?  Is compressor fuel something that is negotiable?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, it is not.


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me a breakdown of what exactly compressor fuel does?  I'm looking for more of the high-level explanation rather than the detailed we'll-be-here-for-three-weeks explanation.


MR. KITCHEN:  The rate for compressor fuel covers off the fuel used in the operation of the compressor stations.  It also includes unaccounted-for gas.


MR. DINGWALL:  And the compressor stations are not located on transmission lines.  They're located within the distribution system; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  The compressors are located at Dawn and they're also located on transmission lines.


MR. DINGWALL:  And at storage facilities?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's what I meant when I said that, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So is there a causal connection between the location of a customer and the use or the need for compressor fuel?


MR. KITCHEN:  Compressor fuel is charged on a system‑wide basis.  We do not recognize, in the compressor fuel -- or, sorry, in the calculation of the rate the specific benefits that may be provided by customers, depending on which system or where they deliver.  It is a shared cost.  As a result of that sharing, the compressor fuel ratios are lower than they otherwise would be for some customers and higher than they otherwise would be for others.  


This was something that was recently reviewed in the M16 response, the M16 directive, where compressor fuel was an issue there.


We don't stream benefits of compressor fuel to individual customers in the same way that we don't stream costs to individual customers.


MR. DINGWALL:  In answers to Mr. Manning, you indicated that the potential ‑‑ it might have been a combination of Mr. Manning and Mr. Lokan -- one of the potential impacts of the GEC plant is that there could be approximately a 3 percent increase in consumption in the Union Gas franchise territory.


Does increased consumption lead to an increased need for the use of compressor fuel?


MR. KITCHEN:  The increase in consumption, depending on where the consumption is, will increase compressor fuel.  It doesn't necessarily mean, though, that the rate will increase, because at the same time the compressor fuel is going up, the units over which that compressor fuel is recovered goes up.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would you agree with me that if there is higher throughput in the system, then there is higher pressure in the pipes?


MR. KITCHEN:  You're starting to get beyond me, in terms of my ability to talk about engineering.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  But I take it from your earlier answer that compressor fuel is a fixed amount, or it's budgeted on a fixed basis for prospective years; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, for my final series of questions, I would like to take you to the popular schedule 3 to the intervenor evidence.


As I understand it ‑ again, please feel free to connect any technical mis-terming which I might be applying ‑ this schedule identifies customers who are located within a relative proximity of transmission lines who might be in some position to seek some form of bypass in the event that that door is opened up.


Am I understanding this correctly?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, out of these customers identified on the schedule, are any of them subject to negotiated rates?
     MR. DENT:  Just let me check.  Yes.  There are a number that would be subject to negotiated rates.  And that's on the interruptible portion of their consumption or, pardon me, contract.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So do these customers have, just to understand your last statement, a combination between firm and interruptible to make up their contracts with Union?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  That would be true for some of them.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So in addition to having the choice of firm and interruptible service, they also have the choice of having both firm and interruptible service; is that correct?
     MR. DENT:  Could you repeat that question?

MR. DINGWALL:  In addition to having the choice of other firm or interruptible service, do they also have the choice of having a combination of firm plus interruptible?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  That's true.  A contract demand within the T1 rate schedule can accommodate a part firm and part interruptible.  Then in the north the rates 20 and rates 100 are the firm contracts.  But a customer can lay on top of that an interruptible contract, for example, rate 25 or rate 30.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  And are all of these elements things that are publicly known, that you can layer on contracts?
     MR. DENT:  I don't think that is hidden from anybody.  Certainly our sales reps are out talking to customers, and relaying to customers the value in both our firm and interruptible services, and customers do try to optimize their own individual plant situation by looking at the firm portion they might want and the interruptible they might desire in order to create a service package for them that gives them the -- what they feel is a good maximum value for what they receive from Union.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Are there time limits associated -- or term limits associated with the length of the contracts that these customers are being served under?
     MR. DENT:  The different customers could have different contract terms.  Term flexibility is a part of the contracting process.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me just a broad indication of what various terms are available, non-specific, of course -- some examples, of course, non-specific of what terms are out there.
     MR. DENT:  Certainly the minimum term is a year, but if my memory serves me correctly, I think we could have at least one contract that would be as much as a 15-year contract.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And do any of these longer-term contracts have any provisions that are subject to variations, such as changes in rate structures?
     MR. DENT:  In what way do you mean changes in rate structure?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, if I were looking at a contract and I were looking at it being some form of long-term contract, I would probably also want to maximize the benefit potential, so if the rate structures changed in a material way so as to make part of the contract either irrelevant or unperformable, that would be kind of one of those material change things that might come in.  Different people express it in different ways.  I'm wondering if you have something along that line.
     MR. DENT:  Well, if I do understand your question, if a customer has a longer-term contract and if that rate changes, say, for the firm T1 rate, then that new rate would become part of the customer's cost as well.  That --just because he has a 15-year contract doesn't mean that he's not subject to the decision of the Board where just and reasonable rates are applied to a new or to -- in a rate case to our rate schedules.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So are these contracts then firm and binding otherwise?
     MR. DENT:  Certainly.  All of our contracts are binding.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Have you given your -- have you given any thought to what would happen in the event that rate structures are further unbundled as to whether or not that would open up contractual opportunities to any of these clients?
     MR. DENT:  No, I haven't given that any consideration.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I believe you gave the answer yesterday, in looking at Mr. Aiken's interrogatories, the popular attachment is interrogatory number 2, that this calculation was based on Greenfield's being served under a T1 firm contract; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I take it that if there's some degree of flexibility in an interruptible contract, that the amount -- just so I understand what is involved, in terms of this, the amount of impact of Greenfield's not becoming a Union customer would be somewhat reduced; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  It would depend upon how Greenfield Energy contracted with Union, but, yes, if they were to take an interruptible service, then there would be a reduced benefit going to in-franchised customers.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Is that benefit based on the number of services that they contract for elsewhere?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure I understand the question.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, can you give me an indication of from what elements of the service changed from firm to interruptible, there would be a reduced derivation of benefit?
     MR. KITCHEN:  What I was referring to is to the extent that Greenfield opts for some combination of firm and interruptible service, that will have a different impact than if they opted for an entirely interruptible service.
     MR. DINGWALL:  My final question.  There was some mention yesterday of there being the ability with an interruptible contract, potentially for Greenfield, to avoid interruption through delivery of incremental gas.  Can you give me an indication of how that would work?
     MR. DENT:  Well, that would apply not just to Greenfield, but we've done that in practical terms with other customers.  In the Sarnia industrial area, and just if I wasn't clear yesterday when I spoke of west of Dawn, west of Dawn in the Sarnia industrial market is the context of my remarks.
     And west of Dawn because the system has a fair bit of looseness in it, the interruptions there are probably fewer than if we were east of Dawn, or if in some other area of the system such as Windsor or Leamington.  
     In a situation where we've had an interruption or curtailment in the past for molecule delivery reasons, our T1 interruptible customers were interrupted, but we work with those customers to allow them to continue to burn at their facility as long as they delivered incremental gas to Union.  I believe the location at that time was Dawn, and as long as those customers brought in that incremental gas to match their consumption, then even though they were interrupted, they continued -- they were able to continue to burn at their plant.
     And of course, this helps everybody, because it again increases the throughput.  It helps the customer.  It provides value to the customer.  But it is a circumstance where a customer, by his own action, in cooperation with Union and the flexibility that Union has in the Sarnia industrial area, to allow them to continue to operate.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Just so I understand that further.  When you interrupt a customer, you stop gas going to that customer's plant; is that correct?
     MR. DENT:  Well, we would generally call them and give them the interruption notice and would expect that they would stop consuming and either not burn gas or flip to an alternate fuel, depending on the individual customer.
     MR. DINGWALL:  What would happen to their deliveries?  Would they continue delivering on the -- under their contract?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, sir.  Their obligated deliveries would continue. 
     MR. DINGWALL:  And they would be compensated for those deliveries, how?  If they're delivering it, but they're not burning it, someone else is obviously burning it, I would guess.


MR. DENT:  Well, the assumption there is that they're still burning the firm portion of their contract, but they're still obligated to deliver their daily amount to Union.  They can burn ‑‑ their firm burn is fine, but the interruptible portion, they do need to curtail that or work with Union to remedy that curtailment.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So they either ‑‑ if they have an interruptible portion in addition to a firm portion, they continue delivering their interruptible portion or they stop delivering their interruptible portion?


MR. DENT:  No.  They would continue to deliver their obligated DCQ.


MR. DINGWALL:  But if they wanted to burn it, they would have to deliver incremental gas; is that correct?


MR. DENT:  In the situation we are discussing, if the interruption was called and they wanted to continue to burn, they would need to burn -‑ they would need to deliver to Union a volume equal to the consumption at the plant.


MR. DINGWALL:  So taking a look at it from the plant's perspective, they would have to deliver their firm amount which they consumed; they would have to deliver their interruptible amount which they wouldn't consume, but they would receive some form of compensation for that under the interruption tariff; and then, if they wanted to burn their interruptible amount, they would have to deliver incremental gas; correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DENT:  If I'm understanding your question, I think what is happening there is that their deliveries -- even when they stop consuming, their deliveries to Union still go into their storage account.  So they still have -‑ they're still getting the benefit of that delivery to Union.


MR. DINGWALL:  But just not burning it on that day?


MR. DENT:  That would be correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So it's something that is then dealt with through the balancing mechanisms, but they're still -‑ if they're in the Sarnia area, they're still able to deliver incremental gas.  Whether they want to would be dependant on really what the price was at that time?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  That would be a customer choice, as far as that goes.  Again, price would enter into that customer decision.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I take it that in other areas of your system that that particular benefit is not available; is that correct?


MR. DENT:  There are areas on the system where delivering incremental gas would not be able to ‑‑ we wouldn't be able to allow the customer to remain ‑‑ to continue to burn, even if they did deliver incremental molecules, that is correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is this location one of the factors that you use in order to guide the rate that you negotiate for interruptible service in the Sarnia area?


MR. DENT:  Could you repeat that question, please?


MR. DINGWALL:  Is this unique geographical feature something that you would use to guide how you negotiate your rates for interruptible service in this particular area?


MR. DENT:  No.  I think it is more the issue there is to give the customer comfort that there is some action that he can do to continue to allow his facility to burn.


So it is not necessarily a factor in the rate itself, but it is a factor in the customer understanding that with some action on his part there is a ‑‑ there's only a remote chance of any interruption on his part.


He basically does some action by delivering gas to Union, and because of the system in that area, he knows that his facility will be able to continue to run.


MR. DINGWALL:  Going back to schedule 3 to the intervenor evidence, are there any of these customers that are actually located in this particular area?


MR. DENT:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Are there many?  Let me ask you another question, Mr. Dent. 


You've indicated that there are some customers on this schedule in this area.  Are those customers being served under an interruptible rate, as well?


MR. DENT:  Subject to check, my understanding is that there is a component of interruptible, but I would need to check that.


MR. DINGWALL:  When you say there is a component of interruptible, is that for a customer, or would that be for more than one customer?


MR. DENT:  Again, subject to check, I believe it is for more than one customer.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would it be for most of the customers in that area?


MR. DENT:  Several.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Kitchen, just to clarify something before we move on, in your exchange with Mr. Dingwall, you referred to -- I heard four contracts they have received a discount under the -- I assume under the M7 rate.


My recollection of yesterday's record ‑ and I just checked this - there was one customer.  So is it one customer with four contracts or ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  I think I misspoke myself yesterday.  There are four contracts.  They all receive the same discount, in terms of being a higher load factor and -- in other words, we're treating them as a sub-class within the M7 rate.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So it's four different customers?


MR. KITCHEN:  Four different customers.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you for that.  Mr. Brown, do you have any questions?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BROWN:

MR. BROWN:  Yes, I do, sir.  Panel, my name is David Brown.  I'm acting for TransCanada Energy, who, as you know, is a developer and operator of generator plants.


In the course of your intervenor evidence, you described the T1 service as one that is suitable for the characteristics of a gas‑fired generator.


My questions to you today will be more informational in nature, dealing with your T1 service, and perhaps I could ask you to turn to the rate schedule for rate T1, which I think is found at tab 9 of GEC's evidence.


My questions are really going to fall into three areas, first rates, although a lot of questions have already been asked on that; secondly, obligated quantity; and, thirdly, deliverability inventories.  Those are the three areas.


Dealing with rates, as I understand your evidence to this point of time, if I as a potential gas‑fired generator customer were to come to you and express an interest in T1 service, if I was to discuss firm service with you, am I correct that your position would be that the rates indicated on the T1 rate schedule are non‑negotiable under any circumstance?  Is that a correct understanding?


MR. DENT:  The firm rates, yes.


MR. BROWN:  And that would apply both to the demand charge component and to the commodity component; correct?


MR. DENT:  That's correct.


MR. BROWN:  If we were then to discuss interruptible, your response to me would be, Well, we might be able to negotiate a rate; correct?  There would be some flexibility there?


MR. DENT:  It is a negotiable rate.


MR. BROWN:  Then, thirdly, your T1 rate also includes storage service, and I noticed that storage service has both annual firm injection and withdrawal rights, as well as annual interruptible withdrawal rights.


If I was to raise the issue of storage service with you, would we be able to negotiate discounts from your posted totals?  Or what would your response be?
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. DENT:  No, we wouldn't.
     MR. BROWN:  So whether I am taking firm injection withdrawal rights or interruptible injection withdrawal rights, I would not be able to negotiate a discount from the posted tolls with Union Gas; is that correct? 
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.  

     MR. BROWN:  Mr. Dent, if I could ask you to turn to page 3 of the rate T1 rate schedule, please.
     You will notice, sir, that there is a section entitled "notes."  If you drop down with me to note number 4, it reads that:  

“Either Union or a customer or potential customer may apply to this Board to fix rates and other charges different from the rates and charges specified herein, if they're considered by either party to be necessary, desirable and in the public interest.”

Does that option of approaching this Board to set different rates for T1 service than are posted in the tariff apply to firm transportation and storage service?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, it does.
     MR. BROWN:  So if we were to enter into discussions on firm service and in the course of that - I made the pitch to you that the posted demand charge was just too onerous for the circumstances of my plant - what you're saying is I could then apply to this board for approval of a discount from the posted toll for the demand charge; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  You could bring forward an application for a -- essentially a bypass competitive rate.
     MR. BROWN:  So that's what we would be talking about, a bypass competitive rate kind of application?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Essentially I think that's what that cause contemplated.  But either party, customer or Union, can bring forward applications to change rates.  
     MR. BROWN:  Under what circumstances, Mr. Kitchen, would Union support an application by a potential customer for Board approval of a T1 rate that's at a discount to the posted tariff?  Under what circumstances?  What factors would you take into account?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I think, Mr. Brown, that may be a question better left for panel 4.
     MR. BROWN:  Well, it may be, but you're the rate guy, and I think Mr. Dent is the sales guy.  And I suspect Mr. Dent is the person that the potential customer is going to be dealing with.  So since you're the folks I have to talk to, perhaps you could assist me, to the best of your knowledge, ability and experience, as to what Union's response would be to my question.  That is, under what circumstances would you support me in going to the Board for a discount from the posted toll?
     MR. DENT:  I think, from my point of view, there would have to be a clear case presented by the customer to me that, indeed, that was in the public interest.
     And then that would, again, have to run through the internal process of Union.  But I think there is -- there would be definitely a notice on the customer to demonstrate why a discount to them would be in the public interest.
     MR. BROWN:  What would I have to demonstrate to you, Mr. Dent, to make it clear, in your mind, that it's a clear case of the public interest, as you put it?
     MR. KITCHEN:  From our point of view, we would essentially put the request through the filter that the Board has set out in the past to which its regulatory precedent -- to determine whether or not we believe the rate to be in the public interest.
     There would have to be some recognition, from my point of view anyway, of special harm, or I guess the corollary of that, special benefit.
     Now, I can't speculate on what that is until we have a situation.  But that is really what we would do.
     In essence, what I was punting at the panel for, I was punting for myself and Mr. Birmingham, so you would have got another shot at it, but I think we should probably take that question, because there will probably be more discussion on that.  
     MR. BROWN:  As a matter of Union's experience over the last ten years, have you been faced with a request by a customer to support it in an application to the Board for a discount to the posted tolls on the T1 tariff?
     MR. DENT:  Not that I'm aware of.
     MR. BROWN:  Continuing on this issue of rates.  My friend, Ms. Lea, asked you a few questions on page 1 or language that on page 1 of the tariff, which was language that indicated that the charges were maximums and could change periodically.
     I think, Mr. Kitchen, you explained the genesis of that language.  And did I understand your explanation to be that that language was put in at a time when Union contemplated that it would be going into and operating under a PBR system for an extended period of time?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  The language was added to allow Union to manage capacity utilization risk over -- in a period -- in a PBR period when there was no cost of service.
     At this point, we can't conceive of a situation where we would offer a discount -- offer a discount without coming to the Board and, in fact, we're considering and will likely remove that language in our '07 proceeding.
     MR. BROWN:  At a conceptual level, when you put that language in, was it Union's view that postage-stamp ratemaking would not continue under a PBR regime?
     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  I don't think that was our view.  I think, as I said, it was our view that we needed some mechanism to manage capacity utilization risk in a period where there was no cost of service.
     One of the options may have been to deal with bypass.
     MR. BROWN:  Now, my friend, Mr. Dingwall, asked you questions about long-term contracts and the stability of rates and long-term T1 contracts.  And I think, Mr. Dent, your answer was regardless of the length of the contract, the rate for service would vary in accordance with Board orders.
     If that is the case, sir, what would you say to me as a potential customer as to why I should negotiate a T1 contract with Union for any longer than one year?  What benefit or what upside would there be to a multi-year contract, from my point of view?
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. DENT:  Well, our minimum term on a contract is one year, and these are normally -- can normally roll.  But a multi-year contract often is tied to the economics of the project to make sure that we -- that the -- that there is a full return that comes back to the project.  And certainly some customers have a comfort level that they would like a longer-term contract as well.
     MR. BROWN:  Well, I can understand the benefit of, to Union especially, if you have to put in a new facility, you would want some certainty that the customer will be a customer for a long period of time to allow you to recoup your investment.
     But in terms of the reasons you would advance to a client as to why they should lock-in for a long period of time, could you articulate two or three reasons that you offer to clients as to what the benefit to them would be of that kind of arrangement.
     MR. DENT:  I think the client -- I would offer to the client that if he's got -- he's matching, trying to match his long-term -- some long-term plans to overall contracting, that there may be some benefit in him establishing credibility with his lenders, the financing element of it.  He can demonstrate he has service for a longer period of time and that can give lenders some measure of comfort.
     MR. BROWN:  Could I take you, sir, back again to page 3 of the rate tariff.  You have enumerated in section 2 to the notes there - that is, Union has enumerated in section 2 - factors that you take into account in negotiating the interruptible.


I take it, in terms of direction, that if my volume is big, you're prepared to negotiate a lower rate; correct?


MR. DENT:  Size would have a factor.  Again, larger size, generally you would see ‑‑ you would see a ‑‑ that taken into consideration with the rate.


MR. BROWN:  Yes.  Similarly, a higher load factor would tend towards a lower rate?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  I would agree with that, that a customer providing a higher load factor would be eligible for a lower rate, all things being equal.


MR. BROWN:  Then in terms of interruptibility, the longer I am prepared to be a pain, the lower my rate will be?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  There could be some element of days of interruption and also some element of how quickly or slowly could you stop using gas or take the interruption.


MR. BROWN:  In terms of competition, I think, as you said, if it's a flip of the coin to me as between oil and natural gas, you would be prepared to shave the price in order to get me as a gas customer?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  The alternate fuel competition issue is a significant one.


MR. BROWN:  Now, in terms of other factors, if I was to approach you and say, Well, look, I would like to take some firm transportation, but I also want some interruptible, would my willingness to take a firm component allow me to negotiate a lower interruptible rate with you than if I had no firm transportation?


MR. DENT:  Well, it would probably depend from case to case, but, in general, I would say, no, that the interruptible would be its own ‑‑ would be negotiated on its own.


MR. BROWN:  And just so I'm clear on this issue of west of Dawn -- east of Dawn that you went over with Mr. Dingwall, if I'm west of Dawn on the Sarnia industrial, I'm not going to get a lower negotiated interruptible price, but there are some operational things that you can do for me to help me out if there is interruption?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.  Just because you're in the Sarnia industrial area itself wouldn't automatically qualify you for any kind of a significant ‑‑ or any discount period over somebody that would be east of Dawn.


The interruptible service for customers on either side of Dawn would be the same.


MR. BROWN:  Now, I think, sir, Union, in response to one of the interrogatories, indicated that in terms of its interruptible T1 service, it could negotiate a rate within a Board‑approved range.


What is the Board‑approved range?  Would I find that on the rate schedule?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  It's on ‑‑ I can't remember where it is.  It's on page 3 of 5 of the rate schedule --


MR. BROWN:  Yes.


MR. DENT:  -- under commodity charge, and it is section C, interruptible transportation, commodity.


And the maximum amount would be 2.6585 cents per cubic metre.


MR. BROWN:  You must be looking at the October tariff.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  It's the tariff that was approved effective October 1st, 2005.


MR. BROWN:  Right.  And I think GEC filed the July 1st tariff and the corresponding number was 2.5923, so we're talking about the same thing?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BROWN:  Sorry, sir?


MR. DENT:  My friend here just pulled out ‑‑ I had the updated rate schedule, and Mr. Simpson here just pulled out the one that GEC filed.  But, you're right, it was just a different date.


MR. BROWN:  So that number that appears in item C on page 3 is the upper range of the band in which Union is authorized to negotiate?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  That would be ‑‑ we couldn't charge any more than that.


MR. BROWN:  How far down could I knock you within the Board-approved range before you would say to me, You're going below the floor of the Board-approved range?


MR. DENT:  Well, knocking me down would really have nothing to do with it.


It's really, really an issue there of one where, yes, we take those four things into consideration, but we want to ensure that our rates are applied consistently and fairly to all of our customers.


Mr. Warren yesterday talked a little bit about whether Union's the gatekeeper.  And upon a little bit of reflection on that, I'm a bit comfortable with that -- uncomfortable with that terminology.  It would almost sound a bit like Union's trying to keep customers out as a gate keeper, and I certainly wouldn't want to convey that impression to anybody, and certainly not my friends at GEC.  


But, again, from the point of view of "knocking me down", it's more the application of applying rates in a fair, consistent, equitable way, a non‑discriminatory way so that ‑‑ so customers are treated fairly, because if customers feel they're being treated unfairly, then, again, the Board is aware they can come and appeal that unfairness.


So we have not only an obligation, but I believe a responsibility, to treat customers fairly, and that includes both firm and interruptible customers.


MR. BROWN:  My use of the words "knocking down" was too colloquial.  Let me put it in the context of a customer wanting to do business with you and to negotiate a mutually-accepted rate, but if I as a potential customer were to read the evidence in this proceeding, I think I would be left with the impression that there is a Board‑approved range - that is, a minimum and a maximum - within which I could negotiate interruptible T1 service with Union.


You pointed me to where I can find the ceiling for that range.  What I'm asking is:  What is the floor?  What would you tell me, as the customer, would represent the minimum commodity charge that I could pay Union for interruptible T1 service, since of course I'm very concerned about minimizing costs?


MR. DENT:  Sure.  From the point of view of the interruptible rate itself, again, there is an issue for the customer of obtaining value and we certainly understand that.  The flip side of that, as Union offers value to a customer, is to ensure, at least in my mind, that all customers are treated equitably and fairly.  


So depending on what type of customer is coming to us, we try to place them in line with their peers.  Again, there may be some unique elements of each customer size, perhaps being one of them where there may be something that would justify either a higher or lower number than what their "peers" would already be paying.


Again, it would come back to looking at the individual customer and the issue of being fair and non‑discriminatory to that customer.


MR. BROWN:  Mr. Dent, I don't want to belabour the point.  I really am truly trying to seek information.


Is it really the case that there is not a Board‑approved range; that if I as a customer were to approach Union, you would show me what the maximum commodity charge for interruptible service would be, but then it would lie within Union's discretion to negotiate some lower commodity charge for interruptible service, because if it's a Board‑approved range, just thinking about Board‑approved tariffs, I would expect you would be able to pull out a piece of paper and show me that 2.3 cents is the minimum of the Board-approved range?  But I get the sense that that is not the way this exercise works.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DENT:  Well, I guess there's two elements.  First, there is no minimum, but we, as the company, negotiate with the customer, arrive at what provides we hope for the customer a good value.  And I would say, although you don't have, to quote our friend, "a piece of paper", what we do have at Union is a good track record of treating our customers fairly and reasonably, and we really don't have a record of customers complaining that we've been treating them unfairly with respect to our interruptible transportation rates.


MR. BROWN:  I think in yesterday's evidence Mr. Dent, either yourself or it may have been Mr. Kitchen, said that the negotiated interruptible rate would have to be fall within a range of peer customers.


Do I take it, from that, then, that if I come to you as a potential gas-fired generation customer, the minimum that I would pay for interruptible commodity would be no lower than what an existing Union Gas fired generator, taking interruptible service under T1, is currently paying?
     MR. DENT:  Again, it depends on the variety of factors.  There may be factors for a new customer that may make his interruptible rate, should be a little bit higher than what his peers are, perhaps, a little bit lower, perhaps somewhere in the middle.  It really depends on the individual circumstances.
     MR. BROWN:  And if I were to come to you as a new customer and you describe this process to me and said that there are a number of factors that Union would take into account in ascertaining where the appropriate landing point would be for a negotiated interruptible rate, could you hand me a piece of paper in advance and say, Look, here are the factors that we take into account, and these factors will help you negotiate a lower rate than your peer group?  These factors may result in you paying a higher rate than your peer group.  Would you be handing me that kind of piece of paper?  And if you aren't, why not?
     MR. DENT:  Again, repeat what's on that piece of paper again?
     MR. BROWN:  Well, you've described, to my ear, a process of negotiation by which Union applies a high degree of judgment to determine whether or not a particular interruptible commodity charge would be fair in all of the circumstances, taking into account what other peer group customers are currently paying.
     And my question is:  Do you list what those factors are that you turn to to apply that discretionary judgment, and do you tell your customer, your potential customers up front that, Look, here are some factors that if you fall into these, we think we can get you a better rate than what others in your group are paying?  But here is some other if you fall into those, you're going to end up paying more than what others in your peer group are paying.
     MR. DENT:  Well, first off, I mean the piece of paper I think is a rate schedule itself.  It outlines those four characteristics.  So there is nothing hidden about that.
     But seemingly underlying the question is this kind of concept that Union Gas is out to grab -- excuse me, pardon me -- to grab an extra nickel or dime to kind of stuff in our own pocket.  And again that is --
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Dent, I'm sorry, that was not the question.
     MR. BROWN:  You're misconstruing my question, sir, because that is the last thing that -- I'm not suggesting that.
     What I'm suggesting is that when you have a new customer coming to you to try and negotiate a rate, disclosure of information and knowledge of information is a very important component to the negotiating process.
     And if a customer knows in advance what all of the factors are that Union is going to take into account, that results in a certain kind of negotiation.
     If a customer doesn't know in advance all of the factors Union is going to take into account, that's a different kind of negotiation.  So I'm really getting more to the transparency.
     Before I walk into the door to talk with you, am I going to know everything that you're going to apply to this exercise of landing on interruptible commodity charge?
     MR. DENT:  Well, then I would simply say that those factors are part of the rate schedule.  Those factors are shared with customers and those rate schedules are readily available.  So, yes, to that extent, that information is shared and then as I said earlier, we really have a good track record in our treatment of customers.
     MR. BROWN:  But do I take it the one piece of information that you would not give to me in advance is what the lowest commodity charge for interruptible service currently is in Union's franchise area for T1 customers?
     MR. DENT:  No.  We wouldn't share specific rates that other customers are paying.
     MR. BROWN:  Even on a no-names basis?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  Certainly not the specific rate.  Probably a range, but certainly not the specific rate.
     MR. BROWN:  I think one other question on interruptible service, sir.  Remaining on page 3 of the tariff -- if you go to note 3 there's a reference there to a customer paying a minimum interruptible transportation activity -- actually, page 4, a minimum interruptible transportation activity level.
     How does Union calculate that amount, sir, and -- well, how do you calculate that amount?
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. DENT:  There would probably be several things going into that, the economics of the project might impact that, and the level of the minimum annual revenue might also have an impact there as well.
     MR. BROWN:  Could you explain how both of those factors would impact the resulting activity level number?  Again, it's on the basis, if I'm coming to you as a new customer and I look at your tariff and see, well, gee, there might be a minimum interruptible transportation activity level that will be one of the factors in the contract and there seems to be overrun associated with that, that leads me to believe that I've got to deliver a minimum amount over the course of the year.  And if I don't, there may be a financial consequence if I don't, or if I overrun, there will be a financial consequence.
     MR. DENT:  Well, again, it would be a 

customer-to-customer situation, and it would be outlined in the contract that was ultimately signed by the customer.
     MR. BROWN:  But before I walked into your office, would I be able to go to Union's website and find anything that would tell me the process you go through to calculate the minimum interruptible transportation activity level for T1 customers?
     MR. DENT:  No, there wouldn't.
     MR. BROWN:  Is there anything that you could undertake to file in this proceeding that would set out the methodology that Union uses to calculate minimum interruptible transportation activity levels for T1 interruptible customers?
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. DENT:  I would undertake to list some factors that influence that, if that would help.
     MR. BROWN:  That would be very helpful, sir, if you could do that.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Brown, would you put your request, again, please.
     MR. BROWN:  The undertaking requested is for Union Gas to file an explanation and description of the method it uses and factors that it takes into account in calculating the minimum interruptible transportation activity level for a potential T1 interruptible customer.
     MR. DENT:  I heard the factors.
     MR. BROWN:  Methodology or elements.  I want to know what you take into account and how you do it.
     MR. VLAHOS:  And Mr. Brown, I'm just wondering -- so the probative value of this at this stage, can you help me with that?  That would be a response filed and then, what, if you don't have an opportunity to cross-examine on that?
     MR. BROWN:  Well, I think it would be simply another piece of evidence, sir, that would allow one to assess what kind of final argument could be made on the issue of the adequacy or suitability, if I could call it that, of the T1 service, since that seems to be one of the issues at play in this proceeding.
     MR. VLAHOS:  But Mr. Dent, I understand there is no such a paper right now.  You have to come up with it now.
     MR. DENT:  If you're talking about, if we're talking about factors, I think we can do that.
     MR. BROWN:  Then I would leave my undertaking as factors.
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.
     MR. VLAHOS:  You just want the factors?
     MR. BROWN:  The factors would be very helpful.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Again, I'm sorry there is a paper that sets out the factors?  Or are you going to come up with it now as to what your practice has been or is?
     MR. DENT:  No.  There isn't a factor, but there is a practice.  So we can share those factors.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That practice has been documented somewhere?  Or is this the first time you're going to document it?
     MR. DENT:  I believe -- I don't believe it is documented to date.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Can you speak to those factors today?


MR. DENT:  Yes, I believe I could.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, can you attempt to answer the question to Mr. Brown, as opposed to providing an undertaking?


MR. DENT:  I beg your pardon?


MR. VLAHOS:  Can you expand on your responses so that you can provide to us what those factors are today?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  We can do that today.


MR. VLAHOS:  Maybe I'm not making myself clear.


MR. CAMERON:  Can you do it now?


MR. VLAHOS:  Can you just expand on your answer to Mr. Brown to tell him as to what those factors are?


MR. DENT:  I beg your pardon.  No, I will need some assistance with that.


MR. CAMERON:  Might I suggest, Mr. Chairman, that if we are going to go ahead with this, that perhaps either at the morning break or, if it takes us that long, the lunch break, Mr. Dent will inform himself as well as he can to list the factors by way of an oral answer here before the ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Just one minute, please.


[The Board confers]


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Dent and Mr. Brown, the Board will accept an undertaking for Union Gas to provide a list of factors, as Mr. Brown has requested, and I would hope that the response to this undertaking will be provided by ‑‑ before the end of the oral proceeding.


MR. DENT:  Yes, sir.  I would like to add, as well, that, I mean, the interruptible schedule is not designed to be a mechanical type of thing where you put in some factors and you kick out a number, and I don't think we should be going down that road.


Again, the perspective that we have at Union is that we are treating customers in a non‑discriminatory way and that there isn't necessarily a formulaic way to do that, but that there is a good track record that we do treat customers fairly, taking all factors into consideration.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine, Mr. Dent.  So you will provide that response, and it does not have to be in writing.  You can talk to it, if you can ‑‑ are able to come up with a list before you are off the stand.  Otherwise, we will accept it in writing.


MR. BROWN:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Undertaking 5.1, please.


UNDERTAKING NO. U5.1:  LIST OF FACTORS UNION GAS TAKES 

INTO ACCOUNT IN CALCULATING THE MINIMUM INTERRUPTIBLE 

TRANSPORTATION ACTIVITY LEVEL FOR POTENTIAL T1 

INTERRUPTIBLE CUSTOMER

MR. BROWN:  Mr. Dent, one final question on interruptible service and the flexibility that you offer customers during the negotiating process.


Is the negotiation of the interruptible commodity charge sufficiently flexible that at the end of the day Union would only be charging the customer an amount required to recover the cost of actually putting the lateral pipeline into the ground?


MR. DENT:  No.  The rate itself is not negotiated to achieve that type of an incremental tolling type of concept.  The rate itself really is still consistent with a postage-stamp rate, even though it is a negotiated rate.


To my point earlier, that there isn't necessarily a mechanical element to it, there is a number of factors that go into each individual customer's circumstances with respect to the four key points outlined in the rate schedule, as well as the overall desire of Union to treat customers fairly and place them in the appropriate -- in an appropriate rate range.


MR. BROWN:  If I could turn, then, sir to ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Brown, are you moving to a new area?


MR. BROWN:  Yes, I am.


MR. VLAHOS:  I just want to clarify something, if I may.  Mr. Dent, when I look at page 3 of 5 of the T1 schedule where you list all of the factors - that's in paragraph 2, or note 2 - D is competition.  And I just want to make sure that what we're talking about here is, from your perspective, inter-fuel competition.


MR. DENT:  That's correct.  It is inter-fuel competition.


MR. VLAHOS:  It is not competition if I'm a customer, competition in my industry.  It's from -- Union Gas's point of view as to the competition that exists out there, gas versus another fuel?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  It is a competition that would cause customers not to burn natural gas, and, as a result, that has a negative impact on the system as a whole, because we believe that natural gas should be the fuel of choice.


MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that.  But does that create any confusion by anyone that has approached you, because the way it is laid out here, it would have read more appropriately alternatives to customer, because the other three points above speak about the customer's circumstances.


MR. DENT:  Yes.  I think that is probably a fair comment with respect to my friends at GEC, that I think that they've looked at that and interpreted that in a different way than the alternate fuel competition.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is this the first time that this interpretation has been presented to you?


MR. DENT:  It's the first time, to my knowledge, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Brown, it is 10:30.  If you're moving to a new area, perhaps we can take our morning break now.


MR. BROWN:  Certainly, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, 20 minutes. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:50 a.m.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cameron, Mr. Moran, shall we just spend a few minutes about the argument phase and see what we have to turn our attention to over the lunch break.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chairman, we did have a discussion yesterday after the break or after the end of the day, and exchanged ideas about how we could fit argument into next week or, if necessary, next week and perhaps the week after that.
     Of course, we know more about how to schedule this as we realize whether or not evidence will shift into Monday, because that has obvious affect on how much we can do next week.  We are also, I shouldn't say "we" because I proposed as a suggestion for parties to consider, the possibility that both GEC and Union begin the argument phase by submitting a written argument, which would then be followed by an appearance before the Board for us to exchange any replies and for intervenors to reply and for the Board and counsel to have the sort of interaction you described when I first raised this issue, the theory being that all parties might benefit from a day or two of reviewing a written submission so as to best structure their questions to counsel on what can be a legalistic or policy-intensive debate.
     Now, if that isn't acceptable, I think it would simply be a matter of finding one day on which the parties make their argument in-chief, and a day or two later the parties make their argument in reply and intervenors reply.
     On Union's part, I believe that, subject to some time to prepare a response to intervenor argument, we wouldn't require a substantial gap after intervenor argument, before we presented any reply argument to that.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Just to clarify, Mr. Cameron, your option 1, if you like, written and then come before the Board, in terms of argument in-chief.  Then present what you have -- no?
     MR. CAMERON:  No.  Not present what we have written.  That appearance would be to present reply to each other orally, and to receive questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Reply to each other.  That is Union and GEC?
     MR. CAMERON:  Yes.  And intervenors at that same time could argue orally or submit written argument.  And because the parties would be here, we could receive questions from the panel.  

I understood, from my discussion with Ms. Lea, that things like this have been done before, that is, a combination of initial written and subsequent oral submissions.  It just struck me as a way to address the point I raised about the value of written submissions in a law and policy-intensive case and yet to address the point you raised about the value to the panel members of being able to exchange ideas live with counsel.  

MR. VLAHOS:  We don't hesitate to break new ground, Mr. Cameron, even if we haven't tried things before.
     Let me understand this.  So there will be a document 

-- some written submissions by both GEC and Union at some

-- I guess a couple of days after we finish the evidentiary portion?
     MR. CAMERON:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Then you will come before the Board to, again, make submissions on each other's, GEC and Union.  Then at that point, parties that may wish to also make oral submissions, they can do so at that stage.  Or they can choose to have written submissions at some day after that, but not necessarily oral submissions after that?
     MR. CAMERON:  That would be their election, I would propose.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Just in the event -- say that we finish Monday, the evidentiary portion, then let's see how that would work.  Then you would come before the Board – well, you would have to file the submissions by I guess -- you would need, what, two, three days?
     MR. CAMERON:  Wednesday would probably work.  There won't be much evidence left, if we don't finish today.  There won't be much evidence left so I think a substantial amount of work on argument could be done.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Then you would be prepared to come on -- Friday is out of the question for us.  So that only leaves Thursday of next week to come forward.
     MR. CAMERON:  That would work.
     [The Board confers]
     MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Moran asked me to make it clear, if I hadn't already, that this was an idea I was proposing.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that, and I do intend to canvass other parties.  But I'm just trying to find any witness, if you like, or concerns.  One we identified is if you file your documents on Wednesday, then it may be a tall expectation for intervenors to come forward on Thursday.  This does not leave them enough time.  That may be one of the concerns.
     MR. CAMERON:  For the reason I mentioned that if we don't finish the evidence today, I think we will have substantially finished it.  Union would certainly be prepared to file written argument on Tuesday.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  

Mr. Moran.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I guess in the way things have unfolded, Greenfield Energy filed its application and then I guess -- and response to that application, there are a number of interventions and also a facilities application by Union.  So that is what I think is making it complicated for us to figure out a way to deal with this so that everybody gets a chance to make their submissions and respond to the arguments against their applications.
     The other complicating factor is that a number of the intervenors who are participating in the last couple of days have to file their argument on the Enbridge case by Monday, and have indicated that they would need a couple of days in order to turn their minds and get ready for argument in this case, and I think that is a fair comment.
     Then the third complicating factor for me is American Thanksgiving, which is Thursday and, as I understand it, a sacrosanct holiday for the Americans.  So in trying to put all of these things together and come up with a possible schedule, my thoughts were, I would be prepared -- I know the Board is available all day on Tuesday and we will definitely finish the evidence on Monday -- I shouldn't say definitely, but I am confident we can finish the evidence on Monday at the latest.
     And I would certainly be prepared to present my argument in-chief on Tuesday, and Mr. Cameron has indicated that he would certainly be in a position to file written argument on Tuesday as well, and presumably could also be available to present oral argument, if that was the alternative.
     Then at that point, I would suggest that we would adjourn so that the other intervenors could respond to the two applications, and if there were intervenors who were in a position to do that on Wednesday, we could schedule them, because the Board has indicated they're available on Wednesday afternoon.  If there are intervenors that would prefer to be scheduled on Thursday, again, the Board is available on Thursday afternoon.  And if that wasn't enough time, then we would have to consider finishing intervenor argument the following week.
     And then, in terms of reply, my proposal would be that Union would have a right of reply to arguments presented against its facilities application, and I would have the final right of reply on all of the arguments raised with respect to Greenfield's application, and that would be the conclusion of final argument.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That would probably work out in a written form, the reply?
   
MR. MORAN:  It could be written or oral.  I'm fine with presenting oral argument in reply, as well.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Let me turn to the parties.  Any thoughts by anyone?


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, if I might adopt the mode that I feel most comfortable adopting, and that is whining.


We have to file an Enbridge argument on Monday afternoon.  While I would like to believe both in that the world is flat and in the tooth fairy, the argument isn't done yet and it is not going to get done until sometime Monday.  So we can't realistically turn our minds to this case until Tuesday, which involves reading the transcripts and preparing argument.


So the ‑‑ I think realistically, to do the justice to the complex and important issues that this case requires, we could not, I don't think, argue before Thursday, and our strong preference would be to do it the following Monday.  Having said that, I appreciate that we are not the tail that wags the dog.


So we will accommodate Union and GEC to the extent that we can, but any argument before Thursday at the earliest would be a real stretch for us, sir.


[The Board confers]


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you have any preference for oral or written from CCC's perspective?


MR. WARREN:  Ironically enough, written takes more time.  So I think I would be just as happy to deliver it orally, in terms of efficiency.  But, again, I will accommodate whatever is necessary to get this thing done quickly.


I think Mr. Janigan ‑‑ I haven't spoken to Mr. Janigan about the schedule, but Mr. Janigan often prefers to do his in writing, but I don't know that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Anybody else?


MR. LOKAN:  I would echo the clients of counsel for Union Gas about written argument being appropriate.  There are legal and policy issues.  I think also from the Board's perspective, it makes sense if they're able to receive written argument, and then have an opportunity to ask questions arising from that on the legal and policy issues that arise.


And it's difficult to do that if someone is just presenting oral argument, to really sort of understand the structure and implications of it as it unfolds.  It is better to have it in advance.  


Having said that, I'm not going to comment on timing.  We will be flexible and we're in the Board's hands from the point of view of PWU.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Any other comments?


MR. DINGWALL:  On behalf of CME, definitely we echo the concerns of Mr. Warren with respect to timing.  I myself, personally, doubly so, as I've been acting for two clients in the Enbridge case and have two sets of argument I have to deal with.


With that in mind, Thursday at the earliest, preferably Monday, and I do note, in looking at the intervenor list on this case, that there might be other parties who have not been active in the oral phase who might wish to file argument.  I think we might benefit from contacting those parties with respect to logistics and preferences as to oral or written, in order to figure out that end of the equation.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  I'm just not sure we're prepared to undertake the process of writing to everyone that has not been here.


MS. LEA:  As I indicated yesterday on the record, I think those parties who may be interested may have contacted me.  IGUA is intending to file argument, for example, and I think that they were willing to accommodate the Board's timing and method of providing argument.


MR. VLAHOS:  Any other comments?


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, Ms. Land contacted me on behalf of Walpole Island First Nation and wanted me to indicate that she is agreeable to the idea of oral or written final argument and is flexible with respect to the timing of those arguments.


MR. VLAHOS:  Anybody else?


MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, on behalf of Enbridge.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  I would support Union Gas's counsel and request for a written brief on the legal and policy aspects.  I think it is appropriate and makes good sense in this case to have such a brief filed in advance of oral submissions from both applicants' counsel.


I would also support Mr. Warren's plea for time, and it seems to me if we're going to come back and hear intervenor oral argument and oral reply from the applicants' counsel, we could maybe come back for a two‑day block next Monday and Tuesday as opposed to coming on Tuesday to hear submissions from the applicants, and then Thursday from the intervenors, and then next Monday from the applicants again.


So if there was a way to push it over to next week, I think that would assist us in our preparation.  Thank you, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Any other comments?  All right.  Thank you for those comments.  We will turn our minds to it over lunch, and hopefully we will have a resolution this afternoon, but we may spill into Monday in any event.  If we cannot reach a conclusion today, then we will let it go until Monday.


Mr. Brown?

UNION GAS LIMITED PANEL 3; RESUMED:

David Simpson; Previously Sworn


David Lawrence Dent; Previously Sworn
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CONTINUED CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BROWN:

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Panel, I would like to move to the second area on the T1 service, which involves obligations to deliver gas and the related issue of storage.


In its intervenor evidence filed in the GEC proceeding, Union Gas, at page 40 of 56, paragraph 132, states that Union no longer requires for new T1 customers a commitment to an obligated DCQ or daily contract quantity.


Mr. Dent, this may be a series of questions appropriate to be directed to you, but am I correct that under an obligated DCQ, a T1 customer in a contract would have to agree that on each day of the year, it would deliver to a specified receipt point a specified quantity of gas?


MR. DENT:  Yes.


MR. BROWN:  And then Union would then re-deliver that gas from the receipt point to the consumption point?


MR. DENT:  Yes.


MR. BROWN:  If a customer failed to deliver the DCQ, the obligated DCQ, there would be a financial consequence?


MR. DENT:  Yes, there would.  


MR. BROWN:  In the sense of a penalty or an imbalance kind of charge?


MR. DENT:  Yes.


MR. BROWN:  And the amount of that penalty or the amount of that financial consequence would be specified in the contract, I take it?


MR. DENT:  That's correct.


MR. BROWN:  Similarly, if the customer delivered more to the receipt point than its obligated DCQ, there would also be financial consequences?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's true, although just to clarify, there may be situations where a customer may request that and Union will authorize it.  So, again, there is some element of -- it depends there, but without authorization, there would be a consequence.


MR. BROWN:  Correct, because you've a certain amount of flexibility on a day‑to‑day basis in terms of the quantities you can receive?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BROWN:  Now, in terms of your evidence, you're indicating that under T1 service Union will no longer require customers to contractually commit to an obligated DCQ.  So does that mean that if I come to you as a new customer, there won't be any DCQ written down in my contract with you?


MR. DENT:  No.  A new customer would have a choice.  A new customer could elect a DCQ, as customers have in the past, or, if they desired, they could elect for non‑obligated DCQ.  


MR. BROWN:  So if I was to discuss the pros and cons of each with you and ended up opting to go the non‑obligated DCQ route, would my contract contain any reference to a DCQ?


MR. DENT:  It wouldn't contain a reference to an obligated DCQ.


MR. BROWN:  What I'm trying to get at is would it contain a reference to any quantity of gas which, if I failed to deliver it on a day, would result in potential financial consequences to me as your customer?


MR. DENT:  No.  As a customer that elected a non‑obligated DCQ, that's correct, there wouldn't be a penalty for non‑delivery.  


MR. BROWN:  Okay.  So if I'm discussing this with you and I'm a gas‑fired generator, I will be dispatched by the IESO, and I'm not going to know until just before dispatch exactly what my dispatch direction will be from the IESO.  I would have to, let's say I think that on a day I'm going to have to use 100 units of gas.  That's my forecast.  Would I then nominate to you on sort of day D minus one, the 100 units and notify you that I plan to deliver 100 units to you the next day?  Under a 

non-obligated DCQ kind of arrangement.
     MR. DENT:  That is correct.  If the customer, on a forecast basis, expected to burn 100 units, then they would nominate to Union Gas 100 units of supply.
     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  So we then get to the actual day of dispatch, and what I thought was going to be a hot day turns out to be a cloudy day with some rain.  So don't need as much power.  I thought I was going to burn 100 units of gas, but given my dispatch instructions from the IESO, I only end up burning 50 units of gas but I delivered 100 to you.
     Under a non-obligated DCQ kind of contractual arrangement, what consequences are there to me for only consuming 50 units of the 100 that I delivered to you.  Can you walk me through that, please?
     MR. DENT:  The customer would, as I understand the question, he's forecast to burn 100 units.  He only burns 50 units.  Because his forecast was to burn 100 units, and he only burned 50, there's no financial consequence on his part for not burning that incremental 50.
     Now, he does have 50 units on the system and that 50 units needs to go somewhere and again, as the T1 service is set up, that gas would go into the customer's storage account.  The issue there that would need to be discussed with the customer is to set the appropriate deliverability parameters in the contract to make sure that he can inject that gas into the ground.
     Again, from the point of view of parameters, the customer may have a certain level of firm deliverability and may rely on interruptible to pick up the part, to pick up the rest.
     And there could be penalties involved in that case, if the -- if there wasn't sufficient deliverability to inject that gas into storage.
     MR. BROWN:  Well, just to pick up on that point.  It was quite clear from the answers that you gave to previous questions, that if I have that kind of load profile where my consumption might change materially during the course of a day, I'm going to end up having to contract for T1 storage with Union Gas; correct?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  We would hope that a customer would contract for an appropriate level of storage.
     MR. BROWN:  Right.  Because the only way a 

non-obligated DCQ kind of service could work is if I had storage where I can park the gas if I deliver too much, or with draw the gas if I don't deliver enough; right?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  That is true, but again as we talked about earlier, you can have the transportation element.  You don't necessarily need to contract for the Union storage.  But you would have that imbalance that you would have to deal with.
     MR. BROWN:  Right.  Let's say I want the package deal.  I want you to provide me with transportation.  I want you to provide me with storage.  Assuming that my plant can only consume 100 units a day, and assuming that there may be days which I, as a generator, simply don't get dispatched, for whatever reason, would I be entitled to negotiate with you sufficient storage so that each day I could park or inject 100 units of gas into Union's storage?
     Or are there -- sorry.  Are there limits on the amount of injection and withdrawal that I can negotiate with you under a T1 storage service?
     MR. DENT:  The storage allocation is based on the Board-approved aggregate access methodology.  The standard injection withdrawal percentage is 1.2 percent, but if a customer elects to contract for a 10-year contract, then that customer would be eligible to purchase more deliverability.
     As I think about an earlier question this morning, again, that could be one reason why the customer might contract for longer than a one-year term.
     MR. BROWN:  Mr. Dent, you referred to just now in your -- your IRs also refer to the Board-approved aggregate access methodology.  Is it what you just specified, that is, maximum injection and withdrawal on any given day is 1.2 percent of annual storage capacity?
     MR. DENT:  It's 1.2 percent of the storage allocated to the customer.
     MR. BROWN:  The storage is allocated on an annual basis?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.
     MR. BROWN:  So that means, just so I understand it in my discussion with you, you would be telling me that on any day I could with draw or inject up to a maximum of 1.2 percent of my contracted storage capacity?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct, with the standard deliverability.
     MR. BROWN:  So there could be circumstances where I, as a dispatchable generator, think I'm going to consume 100 units.  I nominate 100 units.  When the day of dispatch arrives, I consume zero.  I might be able to put some of that 100 units in my storage that I have with you, but there might also be some units that I would have to find another place for?  How would you -- what sort of services do you provide that would help me manage that circumstance where I'm left, on a day with an amount of gas where I don't have sufficient contractual rights to inject that amount into my contracted Union storage?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  From an operational perspective, again, there might not be the deliverability into storage.  The customer may be able to divert the gas elsewhere and Union, if the system would allow, would help with that.
     So I mean there are some other ways that a customer can manage that.
     MR. BROWN:  And if I don't have storage for -- let's say in my hypothetical I deliver 100 units, I consume zero, but for the sake of argument I only have rights to inject 50 of those units into what I contracted with Union, what are the financial consequences to me of having delivered to you that extra 50 units for which I don't have storage rights?
     MR. DENT:  Theoretically there could be penalties.  Again, we work with customers to authorize interruptible injections where possible.
     MR. BROWN:  You said theoretically.  Would my contract specify that maximum injection right and specify that there would be potentially a penalty if I exceed that but you might work with me to try and avoid the consequence?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  The rate schedule lays that out.
     MR. BROWN:  And on the flip side, Mr. Dent, if I were to nominate 100 units and when the -- for the dispatch day, and when the dispatch day rolls around it turns out to be a real scorcher and I end up running a lot more, and I consume 150 units, do I understand the non-obligated DCQ service to be that that would be fine as long as I could withdraw 50 units from gas I already have in storage with Union?
     MR. DENT:  That would be true, and as well the generator may be able to bring extra gas to meet that incremental demand as well.
     So there may be several ways to meet that circumstance.
     MR. BROWN:  Just trying to compare this modified T1 service, that is non-obligated DCQ coupled with storage versus what was there before, an obligated DCQ coupled with storage.
     Under the old system, did I have the same flexibility of injections and withdrawals if I delivered or consumed more in a day than what I had planned?  Or is there truly new flexibility in this non-obligated DCQ arrangement?
     MR. DENT:  It's really a matter of a gas delivery to Union Gas.  Again, the obligated DCQ is one method of delivering gas to Union.  Non-obligated DCQ is something that has been used in the past.  I guess since 1995 it was -- it's been a gas supply delivery option.  So it is not necessarily a new option.  But it is an option that does meet the needs of the gas-fired generators.
     MR. BROWN:  Perhaps translating that into a discussion between customer, potential customer and Union about how much money will I save, at the end of the day, would I save any money by going with a non-obligated DCQ service coupled with storage, versus a DCQ coupled with storage service?  Is my bottom line better?
     MR. DENT:  That's really hard to say, because what you're doing with a non-obligated DCQ, you're really bringing the gas in the same day that you're consuming it.
     So you are essentially paying a daily index for that gas.  Other customers who have an obligated DCQ, they know what that is 365 days of the year.  They can hedge the price of their gas over a month, over a year, use a variety of other hedging options


So you wouldn't really be able to know.  Some years the daily price might be the best one.  Other years, the 365-day price might be a better one.  It really all depends on the market circumstances and the contracting and hedging practices of the company.


MR. BROWN:  If I enter into a five‑year T1 contract with Union and decide to go the non‑obligated DCQ route, would that govern ‑‑ that's it for five years on non‑obligated DCQ, or if I find out after a years' worth of experience that perhaps going to DCQ route was the better way, would I be able to change that term of the contract?


MR. DENT:  Well, in general, if we can help a customer with a contract change and it doesn't materially affect others, then we would certainly entertain that.  It would be a circumstance situation.


MR. BROWN:  Now, from the evidence that Union has given, quite understandably it appears that there is a strong link between the attractiveness of transportation service and the availability of storage service.


If I were to contract with Union on a ten-year T1 transportation contract, would I be able to contract with you at the same time for ten years of T1 storage?  Can I match my transportation with storage?


MR. KITCHEN:  The T1 storage contracts need to be approved by the Board.  Currently there's a -- I believe it's a 2 Bcf space limit and 17-month term limit that, if you were to exceed that, you would require OEB approval.  But to the extent that we got OEB approval, you could contract for longer terms.


MR. BROWN:  And in terms of my certainty, Mr. Kitchen, in dealing with investors, if I negotiate a T1 10-year transportation contract with you and I want ten years of storage, but you tell me that there is the 17-month restriction beyond which you need Board approval would you, as Union, go to the Board on my behalf to obtain approval of that ten-year contract?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  And we do that quite often.


MR. BROWN:  One final area on this issue of non‑obligated DCQ.  Perhaps I could ask you to turn up one of the interrogatory responses that you gave.  I think this was to, excuse me, TransCanada Pipeline, which is at tab 8 of the interrogatory responses, number 1.  


Again, Mr. Dent, this may be appropriate to you or to Mr. Kitchen.  The question that was being asked at Interrogatory 1, tab 8, was based upon some evidence by Union that it's able to provide this non‑obligated DCQ service to customers whose consumption profile supports such a service.  The question was asked:  What did you mean by that?  


And Union says that refers to a profile where the customer has the ability and desire to match daily deliveries with daily consumption, with no resulting adverse effect on Union's system.


We had gone through two scenarios:  I nominate 100, I only consume 50.  I nominate 100, I end up consuming 150.


That's not matching nominated deliveries with actual consumption, so would my profile qualify, or is there a larger context in which I have to understand this?


MR. DENT:  If you were willing to take that swing, then, yes, we would allow you to do that.


Again, if that didn't fit your profile and you preferred the obligated DCQ, then the customer would have that choice, as well.  Really, the profile there is the desired, perhaps add the word "requirement", of a customer to match his consumption with his deliveries.  And although there is an application to the power generators, and especially those tied to the CES contract because of the linkage of that contract to the Dawn daily index, there would be ‑‑ there would be nothing ‑‑ Union would not prohibit any customer who wished to choose that non‑obligated gas supply delivery mechanism.


MR. BROWN:  Just so I understand, sir, the sense in which you're using the word "deliveries", is the sort of view that if the customer's profile is such that daily deliveries to a receipt point plus storage withdrawals would equal consumption, then that customer would have a profile that could qualify for this non‑obligated DCQ service?


I'm trying to put it in context, because gas‑fired plants in this province tend not to be base-load plants.  They tend to operate in the intermediate range or the peaking range, which means there can be a huge swing between forecast consumption and actual consumption on any given day, depending on the resulting dispatch instructions.


What I'm trying to get at:  Is that kind of profile really one that is suitable for this non‑obligated DCQ kind of service?


MR. DENT:  The information that I have would suggest that on a day-ahead basis, even though the markets themselves are real time in Ontario, from a forecasting point of view, on a day-ahead basis, the forecast is relatively close.  There may be some days where you're going to have a bit of a swing, but, overall, you don't have ‑‑ it isn't day after day of big discrepancies.  The forecast is generally fairly reliable.


So although there may be individual days where you're going to have some swing, overall the swings may be relatively minor.  But there can, as I said, be some swing.


MR. BROWN:  Do you currently have any customers taking advantage of the non‑obligated DCQ service?


MR. DENT:  We do have customers who have non‑obligated service, yes.


MR. BROWN:  Are any of them gas-fired generators?


MR. DENT:  I believe not.


MR. BROWN:  Then since so much depends upon storage, and you've indicated there is a Board methodology ‑‑


MR. DENT:  Excuse me.  I just had a brain cramp and I do ‑‑ there are several who have non‑obligated DCQ who are not power generators, but there is a power generator with a non‑obligated DCQ.


MR. BROWN:  Thank you for that clarification.


You talked about the Board methodology to determine the amount of storage capacity that I, as a T1 customer, can contract for.  If I want to buy more storage from you, I understand, from your response to Interrogatory 3 from TransCanada Pipelines, I may be able to buy some more storage from you either on a short-term or long‑term basis?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.  There are opportunities to acquire additional storage at market‑based rates.


MR. BROWN:  Is there any limit on the amount, the quantity of additional storage that I could contract with you?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Brown, to the extent that you were contracting for long‑term storage, it would be subject to the same Board approval of the contract.


MR. BROWN:  And then the short-term storage, Mr. Kitchen, that I think you offered in the interrogatory response that might be available is your R1 rate, the bundled direct purchase contract rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  The R1 rate schedule has a number of services on it, but it would be sold through the R1 rate schedule, yes.


MR. BROWN:  What duration of storage can I contract for under the R1?


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't have the schedule in front of me, but I believe it is less than one year.


MR. BROWN:  Thank you, sir.  If I could go to the final area, very briefly, which is on deliverability inventory.


If I could ask you to turn to page 1 of the rate T1 schedule, you will see down at the bottom, under storage service, item number B, annual firm injection withdrawal rights, there are two prices.  One is where Union provides deliverability inventory, the other where customer provides deliverability inventory.
     Is this inventory what others call cushion gas?
     MR. DENT:  It would be equivalent to cushion gas.  The customer would need to maintain a certain level of their own gas in storage in order to get the 1.2 percent standard deliverability out of storage.
     MR. BROWN:  I think one of your information responses indicated that that would be 20 percent of the annual storage space that would have to be left in storage?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  Once you get below 20 percent, there's a ratchet on the withdrawal from storage, and once you get above 80 percent, there is a ratchet on injections into storage.
     MR. BROWN:  So if I exceed that 20 percent deliverability inventory or, sorry, if I want to negotiate with you exceeding the 20 percent deliverability inventory, can I do that with you?
     MR. DENT:  I don't quite understand the question.
     MR. BROWN:  Then that's my fault.  Let me come at it another way.
     I've got 100 units of storage.  What you're saying is that at all times I would have to maintain 20 units of deliverability inventory under the T1 schedule?
     MR. DENT:  You wouldn't have to maintain that, but to get your 1.2 percent deliverability you would have to have at least 20 percent.
     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  What if I wanted the deliverability but I wanted to go less than the 20 percent, I only wanted to keep 10 percent.  Can I negotiate that flexibility with you under the T1 service?
     MR. DENT:  No.  You would just drawdown your storage to the 10 percent level and as you drew it down, you would have less ability to get that gas out of storage.
     MR. BROWN:  So that's a physical constraint based on what I do, rather than a financial consequence of doing that?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  That's right.  It's a customer choice in how they manage that asset.
     MR. BROWN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Dent and panel.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Brown.  

Ms. Newland.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. NEWLAND: 
     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

Good morning, gentlemen.  I'm Helen Newland and I am asking you some questions this morning on behalf of Enbridge.
     I don't have -- I have two areas of questions and they are somewhat related.
     For the purpose of my first area, could you turn up Exhibit 2.2, which is the series of three schematic drawings that were entered into evidence yesterday by, I believe, Mr. Hyatt on panel 2.  I'm going to be referring to the third of the three drawings which comprise that exhibit, which is the conceptual drawing of -- that shows the Dawn hub with all of the systems going into it.
     Are you with me yet?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, we have the diagram.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Just to clarify something.  Mr. Hyatt, yesterday, was asked some questions about this diagram by Mr. Moran on behalf of GEC.  And in fact Mr. Hyatt confirmed that if you look at the bottom half of that diagram that says “GEC direct from Vector”, you could actually have a balloon connected to the Vector word to indicate that Vector itself is the pipeline that interconnects with a number of upstream pipelines such as Alliance; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  I think if you look at both the top and bottom diagram.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Hmm-hmm.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Vector is a function of both figures.  And interconnects into Vector, which of course there are, would be applicable if you were to expand the view, if you will.  But really that was not the intent of this schematic.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Right.  And in fact if you were to look at the -- we'll get to the intent in a moment.  But if you were to look at the top half of the diagram, the Union circle you could actually draw balloons -- attach balloons to each one of these pipelines because each one of these pipelines such as St. Clair and Panhandle and Enbridge connects to a series of other pipelines and so on, so forth; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Now, Mr. Hyatt -- I will just read you what Mr. Hyatt said about this diagram.  He said: 

“The third drawing is really an attempt to show, 

in a more conceptual way, the difference between the way the GEC is proposing to serve the project and the way that Union is proposing to supply the GEC facility.”

     But there was never any further discussion about this diagram.  I'm just wondering, what is the relevance of this diagram to the bypass issue that the Board has to decide in this case?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I think you're correct that Mr. Hyatt's intent was to primarily show the interconnect of GEC relative to these two diagrams.  Perhaps I could elaborate on, I guess, additional intent, and that is what appears at a much higher-level message, in terms of the schematic and what it highlights.
     In my opinion it's a very important message.  That's the role that Union Gas has played and how this integrated system has in fact come to be.
     As on OEB-regulated utility, Union has, in fact, played a major role in developing this infrastructure, and I'm referring specifically to the top grid where GEC is served from Union.
     In fact, I would argue that it's really with Union's confidence as a single service provider that we have been able -- or enabled to proactively plan, analyze, acquire and manage many of the diverse sets of upstream transportation that are shown in the upper diagram.
     Many of these -- I will just name a few -- provide Union's system with access to Ontario supplies, Chicago supplies, mid-continent US, the Gulf of Mexico and western Canada.  And notably, in many of these cases, they were underpinned by short, medium and long-term contracts.
     In fact, Union's contract did include or contracts did include long-term contract for the Vector line, which in fact, of course, is on both diagrams and is a line that is obviously part of this application, in terms of the request for bypass.
     An additional point I would like to draw out is really if you go back even further in time on this premise of the role of the utility, it was Union that signed the founding contracts that anchored TCPL in the 1950s to come to Ontario.  And even prior to that, the Panhandle pipeline was anchored by Union's LDC contracts in the ‘40s into Ontario.
     So my point really is much broader than just a single interconnect.  I wanted to really highlight with this the Ontario infrastructure, a role that Union and other LDCs have played in developing it, as well the benefits that it’s provided, because the benefits go well beyond a single customer.  They go to most of -- all of Ontario and beyond.
     I just think it was important to pause and reflect the role of the LDC, if you will, as a single-source provider has brought some significant benefit.  I didn't want to be dismissed.   This role, I would offer, is quite parallel in terms of Union's objectives and actions with the Board's objectives, most specifically protecting customer interests.
     And I think the role that we have provided in taking these positions, taking these contracts, building the infrastructure is, although in one single diagram difficult to bring forward, embedded within it.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Well, thank you, Mr. Simpson.  So I guess I could sum it up by saying that in your view, in Union's view, this integrated system at Dawn would not have -- it would not have been developed if Union had been operating under a situation where individual large end-use customers could have constructed their own distribution facilities.  Is that the point of -- you're trying to make essentially?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Well, without repeating myself as lengthy as I did, I mean the point is simply the role of the LDC has been significant in bringing this infrastructure to Ontario, which many have benefited from.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.  Could I get you to turn up GEC's response to Union interrogatory number 25, which is Exhibit J of -- it's included with GEC's materials.
     MR. SIMPSON:  I have that exhibit.
     MS. NEWLAND:  In response to interrogatory number 25, GEC stated that -- the question.  I should probably start with the question.  The question asked GEC to provide information about the expected load profiles at the GEC plant, and, in particular, about hourly, daily, weekly and seasonal loads.


The response to the question was that it was impossible to predict how GEC would be dispatched in the Ontario electricity market, so that the gas supply arrangement for the plant had to take into account a large range of dispatch scenarios.


I understand that in Ontario, plants can be given notice of dispatch up to five minutes before the time of dispatch.  Are you able to confirm my understanding?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not an expert, so I will give you my high-level understanding.  I think five minutes is in reference to how often the forward view changes.  I believe there's more notice in the two- to three-hour range of whether they will be called upon, or not.


MS. NEWLAND:  So it would be reasonable to assume that in certain circumstances the GEC plant could receive a three-hour notice of dispatch, be told, for example, at 9 o'clock in the morning that it might expect to be dispatched by noon?


MR. SIMPSON:  That could very well be.  Perhaps what might best serve answer to your question is Union was trying to, and I believe other intervenors were trying to establish how this plant will operate.  That was the intent of our Interrogatory 25 and several subsequent IRs, and I think the IRs of a few other intervenors.


And I guess my comment would be that for the most part the interrogatories, as well as discussions over the past few days, have left a vacuum, in terms of how the plant would operate or the services it would use to operate.


A few statements that I noted that I would reflect upon is truly it appears that GEC is using the word "depends"; it depends on how the plant operates, as to what the costs of operation will be, which they've argued are highly relevant.  


In discussion in volume 3 from the transcript, page 76 ‑ and I don't think there is a need to turn it up ‑ GEC has noted:

"I don't know how you could find that one option is cheaper than the other without getting on the record a great deal of information about exactly how this plant is going to operate."


And at a different point in volume 2, on page 132, I tried to understand the then contradictory response:

"But we don't want there to be any misunderstanding that we considered that the cost difference is significant and substantial."


And my only point was the fact that the interrogatories didn't get answered, it just leaves at least me with some confusion as to what those costs in fact are, or if any difference does in fact exist.


MS. NEWLAND:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Kitchen [sic].

     When you referred to the interrogatories that were not responded to, those were the ones that I tried to have a discussion with GEC on.  Those were Interrogatories 28 through 31.


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  Those were the subsequent interrogatories.


MS. NEWLAND:  My final question, what would be the ‑‑ and if you ‑‑ you might have answered this question, but let me put it to you.  The importance of the answers is to be, as I understand it -- in your view, is to be able to compare the service that Union ‑‑ the benefits of the service that Union says it can provide under its tariff, various services, the T1 services against what GEC says it would like to do.


Is that the importance of those responses, in your view?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think that's correct.  A key part of this application by GEC was a cost comparison, and many interrogatories and questions were trying to understand that cost comparison.


And what we haven't achieved is the understanding of the magnitude of their consumption and the services that they have available under the Vector option, and in being from the gas supply area within Union Gas, I can contrast their consumption at roughly a 70-percent load factor, representing about 50 Bcf of gas per year.


In comparison to Union Gas, that is about half of the sales service volumes of Union Gas, so my point being that this is a tremendously large customer, roughly half the size of Union's sales service load, that is hanging off of one single line called Vector in their application with, in my opinion, very limited service options off of Vector.


And to suggest that there's no contracts in place, not even on a conditional basis, for service and yet make a claim that the costs of that service are significantly and substantially less than Union's T1 service, in my mind, leaves a blank.


And in discussion with the Board - and I believe it was volume 2 - some of that reliability question was put to the panel.  And with respect to reliability, when asked, GEC responded that, "reliability would be based upon existing shippers on Vector", on the single pipeline Vector.


There is only a handful of shippers on Vector, and I would argue that there is probably less than ten, in total, and there's probably as few as five or six that are what I would refer to as the active marketers that I, quite frankly, deal with on a regular basis.


Contrasting to Dawn, which would underpin T1 service, there is well in excess of 100 to 120 traders -- marketing companies and traders, participating at Dawn which underpins T1 service.


The second point that they put on the reliability question was forward haul on Vector.  Again, this is not a cost that was included in their comparison, and Vector is currently fully subscribed.


Again, I'm just pointing to some questions with respect to their reliability points that I believe remain unanswered.


And the last, with respect to reliability, is a comment that they were deeply concerned about Union's interconnect with Vector and the ability to back haul.  I think the concern is actually warranted.  Their point was that the issues at Dawn can be easily dealt with.  I disagree.  


I established yesterday that the service from Dawn to Vector is interruptible, and GEC has made one point very clear, that firm service is paramount to their plant's operations.


So I've gone on rather lengthy, and it just doesn't sound as reliable.  It sounds good to say there is a suite of services available, but when you start to put it into further context, I question the reliability.


And some of these options, in fact, have been removed from the table, from their original submission.  They talked about FT hourly, FT back haul.  We're literally removing these options as we proceed in this hearing, and there was a quote within volume 2 by GEC that said "removing options increases costs".  I completely agree.  The less options you have, no doubt the higher your costs will be.


Again, a point of perspective, it will not take much time for a 10-cent fee on 50 Bcf to equate to $5 million.  So my point really is, in a $10.00 market, the reliability is in question and the cost savings are in question.


MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.  That was a very comprehensive answer.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  Ms. Lea, I understand you may have some follow-up questions?


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


FURTHER CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

MS. LEA:  Actually, Mr. Chairman, first of all, I appreciate very much my friend, Mr. Cameron, giving me the opportunity to ask follow-up questions.


I think they have largely been dealt with by the cross‑examination of Mr. Brown.


Perhaps, Mr. Dent, do you have with you volume 4, yesterday's transcript?


MR. DENT:  The 17th?

MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. DENT:  Thank you.  Because I don't know what day it is.
     MS. LEA:  Neither do I by this point in the week, sir.  I would ask you to have a look at page 138, please, where you and I were discussing one aspect of this matter.  I'm asking you to look at lines 25 through 28 of page 138.
     You will see there that I'm asking you how many of your current T1 customers have bought just transportation.  And then asked you is that because -- you said "none of them."  Then I asked you:  “Is it impractical?  Is that because it’s impractical?”  You say:  “No, I think there is two issues,” and you go on to explain one of those issues.
     I just wanted to make sure that the second issue that you would have talked about is the issue that I think you addressed, at another page of that transcript, page 118, and that you also discussed with Mr. Brown a few moments ago.  And that has to do with the fact that the way that storage interacts with the transportation service on a practical basis.
     MR. DENT:  Do you have a line on page 118?
     MS. LEA:  I'm looking at lines 25 through 28 and on to page 119.
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  Thank you.
     MS. LEA:  Is that the second issue that you did not discuss yesterday after that question?
     MR. DENT:  No.  I appreciate the opportunity to add to that, because the second issue -- I mean, having a less expensive service is great, and that is the first element.  But the second element is, you're really getting integrated with the Dawn system.
     So as a customer at Dawn, you have access to an integrated system with multiple pools.  You can buy and sell with a variety of parties.  There is a firm and interruptible injection right.  So the fact you get access to Dawn itself is the second valuable part of that equation.
     MS. LEA:  But there are some restrictions on T1 service, as I think you discussed with Mr. Brown, whether you overuse or underuse the volumes that you are supposed to use on that day.  

MR. DENT:  There are some contract parameters, absolutely.  I would argue, though, that the flexibility in Dawn, as reflected in the rate schedule as well, it's not 

-- the interruptibility isn't suggesting that Dawn is limited.  Dawn actually has significant flexibility because of the integrated nature of the pooling structure there.
     So customers have these options that may not be available with storage areas that maybe have less deliverability or aren't quite as integrated
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  We've heard a lot about the integrated nature of the Dawn system today, so perhaps I will move on to a different question.
     Now, under the T1 service, if you buy it as a bundled service, sir, I gather that the cost-based storage component is the only storage -- it's an allocated amount; is that right?
     MR. DENT:  That is correct.
     MS. LEA:  And if you require more than the allocated amount of storage, must you buy that from Union or can you buy it elsewhere?
     MR. DENT:  No.  You could either buy it from Union or you could go to a marketer and purchase it from a third party.
     MS. LEA:  Is that second option actually a practical one?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  I can think of one or two customers that have, through a marketer, done that.
     MS. LEA:  What makes it practical for those customers?
     MR. DENT:  Well, the customers -- the customer that I thought of just now is a customer who has an arrangement with this marketer.  So the marketer not only manages their base needs, but if they have incremental needs, then that marketer will go to -- will either provide it themselves or go to another marketer and find it for them.  So there is an element of gas-supply services at Dawn that can be offered by a variety of people.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  So I guess what you're suggesting is it's not actual storage space so much as additional supply, which is notional storage, if I can put it that way.
     MR. DENT:  Well, depending on how the marketer obtained it, it could be notional storage or the marketer could have contracted for storage on their own.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I thank my friend, Mr. Cameron.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  

Mr. Moran, you're next, but the Board does have a commitment at 12 o'clock, so perhaps we should break now for lunch.
     MR. MORAN:  I expect to be a bit longer than five minutes, yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Let's take one hour then.
     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:10 p.m.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  We're not able to report anything on the argument matter.  There are additional complications, or there may be availability of a hearing room, availability of the reporters, and the panel's own availability for the week of the 28th if we have to go to that week, in terms of oral arguments, if necessary.


So the bottom line is we cannot report anything at this stage.  I don't think it will be possible before the end of the day today.  Since we're going to be here on Monday, in any event, we should be able to communicate something to you on Monday, in the morning or before we break for the day on Monday.


So with that, any other matters before we turn to Mr. Moran?  There being none, Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I indicated this morning that I would report on the status of undertakings.  I guess I could do that now, if you wish.


With respect to Undertaking 1.1, which was a request for more details in relation to the section 101 order that Greenfield has applied for, after discussion, the conclusion at this point is that given the progress that has been made on most of the items that would have been the subject of that section 101 order, Greenfield is content to have that application put on hold, and on that basis, we're not asking for a decision on the 101 application.  And our feeling is that it would be, at this point, unlikely that we would need a decision, and in the unlikely event that we would need an aspect of that decided, then we would certainly have to come back to the Board.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  Just to be clear, then, you're asking us to put a stay or a hold on that at the moment, and you will let us know one way or the other

--


MR. MORAN:  That's right.


MS. LEA:  -- when you can, because we will need to know if you're withdrawing the application finally, as well as whether you need it?


MR. MORAN:  That's right.  When the last crossing issue is settled, we would ask the Board to allow us to withdraw the application at that time.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, let me get my head around it.  When that time comes to revive that part of the application, then I'm just not sure as to what it would entail, by way of ‑‑ by other parties.  I just don't know.  I haven't put my mind to it.


MS. LEA:  Well, I think Mr. Moran has closed his case with respect to all of his applications at this point with respect to the evidence.  My understanding is you've closed your case with respect to that, Mr. Moran?


MR. MORAN:  That's right, subject to the additional detail that the Board Staff asked for in response to the undertaking.  And in the event that we needed to revive the application, at that point we would bring forward the specific detailed information from whatever component of that application was still in issue, and my assumption is that at that point intervenors and parties would have an opportunity to comment on that, and then the Board would be in a position to adjudicate on it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, that addresses it.  I wasn't sure of the role of the parties at that stage.


MS. LEA:  Probably contemplate a written process.  Mr. Moran would send in the exact details he wants.  We would make those details public, and folk would have an opportunity to comment.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. MORAN:  With respect to Undertaking 1.2, the response on that undertaking is that there are no foreseeable impediments with respect to the land rights required for the pipeline.


With respect to Undertaking 1.3, we asked somebody in the Calpine's Calgary office to track down that information and they are still working to track that information down.  So, unfortunately, I can't report on that one at the moment.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Remind me of what that was.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  Can you tell us what that is?


MR. MORAN:  Undertaking -- U1.3.


MR. VLAHOS:  Which was?


MR. MORAN:  Oh, sorry.  I'm sorry.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm trying to look at the transcript.  There used to be a summary of those things.  I don't know if it's still there or not.


MR. MORAN:  That was a request for Calpine to confirm its participation in any hearings before the British Columbia Oil & Gas Commission.


With respect to Undertaking 1.4, which is a request for a corrected page 2 of schedule F2 to the interrogatory Exhibit F, that is ‑‑ that has been prepared, and we have it with us in electronic form, and I am going to ask if Ms. Lea can assist me in producing copies that we can file later on today.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I will do that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is that 1.4, Mr. Moran?


MR. MORAN:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just to note for the record, then, that does not appear under the undertakings page.


MR. MORAN:  It was mis-lettered.  It was lettered as an Exhibit X1.4, but it should have been U1.4.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. MORAN:  With respect to Undertaking 2.1, that was a request to provide an update of the corporate organization for the partnership, as shown in figure 1 at page 6 of Exhibit B.


As for the last undertaking, we have an electronic version available today.  Again, I will be seeking Ms. Lea's assistance for getting that printed out.  


Finally, with respect to Undertaking 2.2, Greenfield was asked to provide a response to the draft conditions of approval that have been circulated by Board Staff, and Greenfield is ‑‑ finds all of them satisfactory, including the construction deadline.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Lea, just for the record again, I don't think the Panel has received those.


MS. LEA:  I don't think I made them an exhibit, no.


MR. VLAHOS:  No.


MS. LEA:  Perhaps Ms. Crnojacki can assist me on the break of producing a hard copy of those and we will file them as an exhibit at that time.


MR. VLAHOS:  Were the same provided to Union?


MS. LEA:  They were identical -- the offer ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Identical, you --


MS. LEA:  The offer was identical.  Union has asked for a change in the date with respect to the -- when construction must commence.  So I can file the proposed conditions as they were offered to the parties, and the Board can make a finding with respect to Union's request.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, it is also my understanding that we will be in a position, quite soon, to file the statement of completion, which is the last step in the Environmental Assessment Act process for the power station, and that would be a complete answer, then, to the status of the bump‑up requests that have been a topic of some discussion here.


MS. LEA:  Sorry, Mr. Moran, I missed that.  You're saying you can file what?


MR. MORAN:  Let me back up just a moment, then.


As you know, Mr. Chair, there has been some discussion about the power station and the status of the environmental assessment process for the power station and the associated transmission line.  There's an interrogatory response asking for the status of the bump‑up requests which go to, first, the director of Environmental Assessment and Approvals Branch, and subsequently to the Minister.  


I'm simply reporting that it is our expectation that we will soon be in a position to file, here, as an exhibit, the statement of completion that constitutes the last stage of that EA process.  It cannot be issued until the Minister has issued a decision.  As I understand it, the Minister has made her decision today and we're just tracking down the paperwork.


MS. LEA:  It was that "the Minister had made her decision" that I wasn't sure of.  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  I'm ready to proceed with cross‑examination.


MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead.

UNION GAS LIMITED PANEL 3; RESUMED:
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David Lawrence Dent; Previously Sworn


Mark Kitchen; Previously Affirmed


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN:

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Dent, I would like to start with you, if I may.  I wonder if you could just turn up the transcript from yesterday, November 17, page 129.


MR. DENT:  Yes, and line?


MR. MORAN:  Starting at line 13, where you indicate how you would characterize the conclusion of the discussions.


MR. DENT:  I beg your pardon.  I got the wrong transcript.


MR. SIMPSON:  Would you repeat which volume?  Volume 4?
     MR. MORAN:  Volume 4, page 129, line 13.
     MR. DENT:  Line 13?
     MR. MORAN:  Yes.
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I see that.
     MR. MORAN:  I just want to confirm with you what you say is your understanding of the issues, as it were, and what we see there is your statement starting on line 14:  

“The first issue was GEC's concern about price, price of the overall service, including the minimal annual revenues and the price of the rates themselves.”

     Right?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Would it be fair to say that that's really a concern about the differential between what you were offering and what GEC wanted to do with its own pipeline?
     MR. DENT:  Well, I would say no, because at the conclusion of those discussions, and they were somewhat lengthy, but there was a price put to GEC by Union, and GEC came back with an alternate price.
     So I didn't necessarily see that it was connected to the GEC proposal.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Then the second issue that you concluded was a concern for GEC as a result of those discussions was, as we see in line 18: 

"Union's unwillingness to waive or compensate GEC for a portion of the compressor fuel that would be allocated to GEC for their deliveries at the Vector interconnect".

     MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  As I understand your position in this hearing, you say that the fuel retention ratio is not negotiable?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So let's take a look, then, a little bit more closely.  Under the Union proposal that was being discussed at the time that you characterized your conclusion of the concerns, GEC has the option, as I understand it, to deliver gas to Union's Vector interconnection; right?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.  The Vector-Union interconnection.
     MR. MORAN:  Or to Dawn.  But the Vector interconnection would be the primary delivery point?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I would agree with that.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And just so that I'm certain on this, if you could go to the schematic, Exhibit 2.2, on the first page.
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I have that.
     MR. MORAN:  The Vector interconnection point that would be the primary delivery point under the Union offer is the one that we see here at the Union-Courtright station; correct?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  That's the station where the proposed facilities that Union has applied for connects to the Greenfield Energy Centre; right?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  Our line would move from there to the Greenfield centre.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  To contrast that with the GEC proposal, that broken line that goes from GEC up to the Courtright station, instead of going up to the Courtright station, would go up directly to the Vector interconnection; right?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, that is correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So in terms of delivery, the two proposals are pretty similar.  The primary delivery point for both of them obviously is the Vector interconnection regardless of whether it is Greenfield's or Union's, the main difference being that there is an option to deliver to Dawn under the Union proposal.
     MR. DENT:  No, I would disagree with that, because in Union's proposal you're connected to the Union integrated system.  In the GEC proposal, you're only connected to Vector pipeline.
     MR. MORAN:  We're talking about the physical connections that we see on the schematic in Exhibit 2.2, the two proposals are essentially the same because they both interconnect with the Vector line in terms of the primary delivery point; right?
     MR. DENT:  It looks to be the same, but I would still contend that the Union offer is connected to the Dawn or the Union integrated system.  GEC connected to the Vector pipe just has Vector.  It does not have the benefits of Dawn.
     MR. MORAN:  We'll talk a little bit more about other aspects of it.  But the starting point for the two proposals in terms of how gas gets delivered to GEC is an interconnection with Vector.
     There's GEC interconnection with Vector for the GEC proposal, and there's Union's interconnection with Vector for the Union proposal; correct?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I would agree with that.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  However, under your proposal, it's fair to say that GEC would have to pay Union a negotiated rate under the T1 tariff, correct, for interruptible service?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, there would be that as expect of the contract.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And under the GEC proposal, obviously GEC would not have to pay that rate.
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.  GEC would not have a T1 contract.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And under both proposals, of course, GEC would still have to pay for transportation on Vector; correct?
     MR. DENT:  No.  Under Union's proposal, GEC could source their gas at -– at Dawn, for example, there would be multiple places they could source their gas from.  They could source it from Alberta and bring it in through TCPL.
     MR. MORAN:  At the same negotiated rate?
     MR. DENT:  Well, as long as it got delivered to the Vector interconnect.
     MR. MORAN:  How does it get delivered to the Vector interconnect under that scenario?
     MR. DENT:  Well, that would be the responsibility of GEC.
     MR. MORAN:  And GEC would have to pay for that?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.  GEC would have to pay for any commodity acquisition.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  Furthermore, under your proposal, GEC would have to provide fuel; right?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And under the GEC proposal, fuel is not required by Vector; right?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  If you're not connected to the Union integrated system, then, yes, the fuel would not be charged.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  So there are some significant cost differences between the two proposals; correct?
     MR. DENT:  Well, I am still not sure what the GEC costs all-in would be.
     MR. MORAN:  Well, do you know what your fuel cost is for serving GEC?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  It's on the rate schedule, and we've discussed at a high level, depending on load factor, $1 million to $2 million a year.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  So we know what isn't a cost under the GEC proposal, there isn't a $1 million to $2 million cost there; right?  That was my question.
     MR. DENT:  Under the GEC proposal, if Union wasn't connected, then that would be true, that cost wouldn't be there.
     MR. MORAN:  Yes.  That's an additional cost for your proposal over the GEC proposal; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I might just try to clarify, because we're still at odds as to what the GEC proposal is, in terms of service arrangements.  One that was made very clear was FT forward-haul service on Vector originating from Chicago.  That would definitely attract fuel.
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Simpson, I wonder if you could assist me in finding where, in GEC's application, we could find that.
     MR. SIMPSON:  I think throughout the application in a discussion, you've commented that forward haul is an option.  You're asking me to right now find a source?


MR. MORAN:  Well, you've just said two different things now, Mr. Simpson.  First you said that it was going to be service from Dawn to the Vector interconnect, and now you're saying it is an option.  Could you just tell me which you think it is?


MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly.  I will correct it.  You have made certain that it is an option.


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MR. SIMPSON:  So the fuel, if that option was chosen, would be a cost that would be incurred.  That was my only point.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So only for that option you think that Vector would charge fuel to GEC if it was taking back-haul service from Dawn; is that your evidence?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  My point was, if it was forward haul from Chicago that GEC elected to choose as their option, that option would incur fuel.


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, did you say that GEC had elected to choose that option?


MR. SIMPSON:  No, I did not.


MR. MORAN:  Okay, sorry.  Maybe I misunderstood what you said.  So Vector would charge fuel for forward haul; that is your understanding?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could turn to page 127 of the same transcript, at line 16.


MR. DENT:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  It says there:

"In addition, that offer included a minimum annual revenue amount, as I said earlier, and, again, that minimum annual revenue amount is to ensure fairness with Union's other large merchant power customers."


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MORAN:  At line 15, on page 128, you say, "So the offer" ‑‑


MR. DENT:  Sorry.  Page 128?


MR. MORAN:  Yes, the next page.


MR. DENT:  Line?


MR. MORAN:  Fifteen:

"So the offer, again, as Mr. Rosenkranz outlined it yesterday, included a minimum annual revenue that I would concur with him is in the multi-million-dollar range.  It had a Vector interconnect interruptible rate and a second Dawn interruptible revenue rate, and, as closely as we could, it was Union's desire to replicate the GEC proposal as they defined it in their evidence."


 MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MORAN:  At any time in GEC's evidence did you find a minimal annual revenue cost?


MR. DENT:  No.


MR. MORAN:  No.  And because you've appointed yourself as the gas‑fired generator competition commissioner for Ontario, your offer has imposed a minimum annual revenue amount on GEC; right?


MR. DENT:  Our offer had a minimum annual revenue amount.  We want to ensure fairness with all customers and, again, that seems like it's an appropriate element to be equitable to our customers who are served through our regulated entity.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  And you first started discussions with Greenfield prior to the submission of their bid in December; correct?


MR. DENT:  I beg your pardon?  I missed that.


MR. MORAN:  You first started -- entered into discussions with Greenfield prior to the submission of the Greenfield bid in December of 2004; right?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.  And just to go back to Mr. Moran's last question, I wouldn't consider ‑‑ I wouldn't consider Mr. Moran's characterization about us as the arbiter or commissioner as being appropriate either.


MR. MORAN:  And in the ‑‑ it wasn't until after Greenfield Energy Centre was selected in the RFP process that you advised Greenfield Energy Centre about the non‑obligated DCQ service; right?


MR. DENT:  Yes, I believe that's correct.  We had a number of conversations, not just with GEC, but with a host of the RFP clean energy provincial government contract bidders, those entities that hoped to be a part of that RFP process, and in the process of consultation with a variety of those potential bidders.  Again, the idea of a non‑obligated DCQ came as a result of broad consultation, not just with the requests from GEC itself.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  It was after you raised it with GEC that you had a broader announcement to the power generation sector, correct, sometime in August, as I understand it?


MR. DENT:  Well, I believe we talked to others earlier than that.  I believe it was certainly part of the APRO meeting that Union participated in, and certainly prior to that we had other discussions with other customers.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And that's only available for new customers; right?


MR. DENT:  It's available for new customers or, if a current customer has a new load, then it would be available for that customer, as well.


MR. MORAN:  But only in relation to a new load?


MR. DENT:  That's correct, in relation to a new load.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So the existing merchant generators that don't have it for their existing load don't have access to it at this point, unlike GEC and other new power generators?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DENT:  We have a customer who has a non‑obligated DCQ, but not 100 percent.


MR. MORAN:  And for the others, it's not available because they don't have it now?


MR. DENT:  That would be correct.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So there's a difference between existing and new; right?


MR. DENT:  Yes, I would agree that's a small difference on the gas supply end.


MR. MORAN:  Now, the existing large merchant power generators that you referred to, as I understand it there's five of them?


MR. DENT:  There would be five power generators in Union's south area, two that I would consider to be the large ones.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  That would be TransAlta and Brighton Beach, presumably?


MR. DENT:  We do have two large power generators in our franchise area.


MR. MORAN:  That would be TransAlta and Brighton Beach, presumably?


MR. DENT:  I think that's fair to say.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  The other three, who are they?


MR. DENT:  West Windsor Power, TransAlta Windsor, and there's a co‑generation that Imperial Oil has.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  West Windsor and TransAlta Windsor are actually quite small; right?  I believe they're under ten.


MR. DENT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  And the co-gen with Windsor, how big is that?  Sorry, the co-gen with Imperial Oil?


 MR. DENT:  I would have to undertake to get that information.


MR. MORAN:  Okay, thank you.  But in the grand scheme of things, it's smaller than the TransAlta and Brighton Beach?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  Which facility?


MR. MORAN:  TransAlta and Brighton Beach, the Imperial Oil co-gen.


MR. DENT:  Is smaller?


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. DENT:  Again, subject to check, I believe so.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Mr. Chair, I'm not going to worry about the undertaking.  I don't require it.


So when you talked about the five large merchant generators, these were the five, but you've I think clarified that.  There's two of them who are large, one of them smaller, and then two very small; correct?  Those are your T1 gas‑fired generator customers?


MR. DENT:  That's correct, and the two large ones would be as Mr. Moran said.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  And that's the -- this adds up to about 1,400 megawatts of capacity; right?


MR. DENT:  That is correct.


MR. MORAN:  And in contrast to Greenfield, Greenfield is 1,005 megawatts; right?


MR. DENT:  That's correct.  As we stated in our evidence, at a 40 percent load factor, GEC would be our largest customer.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, TransAlta has a contract with you; right?


MR. DENT:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And as I understand it are in the process of negotiating a contract with the OPA; right?  


MR. DENT:  I understand that from a publicly-available document I think received last Friday.


MR. MORAN:  As do I.  And in the context of negotiating a contract, they have certain costs, and one of the costs that they now have is their contract with you; correct?


MR. DENT:  That is correct.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So they're in a position to do their own negotiations with the OPA based on the costs that they now have, without any particular assistance from you and your self-appointed role as gas‑fired generator competition commissioner?


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, that was not necessary.
     MR. MORAN:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  They don't need any further assistance from you at this point.      

MR. DENT:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  I understand it is the same for Brighton Beach?
     MR. DENT:  That's my understanding as well.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So if we were to compare the situation of Brighton Beach and TransAlta to Greenfield Energy Centre, they're not the same.  They're in two different situations, are they not?
     MR. DENT:  No two customers are ever the same, but there are comparators and similarities between customers and customer groups.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Brighton Beach and TransAlta both have T1 contracts with you?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  GEC does not?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  GEC already has a contract with the OPA as a result of the competitive CES process.
     MR. DENT:  That's my understanding.
     MR. MORAN:  TransAlta and Brighton Beach do not?
     MR. DENT:  That is correct.
     MR. MORAN:  TransAlta and Brighton Beach are entering into direct negotiations with the OPA, outside of the CES competitive process; correct?
     MR. DENT:  Again, that's my understanding.
     MR. MORAN:  So on the basis of those factors they are different from GEC; correct?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Just while we're on Brighton Beach, Mr. Kitchen, you made a reference to a directive that was issued by the Board in RP-2003-0063; right?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And the origin of that directive came about as a result of an application in the context of that Union rates case for a special rate; isn't that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think I would characterize it as an application for a special rate.
     Coral, who was the gas marketer for Brighton Beach, was challenging the rate, RT1 rate, and wanted essentially special rate treatment.  I don't think there was a formal application for a special rate.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  They were participating in the Union rates case and seeking certain rate relief; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And in the context of that process, the Board issued the directive that you referred to?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And then in response to that directive, you put together a submission which you filed with the Board, as you described it.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  And then in the aftermath of that, a commercial arrangement was reached with Brighton Beach; right?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  And so the issue of whether -- of what rate treatment Brighton Beach would need was no longer a live issue, because they now have reached agreement with Union; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  They agreed to pay the T1 toll, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  The issue was no longer alive then?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not suggesting the issue with Brighton Beach is alive.  The purpose of filing the evidence and the purpose of doing the directive was to see if a rate class, special rate class, was required for customers with a load profile similar to Brighton Beach.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now Mr. Dent, in the context of dealing with Greenfield Energy Centre, you have some competition on your hands; right?  Greenfield Energy wants to connect to Vector and you want Greenfield Energy to connect to you; right?  
     MR. DENT:  Well, we certainly would love to have Greenfield as a customer, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  So in effect, you're in competition with GEC's proposal, because their proposal doesn't involve you; right?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I will take this one.  Our application is a competing application to build facilities to serve the GEC plant.  We filed that application, because GEC's application amounted to a physical bypass of our system.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.
     MR. KITCHEN:  We don't agree that the bypass is in the public interest and we don't agree that GEC has considered the precedent or the three-stage test that the Board has laid out, that is that they are credible, that the bypass is in the public interest, and if you get to the third one, that to the extent a rate is applicable, it is just and reasonable.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So the answer to the question I asked is, yes, you are in competition with the GEC proposal; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  It is a competing application, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  And yesterday, I think it was you, Mr. Dent, who told the Board about the factors that apply to a T1 interruptible rate negotiation, and the fourth factor, as you will recall, is competition; is that correct?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I do recall that.
     MR. MORAN:  So when someone like Greenfield Energy Centre has a competing alternative, as is the case here, does that not mean that you're in a position to consider that and negotiate a lower rate in order to win that business?
     MR. DENT:  No.  The competition element on the T1 rate schedule really refers to alternate fuel, and it wouldn't be a factor, to my mind, in looking at what's an appropriate interruptible rate for GEC.
     MR. MORAN:  So when you said, as you did yesterday, that you take all factors into account, one factor that you don't take into account is the fact that somebody you're negotiating with has a competing application for a pipeline facility.
     MR. DENT:  Well, I think it's fair to say we base the principles of our discussions with customers on 

postage-stamp principles and not incremental-tolling principles.
     MR. MORAN:  So was that a "yes" or "no" to my question?
     MR. DENT:  I think it would be -- could you repeat the question and I will try to be more succinct?
     MR. MORAN:  When you say, as you did yesterday, that you take all factors into account - and I can provide you with the transcript reference if you require it - one of the factors that you don't take into account is whether the person that you're negotiating with has an application for a pipeline facility to serve itself.
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.  I wouldn't take that into account because, as Mr. Kitchen said, if there's a bypass competitive rate issue, that it would come through to the Board.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So you're taking a narrow view of what competition means?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  I would agree that I'm taking a narrow view, from the point of view that I'm looking at the factors that are part of an established postage-stamp regime.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And when we look at the tariff, there's a reference to the ability to come up with a rate that is different from what's in the tariff and seek Board approval; right?
     MR. DENT:  That is correct.
     MR. MORAN:  So certainly, in that context, the existence of an application for a pipeline facility would be a serious factor to consider, don't you think?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I would agree with that.  Certainly our application indicates that.
     MR. MORAN:  So if I understand it correctly then, the only time that you will take that factor into account is in the context of a special rate, but not in the context of a negotiated rate?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.  Because our negotiated rate would be based on principles of

postage-stamp rate making, and not either bypass consideration or incremental tolling considerations.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.
     MR. KITCHEN:  I would just like to comment, and it's around this issue of competition.  We have filed a competing application, but I don't think we view ourselves as being in competition with GEC.
     GEC -- we are not competing for the distribution business of other customers.  We are -- what we see as doing is excerpting what we feel to be our right, as the distributor, the franchise distributor, to provide service to an end-use customer within our franchise.
     It sounds, the more I hear “competition,” it sounds to me we are actually competing for an end-use customer, as we would with another LDC, and I don't think that is the case.  I just want to make that clarification.  Sorry for interrupting.
     MR. MORAN:  You want to offer GEC distribution business, do you not?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, we do.
     MR. MORAN:  And GEC has an application for its own facilities, does it not?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it does.
     MR. MORAN:  And the two things cannot go forward together, can they?
     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  I think that would be -- it's fairly obvious that they can't go together.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And so to follow up with you, Mr. Dent.  When you were talking about what you do in the context of a negotiated rate versus a special rate, you don't see a special rate as a negotiated rate; is that correct?

MR. DENT:  Are you saying a special rate in terms of a bypass rate?


MR. MORAN:  What do you think a special rate is, Mr. Dent?  It's your tariff.


MR. KITCHEN:  For us to propose a special rate, a rate that departs from postage-stamp rate-making, we need to have what we believe to be sound principles on which basis to do that, because ultimately we have to sit before the Board and seek justification of that.


If we can't come up with a reason to depart from postage-stamp rates, then it is very difficult for us to enter into negotiations to come up with a special rate, even if the rate schedule says that that is an option.


MR. MORAN:  In fact, it's true that for your purposes or from your perspective, that before you could even get to the discussion of a special rate, you have to be satisfied that the Board itself feels that the facility that you're competing with meets the tests that you think the Board has put into place; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  We put it through our own filter of what we think is appropriate, yes.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, we received a letter from your counsel, prior to the commencement of this hearing, in which it was stated as follows:

"Before assisting Calpine in the assembly of an application for a bypass competitive rate, the third part of the test, Union would have to be satisfied that the Board felt that the facility met the first and second parts of the three-part test that the Board has established for the purposes of assessing applications for bypass competitive rates."


Do you agree with that?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  Before Union would consider a bypass competitive rate, we would have to feel comfortable that we could defend it before the Board.


MR. MORAN:  Union would have to be satisfied that the Board felt that the facility met the first and second parts of the three-part test?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think we're quibbling over the words.  The meaning is I would have to be able to sit here and justify it.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So when Greenfield receives a letter saying that Union would have to be satisfied that the Board felt and concludes that there is no option here, there's no further basis for discussions, you have to proceed with an application; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm sorry, I didn't quite catch a question there.  Maybe I just missed ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  Before you can negotiate a special rate, the person who wants the special rate has to come to the Board to find out if the Board agrees that a special rate is appropriate?


MR. KITCHEN:  Before Union would come with GEC to defend it, we would have to be comfortable that it could be defended.


GEC is able to bring forward its own rate application, and in that case it would go through the same three-stage test.


MR. MORAN:  How many times has Union brought forward a special rate case?


MR. KITCHEN:  The only case I can think of it is CIL.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  And that was when?


MR. KITCHEN:  Um ...


MR. MORAN:  Late '80s?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  '87, I believe.


MR. MORAN:  Has Union ever supported a special rate application brought forward by anybody else?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure.


MR. MORAN:  All right.


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure if we supported Centra in their cases.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, perhaps I could get an undertaking for Union to confirm whether it ever supported a special rate application.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just as a point of clarification, now that Union encompasses both Centra and Union, would you want it to cover both of those, looking at it historically?


MR. MORAN:  Well, I guess given that this issue first arose in 1986, it would be appropriate to consider all applications for special rates since then.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  There aren't a whole lot to consider, as we know.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, the assumption here is there were requests for a special rate by customers, or customers to be?


MR. MORAN:  Applications by a customer for a special rate.


MR. VLAHOS:  So have we established there were applications at all?


MR. MORAN:  I can certainly ask the witness that.  It's true, isn't it, Mr. Kitchen, that there have been applications in the past by proposed customers for a special rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  There have been bypass rate applications before, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So the undertaking is ‑-


MS. LEA:  I wonder if I could suggest this, sir.  It might be of assistance to the Board, given your last question, to give us a number of applications for special rates for Union and Centra systems since, I guess, the date of 1986, and, of those applications, in how many instances did Union or Centra support the bypass rate.


MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, are you okay with that?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. CAMERON:  I will just note, Mr. Chairman, just given the timing at which evidence might close and the possibility that this is a labour-intensive enquiry, we will certainly make our best efforts, but it might be information we end up having to file after the close of evidence.


MR. VLAHOS:  We hear you, Mr. Cameron.  I'm not sure it is that labour intensive.  It should be information that is readily available to the regulatory affairs department at Union.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking 5.2, please.


UNDERTAKING NO. U5.2:  NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS FOR

SPECIAL RATES FOR UNION AND CENTRA SYSTEMS SINCE 1986, 

AND IN HOW MANY INSTANCES DID UNION OR CENTRA SUPPORT 

THE BYPASS RATE

MS. LEA:  If I could be of any assistance, I have what I believe are the bypass decisions here in a binder.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Dent, you have participated in more than one rates application by Union; isn't that correct?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MORAN:  And I'm wondering if you can point me to any Board decision on Union rate applications where the Board said that T1 interruptible is negotiable, but everybody has to get the same kind of rate, along the lines that you've described in your evidence here?


MR. DENT:  Well, I couldn't comment on what is in an application.  I wouldn't have that background.  But the principle that I was espousing was one that there is a fairness element in the rates that Union set for all customers.  There should be an equitability and there should be a consideration of elements, such as non‑discriminatory access to Union's services and a fairness for all customers.  And that's really what I was talking about yesterday and today.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Dent, you have responsibility for T1 issues, do you not?


MR. DENT:  Yes, I do.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And I wasn't asking you with respect to applications.  I was asking you with respect to Board decisions on T1 rates.


Can you point me to any Board decision, relating to T1 rates, which says that with respect to the T1 interruptible, negotiable rate that it is negotiable, but everybody gets the same rate on a postage-stamp basis as you just described again?


MR. DENT:  No, I couldn't do that specific thing, but what I do take guidance from is the T1 rate schedule.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Could you point me where in the T1 rate schedule it says that with respect to the negotiable rates, everybody guess the same kind of rate?


MR. DENT:  I see that in two ways.  Way number 1 is elements that we've talked about already, the four points on page number 3 of 5, and those elements, then, are informed by the principles of ‑‑ as being part of a principle postage-stamp rate-making.  They really inform the fairness issue for all customers.  Because Union is a regulated utility, fairness should be part of that, and so, as Union negotiates these interruptible contracts with customers, that element of fairness and equitability to the customer plays into that.


MR. MORAN:  I think you just described your approach to those four factors, but can you point me to where, in the T1 rate schedule, it says that for negotiating rates, no matter who you negotiate with, they all get the same rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Moran, there is no decision from the Board that says that we have to be fair.  There is nothing in the rate schedule that says we have to be fair.


But in terms of administering the rate schedule, it is our view that we have a responsibility to ensure that we are not acting in a way that is discriminatory or in a way that is counter to the principles that we use when we design our rates.


That means that we consider ‑‑ we consider the factors that are on the rate schedule; we consider the –- what other customers are paying, and we also consider the fact that the Board has, over time, endorsed postage-stamp rates.
     And to do otherwise would be to use the rate schedule as a means of incremental tolling and that's not what we're doing.
     MR. MORAN:  So that's a decision that Union has made; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  It's a decision that we've made and is backed by Board decisions around postage-stamp rates.
     MR. MORAN:  With respect to the negotiable T1 rate specifically?
     MR. KITCHEN:  With respect to all of our rate schedules.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  But not in relation to the negotiable T1 rate; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  As I said, with respect to all of our rate schedules including T1.
     MR. MORAN:  But there has been no specific direction to you, with respect to the T1 negotiable rate, that no matter -- despite the fact it is negotiable, everybody gets a similar rate?
     MR. KITCHEN:  No, and I think I said there is no specific decision from the Board.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  All right.  

Now, Mr. Simpson, moving to you.  Physical backhaul is possible from Dawn on Vector; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Could you describe what you mean by “physical backhaul,” please?
     MR. MORAN:  Operationally, it is possible to bring gas from the Dawn to Vector, to the GEC connection; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  There is a bi-directional meter but I think you will need to be quite specific with your question.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let me put it this way.  Mr. Hyatt told us yesterday that operationally it was possible.  And you've confirmed there is a bi-directional meter available; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  You also say that however it has never happened; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I hope I said a lot more about it than that yesterday.  That's the first point.  It has never happened.  And I am now talking about physical gas flowing from Dawn to Vector.  It has never happened.  

And the arrangement that's in place between Vector and Union is called an interconnect agreement, quite a common agreement -- sorry, a common agreement between interconnecting facilities.  And the parameters within that facility and within that agreement are interruptible volumes only.  It is not a firm arrangement.  And that's what is in place to facilitate backhaul, if you will, at this point.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And if you could turn to page 143 of the transcript from yesterday, volume 4.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Go ahead.
     MR. MORAN:  Starting at line 4, you say:  

“And in the context of the application at hand, it's really that fact that I guess puts us in a bit of unchartered territory relative to GEC's desire and submission to use backhaul service.”   

I wonder if you could just help me understand what you mean by "GEC's desire and submission.”
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct me if I'm wrong, but I'm under the impression that GEC would like firm service.  So my point is, firm backhaul, volumes flowing from Dawn to Vector, are not available.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So you say that because of the interconnection agreement between Union and Vector, because it provides for physical backhaul but only on an interruptible basis, that physical backhaul is not available on a firm basis, that's your point; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  That's one point within the interconnect agreement.  There is actually perhaps other limitations that are worth the audience realizing.
     The commitment from a pressure perspective is for the prevailing pressure at Dawn to be put into Vector.  There is no minimum commitment.  And the volume commitment has to be a volume of 30,000 gJs, I believe it is, per day.
     So there is no volume that can be flowed less than that.  That's a function, a physical function of the meter and how it was designed.  It is not capable of recording volumes less than that.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So now you have identified two barriers to one of the options that Greenfield might look at.  One has to do with some limitation on the physical meter; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not trying to present barriers.  I'm just trying to present facts of the interconnect itself.
     I spoke of the volume that's on a daily basis and not an hourly basis.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  If I describe something as a barrier, just assume with me that it means that it -- it means it's a factor that prevents you from doing something, okay, Mr. Simpson.  One of the barriers you have identified is a physical limitation on the meter itself; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And another one, another barrier you've identified is the interconnection agreement between Vector and Union, on the basis that physical backhaul is only available on an interruptible basis, right, that would be a barrier to firm backhaul; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I agree.
     MR. MORAN:  And --
     MR. KITCHEN:  Could I just add perhaps another barrier?
     MR. MORAN:  Sure.
     MR. KITCHEN:  It's only a barrier until we get approval from the Board, but we currently don't have a rate to move gas from Dawn to Dawn-Vector, that takes into account the costs of providing that service, and that would have to be developed and applied for.
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Kitchen, I wonder if you could describe what service you're talking about.
     MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that you wanted to move gas in the Dawn yard -- from some point in the Dawn yard to Dawn-Vector in the form of a backhaul, there may be costs.  And from what I understand, there may be fuel costs at Dawn, and there may be UFG, and there will also be potentially some contribution to the recovery of fixed assets.  All I'm suggesting is we haven't looked at it.  The possibility exists that there needs to be a rate and we would have to apply for it.  I'm not saying it is a barrier in so much as it is something that would have to be gone over.
     MR. MORAN:  It's a possible barrier, but you would have to look to see if it exists?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, if you had a customer at Dawn who wanted to nominate gas to deliver to Vector and Vector had a customer who wanted to nominate to match that delivery, and the only barrier, leaving aside the meter issue for a moment and the rate issue, the only barrier to that would be the interconnection agreement; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  No.  I think what I'm trying to say, and maybe I'm not being clear, is this interconnection agreement is not established for firm service, and we have not had a request, from Vector or any customer, to establish firm service on a backhaul basis.
     If there was a serious enquiry brought forward for service like that, I suggest that there would be a significant amount of work on a design level that would be necessary before you could answer that question.
     And that would include several pieces.  From a systems and facilities standpoint and modelling standpoint, this request would have to be looked at.  The engineering at Dawn would play a factor, in terms of its ability or lack of to provide firm backhaul flow into Vector.
     The interconnect agreement itself would then need to be revisited between Vector and Union, and I'm speaking of -- and probably the last component would be what Mr. Kitchen just raised, in terms of a rate.
     MR. MORAN:  What you're telling me, Mr. Simpson, is that if there was a serious request, which is what I think I was suggesting in my question, if there was a serious request, you had a real customer at Dawn and a real customer on Vector who wanted to shed gas on a firm basis, there is some work that you would have to do; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  What I'm suggesting is there's a tremendous amount of work that would have to take place.
     MR. MORAN:  Are we talking years of work, Mr. Simpson?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I actually can't answer that question, because I would have to put that to the engineering team to establish what type of project this really is.
     MR. MORAN:  It's a request to ship gas.  Do you not ship gas through Dawn all the time, Mr. Simpson?
     MR. SIMPSON:  This is a much different request than to ship gas.
     This is a request to provide a service that doesn't exist today, on a design that doesn't exist today, with an agreement that doesn't allow it today.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So when I look at your very sophisticated integrated system in Exhibit X2.2 with Dawn being the centre of a very large integrated system and all sorts of people feeding into it, for everybody except for Vector, you're able to organize nominations, but when it comes to talking about nominating on to Vector, that is suddenly a huge problem?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm sorry, the question is irrelevant to my statement.


If we looked at each of these pipelines and asked the question, How did we fundamentally change the design of them and reverse flow on them out of the Dawn yard, that's a very different question than, Do we have efficient nominations between pipelines?


MR. MORAN:  Are you suggesting that those things can't be done?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think I'm suggesting they can't be done.  They haven't asked to be done.  No one has asked us to do this on Vector.


GEC, nor Vector, have come forward.  The process has not even begun; and that is just at a basic engineering level.


MR. MORAN:  Now, Union operates the Dawn hub, obviously.  And as I understand it, Union has an operating agreement with Vector for the Vector pipeline, the Canadian portion, the part that we're talking about?


MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And so you know how that pipeline works?  You operate it; right?


MR. SIMPSON:  Perhaps I will try to describe, at a high level, what we're referring to.  The OBA agreement or operator's balancing agreement or operational balancing agreement, it is a bit of a capstone agreement that, purely on an operational level, if pipelines that are interconnecting or operators that are interconnecting are off a little on a day‑to‑day basis on nominations, or small maintenance issues, things like that, this agreement is really intended to say, on a best-efforts basis, we'll try to work together as companies.

     That's what the OBA, if you will, is between Vector and Union.


MR. MORAN:  And I assume that on a best-efforts basis, you would work with any customer who wanted to obtain the kind of service we've been talking about; correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think Mr. Dent's been trying very hard to do that, but in the context of the OBA agreement, it should be clear that that is not entitled to be abused for balancing of any shippers along the system.


It's really meant to handle rather minor modifications throughout the day of how the system is operated.  It's not intended to underpin services sold or products otherwise sold by either party.


MR. MORAN:  Who operates the meter?


MR. SIMPSON:  What do you mean by who operates the meter?


MR. MORAN:  There is a meter there, right, the bi-directional meter that you have referred to?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  Who operates it?  Is it Union personnel or is it Vector personnel who operate it?


MR. SIMPSON:  I believe, and this is subject to check, I believe the meter is owned by Vector and operated by Union under the operating agreement that I spoke of earlier, which is maintenance and issues like that.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  Thank you.  Could you produce a copy of the interconnection agreement between Vector and Union, please?


MR. SIMPSON:  I would suggest that I may be need some guidance in terms of what, beyond the agreement I've provided, it would bring to the case.  I'm not saying I can't.  I just haven't checked the agreement, in terms of confidentiality clauses.  I certainly haven't asked Vector if that would be okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Simpson, can you undertake to find out whether that document can be produced, if there are any confidentiality elements that we should be sensitive to?


MR. SIMPSON:  I would be pleased to do that.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  I was looking at Mr. Cameron.  Did I say Mr. Simpson?  I'm sorry.  


MR. SIMPSON:  But I ‑‑


MR. CAMERON:  We will review the agreement and consult with Vector and find out if there are any obstacles to producing it.  If there are none, we will produce it.


MS. LEA:  The undertaking then, as I understand it, is to enquire as to whether this agreement can be produced without concerns about confidentiality, and with Vector's consent; if yes, to produce it; if no, to come and tell us so and give us reasons.  5.3.


UNDERTAKING NO. U5.3:  TO PRODUCE A COPY OF THE

INTERCONNECTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN VECTOR AND UNION, 

SUBJECT TO CONFIDENTIALITY CONSIDERATIONS

MR. CAMERON:  Again, though, I -‑ when I said labour intensive last time, I was more or less just thinking about the clock and the possibility that we will finish in the next hour and a half or two hours.  Again, we will ‑‑ I expect we will be able to get an answer by Monday.  I expect we will be still receiving evidence on Monday, so it should work.


MR. VLAHOS:  Usually we try, Mr. Cameron, to get all of the responses to undertakings in by the time argument rolls in.  But sometimes it's not absolutely necessary.  But in this case, I can appreciate that Mr. Moran would like that information before argument, so let's try our best on that one.


MR. CAMERON:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. MORAN:  Has Union Gas done any studies to determine the conditions under which it would not be able to receive gas from TransCanada Pipeline and re-deliver that gas to Vector?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know.


MR. MORAN:  Has Union Gas done any studies to determine the condition under which it would not be able to receive gas from Union's storage and re-deliver that gas to Vector?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think in the context of the discussion we've had, I hope I've captured firm and interruptible abilities.  Is there something you're thinking beyond that?


MR. MORAN:  Have you done any studies?


MR. SIMPSON:  I need you to be more specific.


MR. MORAN:  Has Union Gas done any studies to determine the conditions under which it would not be able to take gas out of Union's storage for delivery to Vector

-- for re-delivery to Vector?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know.


MR. MORAN:  You don't know.  All right.  Do any shippers using Dawn hub today nominate gas for delivery into Vector at Dawn?


MR. SIMPSON:  I believe the right is there.  As I've mentioned in terms of IT flow, subject to check, the Vector pipeline is typically flowing west to east.  The design obviously was intended to flow gas from Chicago to Ontario, and I would argue that's almost exclusively what that pipeline has done to date.


There may be occasions, though rare, to the east or west on an IT basis that have occurred, but I don't know.


MR. MORAN:  How do you manage the meter limitation for such nominations?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't want to try and be a facilities or Dawn engineer here, but the agreement says that the volumes would be greater than 30,000 a day.


MR. MORAN:  So that's how you manage it?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So it's clear that somebody can nominate as long as it's interruptible, but you've indicated that if you wanted to nominate on a firm basis, that might require some unknown amount of work, perhaps a lot?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  Okay, got you.


And, Mr. Kitchen, in terms of the service that's provided to do that, what's the rate implications of the service on an interruptible basis?  Is there a rate in place for that service?


MR. KITCHEN:  There is no rate currently in service to do a physical back haul.


MR. MORAN:  So if somebody nominates at the Dawn hub for delivery into Vector, there's no charge, or there isn't any cost incurrence or you don't need a rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  There is what I would call a

meter-balance charge, which is essentially a paper transfer.  It doesn't recover the costs of fuel or of U of G.


MR. MORAN:  All right.


MR. KITCHEN:  We'd have to look at the rate.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So the right to do it exists, and you've got what you just described and that's what's there in place for interruptible nominations?


MR. KITCHEN:  Was that a question?


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MR. SIMPSON:  Would you restate your question, please?


MR. MORAN:  As long as it is over 30,000 because of the meter thing, and given that the right exists, and given what you just described to me, Mr. Kitchen, in terms of the meter balancing charge --
     MR. KITCHEN:  No meter bounce, just to be clear.
     MR. MORAN:  Meter bounce.  Sorry.  That is what is in place of what is a right that exists at the moment at the Dawn hub; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I think you're encompassing the facts correctly.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  And you would have to look at the situation in the context of firm nominations; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Firm physical flow, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Does Union ever accept nomination changes for storage withdrawals outside the NAESB windows? 
     MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know.
     MS. LEA:  Mr. Moran, what was reference to window?
     MR. MORAN:  The NAESB.
     MS. LEA:  All in capitals?
     MR. MORAN:  All in caps, yes.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.
     MR. MORAN:  Does Union ever accept nomination changes for transportation on its Dawn-Trafalgar system?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I will have to apologize.  The detailed questions of about nominations is really not the expertise of this panel.
     I will offer that in evidence there were windows, as they're referred to, which are time stamps that are to be followed for requesting flow of gas on a subsequent day.  Getting much further than that, I'm probably out of my league.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So the answer at this point is "I don't know" to both of those questions?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Could you undertake to provide me with the answers to those two questions?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I will try to help as much as I can.  If you would restate the questions and we can be very specific what you're after?
     MR. MORAN:  Would you like me to repeat the two questions.
     MS. LEA:  I would, please.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Does Union ever accept nomination changes for storage withdrawals outside the NAESB, all caps, windows?
     Does Union ever accept nomination changes for transportation on its Dawn-Trafalgar system?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Are you referring to ex-franchise services, I take it?
     MR. MORAN:  Yes.  Outside the nomination windows.
     MR. VLAHOS:  And the significance of that, Mr. Moran, for the Board is?
     MR. MORAN:  If you would turn up page -- paragraph 147 of Union's prefiled evidence.  Sorry, not prefiled --intervenor evidence, Mr. Chair.  At paragraph 147, you will see that Union has identified another barrier to firm transportation from Dawn on Vector, related to the nomination windows.
     So it's in relation to that issue.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.
     MR. SIMPSON:  If I may, to your point.  I don't know that it is a barrier as much it is a fact that Union operates to the North American standard.  The context of that point was within Vector's FTH service, which is an hourly service.
     Union's operation is designed around a daily service, from a nomination basis.  Nominations that are made within these windows are for gas to flow the next day, not from 3 o'clock to 4 o'clock.
     MR. MORAN:  And you will be able to provide me with the answers to the questions that I asked through the undertaking; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Subject to check, because someone other than me would be answering it, if it is answerable.  But I would assume that it will be related to the nomination for the day.  That was my only clarification point, because the paragraph of context was relative to an hourly service.
     MR. MORAN:  I understand.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Simpson, the answer can go beyond yes or no to those things.  I mean you can qualify your answers in the undertaking, in a way that you feel most comfortable, to the Board.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you. 
     MS. LEA:  Undertaking 5.4, answering the two questions Mr. Moran put to you earlier.
     UNDERTAKING NO. U5.4:  Does Union ever accept 

nomination changes for storage withdrawals outside the 

NAESB?  Does Union ever accept nomination changes for 

transportation on its Dawn-Trafalgar system?
     MR. MORAN:  Now Mr. Dent, at one point, you indicated that GEC expressed no concerns about the service characteristics of your IT service proposal.
     But it's fair to say that throughout the discussions, GEC has always taken the position that firm transportation is important; right?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I would agree with that.
     MR. MORAN:  I would like to turn now to the Union intervenor evidence at paragraph 72, which is on page 24, in which you indicate that the potential annual margin loss to Union and its ratepayers with respect to its existing customers is in the area of $29 million; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Then there is schedule 3 which has been referred to several times today which lists a number of companies that represent that estimate of $29 million; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  And I take it these are all contract customers; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they are.
     MR. MORAN:  And they're all large users?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  And they all have dedicated facilities?
     MR. KITCHEN:  If you're asking are they all served off of transmission facilities, then, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.
     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure what you mean by dedicated.  There is a line that runs to them and they're in close enough proximity to existing transmission main to bypass us.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And those facilities serve them?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  That's what I meant by dedicated facilities, thank you.
     So your fear is that these existing customers, when they see a decision from this Board on an application by GEC, who is not an existing customer, for GEC to build its own pipeline, that these folks might be interested in building their own pipelines.
     MR. KITCHEN:  They might be interested in seeking similar relief.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And one option would be to build their own pipeline.  Another option would be to say, Hey, we could build our own pipeline, give us a special rate.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  That raises the concern then of stranded assets; right?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it does.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And you think that --
     MR. KITCHEN:  That is assuming they physically bypass.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And you don't think it makes a difference at all that GEC is not a customer, and these companies are customers?
     MR. KITCHEN:  From the point of view of a customer that would want to reduce its cost based on a precedent, no.
     MR. MORAN:  And so you're concerned there is a risk that the Board, first, might approve GEC's proposal, and then subsequently approve proposals by existing customers resulting in stranded assets and saddling ratepayers with higher rates.  That's the risk that you think is going to happen?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That is the risk, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Alternatively, you think that those customers might apply for special rates.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  So the scenario is you've got a large customer who is served by dedicated facilities who is already connected and under contract with Union coming in and saying, Hey, I'm a credible bypass candidate.  

Isn't it a bit late in the day for somebody already connected and served and under contract to say, I'm a credible bypass candidate, give me a special rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.  I don't think it is at all, not based on the Board -‑ or the prior applications for bypass competitive rates.


There have been numerous situations where existing customers have claimed that they are credible bypass, by virtue of their size.  The Board has never required that they apply for ‑‑ apply for physical bypass, only that they show themselves to be credible bypasses.


MR. MORAN:  So you're saying there are numerous instances where existing customers have taken the position, despite being under contract and taking service from dedicated facilities, have taken the position that they're a credible bypass?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Before this Board?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And were they successful?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.  The Board either found them to not be credible, or to -‑ or that the bypass was not in the public interest.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So you still think there is a risk, though?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Okay, got you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, can I just clarify something for myself?  Mr. Kitchen, are you talking about contracts between the utility and those customers?  Those are ‑‑ what kind of contracts are they?


Are they simply that are out ‑‑ you know, Union shall serve me under schedule M7 or T1?  I mean, what is the read, other than just the terms and conditions of service?


 MR. KITCHEN:  Well, Mr. Dent may be able to give a better idea, but we have contract customers.  We have contracts with them to take service, and those contracts specify delivery points, delivery point obligations, terms and condition of service, and typically they reference a rate schedule which changes from time to time.


MR. VLAHOS:  But do they say that I'm going to be your customer for the next ten years?


MR. KITCHEN:  Some of our contracts would be for a year.  Some would be for longer terms.


MR. VLAHOS:  And the purpose of the longer term is?  Why would I as a customer sign a contract for a long term, other than a contract that simply says, As long as I'm being served by Union, here is my requirements, and I'm going to give you so many DCQ.  I'm just ‑‑ I still don't understand what kinds of contracts those would be.


MR. DENT:  There may be some terms and conditions that wouldn't change for the longer-term contract even though the rate changes, and consequently the customer may want to ensure that he maintains those specific terms, even though the rate may change -- may change somewhat.


MR. VLAHOS:  So is it a rate we're talking about now, the constants in the rate that I would be enticed to enter into a long-term contract?


MR. DENT:  No, the rate itself would change with the Board decision, but there may be other terms and conditions that would remain stable for the length of the contract.


MR. VLAHOS:  Like?


MR. DENT:  Things such as delivery point pressure, operational elements for the facility.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Now, you appreciate I'm not a lawyer.  So there is a long-term agreement on those things, but does it also tie me as a customer to be served by you for the duration of that contract?


MR. DENT:  A specific term?


MR. VLAHOS:  No, just generally.


MR. DENT:  Yes.  There is always a term with our contracts.  Generally they're one year, but there are some that are longer term.


MR. VLAHOS:  Most of them are one year?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  Most would be one year.


MR. VLAHOS:  I think ‑‑ give me an idea as to how many would be non‑one year, I mean percentage wise, one in ten, or ...

     MR. DENT:  Subject to check, I believe it is -- in the contract rate as a whole, again subject to check, I believe it would be less than 5 percent, relatively small, very small number.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I clarify something?


MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Would it be fair to say that ‑‑ or some of those contracts, the notion of having a term tied to them is for the return on the investment of the connection in the first place?


MR. DENT:  That would be ‑‑ that could be part of the case, yes, to make sure that there is recovery of those costs.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So that would be the incentive to have a longer term and that you would have the plan to stay on with Union Gas and possible exit clauses of contribution in lieu of the term to exit the contract?


MR. DENT:  That's correct, it would support.  It also supports deliverability above the 1.2 percent, so there are a number of elements.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Those are conditions of service tied to the longer term, and also the recoverability of the project cost at start‑up?


MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.  That's fair.


MR. VLAHOS:  I thought, Mr. Dent, that this was taken care of by what we heard today or yesterday about EB-O188.  There's a contribution in aid of construction up front.


MR. KITCHEN:  I can maybe jump in on that one.


In cases where the Board practice has been to require us to collect aids to construct to bring the project PI up to one, that is over the life of the project.


It doesn't necessarily mean that there won't be near-term impacts on customers.  So, yes, we do require an aid.  In some cases we would still want the customer to be on the system to ensure that those near-term impacts are managed.  In other words, if a ‑‑ if it takes five years before the benefits start coming to customers, you want to make sure they're on the system for five years; otherwise, even if you have collected to date, you won't get the revenue that you need.  Is that making sense?


MR. VLAHOS:  I understand.  You would show a profitability ‑‑ a positive profitability from a customer, but it doesn't mean that you're not in the hole in the first five years?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Any of those contracts left on those large customers that we're talking about today?


MR. DENT:  I can think of at least one that's longer term.


MR. VLAHOS:  By longer term ‑‑


MR. DENT:  Over ten years.


MR. VLAHOS:  Over ten years?  All right.  Sorry, Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I don't know what time you want to take your afternoon break at, but this would be a good point. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Now would be fine, if it's okay with you, Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Fifteen minutes.


MS. LEA:  Actually, Mr. Chair, given that I need to assist Mr. Moran with printing some things, and there may be a few administrative details to take care of, could I have 20 minutes, please?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you want 25?


MS. LEA:  Three o'clock as a compromise.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Let's go for 25 minutes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:35 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:05 p.m.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Moran.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, I'm sorry, how long do you estimate to be?
     MR. MORAN:  Approximately 15 minutes, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead.
     MR. MORAN:  I would ask you to turn up your Union intervenor evidence at page 48, paragraph 147.  We already touched on this briefly, Mr. Simpson.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  As I understand what's set out in paragraph 147, it's a discussion of the Vector FT hourly service.  And as I understand the comment there, it won't work, from your perspective on a backhaul basis, because of the hourly nomination requirement for an hourly service; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  There's possibly two reasons.  One is, what you mentioned, that backhaul on a firm basis is not available.  And I guess that's consistent with FTH being a firm service.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And so if it were to be available from Dawn, there would have to be a change, obviously, to the nomination windows; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I would suggest there would be two major changes.  One would be the nomination window, and Union's abiding by the GISB standard, as I mentioned the North American standard today, which has four standard windows.       

Certainly they don't contemplate hourly nomination, and the second point, if FTH is to be a firm service, we're back into backhaul on a firm basis, as we have talked at length earlier.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  But there is no restriction in the standard GISB nomination windows that says you can't have more windows to accommodate an hourly service, is there?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I think with respect to our ability, I would ask to turn to tab 5, answer 16.  I did address that in terms of Union's position on the hourly windows.
     MR. MORAN:  Tab 5, interrogatory ...

MR. SIMPSON:  Tab 5, interrogatory number 16.  What we, in a very similar question to what you're asking now, described was our existing nomination structure and the fact that if changes were required, an examination obviously of those impacts would be required.  And in B, that Union's not necessarily unwilling or unable, just simply has not been asked by Vector or any other pipeline or any customer.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So if asked, then, you would be willing and able?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Willing answer able to review.  In terms of ability post the review, I think that would be premature for me to speculate on what the outcome of that review might be.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And the concern you would have, I gather, from the conversation we had about the other nomination windows, is there might be some physical issue about this startling new use of the Dawn hub; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch the last part of your question.
     MR. MORAN:  If I understand your reticence to commit to your willingness and ability to do this, it has to do with the possibility, and you're not an expert on this, you say, the possibility there might be some physical issues that have to be addressed at the Dawn hub in order to see if this kind of service can be offered.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, in the context of the discussion we've just had about the hourly nominations and in the context of the discussion we had about the other nomination windows for which you already provided an undertaking, could Union please undertake to advise whether there are any physical restrictions or problems that would prevent such services being provided at the Dawn hub?
     I didn't understand, until now, that I should have asked Mr. Hyatt this question, and unfortunately he has come and gone, so I'm going to have to do it through an undertaking.
     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm sorry, I don't think I can accept that undertaking.  I think whether it was myself or Mr. Hyatt, it is not a simple question that's being posed.
     I believe that there would be detailed study that I referred to required.  It wouldn't be a simple, Yes, I think we can do that.  Shouldn't be a problem.  Or, No, we could never do that.
     I think any answer requires a thorough examination that it deserves.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  I asked it for this reason, given your own statement that you don't feel comfortable speaking to that issue, it's possible that Mr. Hyatt, on the operational side, may feel more comfortable than you do in speaking to this issue and may, in fact, be able to provide better advice than you're able to on that issue.  So I'm wondering if you could at least undertake to -- or if Union could undertake to enquire into whether there's any physical restrictions or problems that people are currently aware of.  And if the answer to that is "no", to describe the nature and timing of the process that would have to be put into place in order to make a determination on such a question.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Again I think that is an unfair undertaking.  What we may, perhaps, be able to do is that I have a conversation with Mr. Hyatt, and if I am mistaken, then that would be available.  If I'm not, his response may very well be that a series of significant studies would be required in which case, if that was acceptable, we would take the undertaking.
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think I'm asking for two things.  One, whether there's any knowledge, at this point, with respect to any physical limitations on the ability of the Dawn hub to provide this kind of service; and two, if there isn't any knowledge of any physical restrictions or limitations, a description of the process that Union would have to carry out in order to determine if such a process 

-- if such a service was possible; and how long such a process would take.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, just to help me.  There was a couple of words I did not pick up.  It was the physical limitations, in terms of what?
     MR. MORAN:  What physical limitations, to the knowledge of Union, exist?
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Physical limitations with respect to what?
     MR. MORAN:  On the ability to provide nomination windows outside of the nomination windows currently in place at the Dawn hub to match up with the firm transportation, hourly service on Vector, which requires hourly nomination windows.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So you're asking the company or you're asking Mr. Simpson or the company, through Mr. Simpson, to enquire whether there is any physical limitations to the issues you just described.  And if there is no knowledge as to what would it take to obtain that knowledge?
     MR. MORAN:  That's right.  A description of the --
     MR. VLAHOS:  You're not asking for any studies just now.
     MR. MORAN:  No.  A description of the review that would have to be carried out and how long such a review would likely take.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, Mr. Simpson, are you agreeable to talk to Mr. Hyatt in that respect and advise us back?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry to interrupt.  I think in the context of how it was just posed, we could undertake that.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Again, it could be a verbal response if we're still here; if not, then a written one.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, sir.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That is U5.5 then.
     MR. CAMERON:  I think it might be 5.6.
     MR. VLAHOS:  See we've lost Ms. Lea and we're totally lost.
     MR. CAMERON:  We have 5.5 as the last one.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  
     UNDERTAKING NO. U5.5:  What physical limitations, to

the knowledge of Union, exist on the ability to 

provide nomination windows outside of the nomination 

windows currently in place at the Dawn hub to match up 

with the firm transportation, hourly service on 

Vector, which requires hourly nomination windows

MR. CAMERON:  I see.  There were two questions in the last undertaking, so maybe it counted as one undertaking with two questions.


MR. MORAN:  It did.


MR. CAMERON:  Then it will be 5.5 then.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Chaplin is right.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Simpson, Greenfield identified Vector's FT hourly service as one specifically designed to meet the needs of gas‑fired power generators, or other end users with large variable loads.


Are you contradicting that assertion?


MR. SIMPSON:  No, I would agree with that.  In fact, my conversations with Vector have described the service as such, as well.  It's just never been used by the two power gen facilities that are currently on Vector's system.


MR. MORAN:  You're not contradicting the proposition that it's been designed to meet the needs of gas‑fired power generators?


MR. SIMPSON:  I won't pretend to describe exactly why they designed it.  I suspect it was mostly for power gen users.  It could certainly be used by anyone.  I don't think that is a criteria of service.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And in terms of the comments that were ‑- that you made in paragraph 147 about the fact that that service is limited to a minimum of four hours and a maximum of 16 hours a day, you're not purporting to say to this Board that that poses a particular problem for a gas‑fired generator who wishes to take advantage of that service, are you?


MR. SIMPSON:  What I was trying to assist the Board in understanding is there's somewhat of a contradiction in the title itself, FT hourly service, but it has a restriction in terms of the hours it could be used within a day, four to 16.


I pointed that out, clearly, just to state that if you wished for FT hourly for one hour, that appeared not to be an option under this particular service.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  But you would agree it is really for the gas‑fired generators who want to take advantage of that service to decide that for themselves, rather than for Union Gas to comment on?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  I think it's still a fair comment.  All I was doing was clarifying that FT hourly service is not available for one hour.


MR. MORAN:  And what turns on that, for you?


MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, I'm just trying to answer your question as to why I made that comment.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  My question is:  What turns on that comment for you, the fact that it's limited to a minimum of four to 16 hours?  What turns on that for you?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think what the evidence that Union has presented is trying to demonstrate is simply what service options have been presented by GEC, and some further description around each.  That was what turned on it for me.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  But, Mr. Simpson, let's not play games here.  In that paragraph you say, very clearly, that Union is doubtful that GEC would utilize Vector's FTH service, because of its complexities, and the complexities are what you described in that paragraph.  And one of the things that you point to is that there is a minimum requirement of four hours and a maximum of 16 hours.


What special knowledge do you have about GEC's ability to decide on whether to use this service?  What turns on that comment that the Board should worry about?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think the only thing that the Board should worry about on my comment is the fact that FT hourly is not available on a back-haul basis and is not available other than for four to 16 hours.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And why should they worry about the latter point that you just made?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know that "worry" is the correct word.  What I'm trying to demonstrate is that GEC has not, in my mind, clearly demonstrated what services they will use or how they will use them.  So absent that knowledge, I was clearly just trying to assist, in terms of some further description of service or service availability.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And I’ll come back to that, the question I asked you then.  Giving that assistance, what turns on it?  Is this a good thing or a bad thing that the Board should worry about?


MR. SIMPSON:  Well, I think your panel suggested that service options, if removed, increased costs.  And I thought a big part of this discussion was, in fact, about costs.  And comparison of costs, you've purported a cost.


I'm just trying to elaborate, given the lack of information, on what some service factors and availabilities might be.


MR. MORAN:  Firm transportation hourly service on Vector can work both ways, obviously, and GEC would have access to it, wouldn't it?


MR. SIMPSON:  It would have access forward haul from Chicago on an FTH basis, that's correct.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And you're not saying to this Board -- you're not commenting on GEC's ability to figure out if it wants to use it, how it should use it.  You're not commenting on GEC's ability to determine if the four-hour minimum is a problem or the 16 max is a problem?  You're not saying that to the Board, are you?


MR. SIMPSON:  No, I don't profess to know how GEC will use the services that it has suggested.  I'm merely trying to clarify those that were presented and those that were presented as options that may, in fact, not be.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And ultimately it's up to GEC to determine how it manages its gas supply; correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  Not Union?


MR. SIMPSON:  I've never implied it was Union.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So is it fair to say that what I see in paragraph 147, that the only real concern that you might have is in relation to the back haul from Dawn, given what you have identified as a problem with the nomination windows?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  My concern is much larger.  My concern is that there was a presentation of suggested costs and there was, then, following questions to try and understand the operation of the plant, the use of services to establish a cost differential comparison.  That is my concern.


MR. MORAN:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure if I understood that answer.  What's your concern?


MR. SIMPSON:  My concern is there has not been a presentation of how these services will be utilized, and absent that, I simply have tried to clarify what some of the limitations are.


MR. MORAN:  And just to finish off on the 4-hour minimum and 16-hour maximum, when you say "restriction", are you identifying as a problem with the service it won't work for gas‑fired generators?


MR. SIMPSON:  Not at all.  I repeat the theme of my answers, which is we don't know.  You're going to operate the plant and you haven't shared how this service fits into your mix.


MR. MORAN:  Now, moving on to the Vector interconnection that you say is duplicated by GEC's Vector interconnection, I would like to go back to the schematic, Exhibit 2.2.


As I understand it, the concern about the Vector interconnection that Union owns, and the concern about whether it will be duplicated, is the one that we see on the first page of Exhibit 2.2, the Vector interconnection between the Courtright station and Vector; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  We're still looking for your schematic.


I have the schematic.


MR. MORAN:  So the Vector connection that you're concerned about is the one that you have with Vector from your Courtright station; correct?  That's the one that you say is duplicated by GEC's proposed interconnection with Vector.


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  What I meant by that, "duplication", was a more aggregate statement, that Union's system is already tied into Vector and that we are not going to be tying into Vector yet again to serve this facility.


So the duplication, if you will, is the fact that under GEC's proposal, an additional interconnection would be made into Vector.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  You will just have to bear with me for a moment, Mr. Simpson. 


Sorry, Mr. Chair.  I'm going to come back to that in a moment, Mr. Simpson.  

Now, Union does have a Vector interconnection at the Courtright meter station; right?  
     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  GEC's proposed interconnection with Vector would be in the vicinity of that interconnection; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And you're saying that you don't have any concern about any duplication between those two interconnections?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I think what I just elaborated on was -- the duplication I was referring to was the actual interconnect that GEC is proposing to make into Vector.
     Union already has, within its integrated system, access to Vector in a tie-in.
     MR. MORAN:  So is that, yes, you are concerned that it's duplicating that Vector interconnection or, no, you're not concerned?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure of the difference between your last few questions.  My answer is, your interconnect with Vector duplicates Union's interconnect with Vector, in that we duplicate Union's interconnect with Vector, in that we already have one.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Could you please turn to paragraph 17 of your intervenor evidence -- sorry, page 7, paragraph 17 of your intervenor evidence.
     The sentence that begins on the third line you have stated:

“GEC's current proposal to connect to Vector will immediately result in duplication of Union's own interconnection with Vector.”

     Do you see that?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I do.
     MR. MORAN:  And that's the interconnection that we see on Exhibit 2.2, right, that's your interconnection with Vector?
     MR. SIMPSON:  We might be missing each other.  My point in my statements as well as in this reference is nothing more than GEC's interconnect is a duplication of effort, if you will.  Union already has an interconnect at Vector.  As part of our integrated system we receive gas from Vector there.  And if we were allowed to serve Union or sorry GEC under T1, we wouldn't need to put in an additional interconnect.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So I think we're back on the same page again, Mr. Simpson.
     So looking at the Union interconnection with Vector, as shown on Exhibit 2.2, it connects into the Courtright station; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And then from the Courtright station, there are a number of things running off from there.  We have the Sarnia industrial line, there's the line down to Terra, and then the proposed line to GEC; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  There's other lines, of course.  I don't know that you noted them -- or missed them intentionally, but TCPL and our line to Dawn, that is all part of our existing system.
     MR. MORAN:  There's TCPL interconnection with Courtright station as well.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  So that's what you call part of the Union integrated system; right?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So clearly your connection with Vector is being used for a number of purposes; right?  It's intended to help the integrated system perform better; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Our connection with Vector is exactly that, it is connected into our whole system.  Our system, if you will, acts as one.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And as you indicated in an answer to an interrogatory, the decision to make that interconnection predated the existence of GEC; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And if GEC builds its own pipeline to connect to Vector, your integrated system is the same the day after GEC puts its pipeline into service as it was the day before it went into service; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think I would agree with that comment.  The station, our Vector-Courtright station that serves into Union's existing system, was done for a few reasons, security of supply, access, as well growth expectations.
     While this is -- predates GEC's plans to locate in the Sarnia area, it doesn't predate expectations that the Sarnia area would grow.
     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  I wasn't actually talking about your expectations.  I was talking about what was on the ground.
     Your integrated system is going to be the same the day after GEC's pipeline goes into operation as it was the day before it went into operation; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.
     MR. MORAN:  It will be the same after GEC's in operation as it was before GEC even applied for approval to build that pipeline.
     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  My only point of clarification to add to the question is, Union has built its system over the years and continues to do so and expand in economical fashions, and that fashion, if you will, is underpinned by an expectation that we are the single source provider.
     MR. MORAN:  And the day after the Greenfield pipeline goes into operation, Union will still be using its Vector interconnection at the Courtright station; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  We will still use it.
     MR. MORAN:  It will continue to be used for as long as it is used and useful; correct?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it will.
     MR. MORAN:  In fact, it is not going to be stranded by the Greenfield proposal at all.  It will continue to be used.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Union has never said that the station would be stranded.  The IRs and the discussion that was a prelude to that question was about duplication of interconnect.
     Beyond that, I'm suggesting that stations are designed in anticipation of existing load, and if there's unique circumstances of future load.  And the Sarnia load both industrial and power-wise has been growing.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I think we tend to go around on this thing.  I thought the questions related more to the physical aspect of the integrated system, any changes from before to after, and now we tend to bring economics in every time.
     So I think the two or three times I heard the same question and same answer.  So can we just try to move it on, both sides?
     MR. MORAN:  Yes.  

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  

Mr. MORAN:  Now, the Vector interconnection will be included in rate base, will it not?
     MR. KITCHEN:  It will be part of the next rate proceeding, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And like everything that is included in rate base, ultimately the cost of those assets are recovered from ratepayers plus a return.
     MR. KITCHEN:  The cost of the assets will be recovered from the customers on the system.  If GEC is a customer, a portion of the costs will be recovered from them.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let's proceed on the basis that GEC is not a customer at the moment.
     The Vector interconnection facility is in rate base, and its costs are being allocated in the usual way to all rate classes; correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  It will be allocated to all rate classes, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  That doesn't change just because Greenfield Energy doesn't exist, does it?
     MR. KITCHEN:  No. The allocation happens, but the fact that GEC is not a customer of Union means that those costs will be picked up by other ratepayers, other than GEC.


MR. MORAN:  I think actually my question was:  If GEC doesn't exist, that allocation does not change; right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's true.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And if GEC makes its own connection to Vector, that would be the same as not existing for the purposes of Union; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is true, and Union's remaining customers would pay for that interconnect.


MR. MORAN:  And Union's existing customers, because GEC has never been a customer, would continue to pay, as they always would have had to have paid, regardless of GEC, because GEC isn't a customer?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is true, but the point is that GEC is affecting a bypass and the system will not be utilized as efficiently as it otherwise would be, and Union's customers will pay for that.


MR. MORAN:  And you didn't require leave to construct that interconnection; is that true?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Last point I want to cover with you.  At the beginning of his evidence, Mr. Rosenkranz made a connection with respect to the MBA toll that was set out in the Vector tariff that was posted on Vector's website.  Do you recall that evidence from Mr. Rosenkranz?


MR. SIMPSON:  I remember the reference.


MR. MORAN:  And he indicated that he had been advised by Vector that what they posted on their website, the toll posted for the MBA service was incorrect.  Instead of 29 cents, it should be 2.9 cents.  Do you remember that evidence?


MR. SIMPSON:  I do.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And I would like you to turn up Union's intervenor evidence, page 54.  We were rather expecting a concurrent correction from you folks when you were invited to do so, but it didn't happen.  So let's take a look at ‑‑ I'm sorry, yes, page 54, paragraph H, at the top of page 54.


Do you have that?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I do.


MR. MORAN:  And in that paragraph you used what turns out to be the wrong ‑‑ through no fault of yours, of course, the wrong figure for calculating the toll.  And you would agree that if you used 2.9 cents instead of 29 cents, in the last sentence where it says $15 million, that would become $1.5 million?


MR. SIMPSON:  As a direct edit to that sentence, that's correct.  I would like to expand by saying that the 29 cents ‑ I'm not sure if this was fully disclosed ‑ was from the Vector FTH tariff that was submitted in GEC's application.  So it was merely a conversion from that toll tariff.


But beyond that, I wouldn't mind clarifying MBA service, because that's the toll that Vector charges whoever uses or is the shipper of record using that service.  And unless I am mistaken, that would be with a third party.  So Vector could charge a third party up to 2.9 cents, as now has been corrected on the record.


What that third party charges GEC for that service is a complete unknown to us at this point, and the costs of $15 million could very well be incorrect, or not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And you have some customers who arrange for their own storage that isn't Union storage; correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  You don't know what they're paying for it either, do you?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure what your question is trying to establish.


MR. MORAN:  You don't always know what your customers are doing, do you?  I mean, you don't always know all of the costs of your customers, do you?


MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly we don't know all of the costs of many of our customers.  However, I think it is rather unique, in this application, where we're looking into a direct cost comparison, and this is just another service that was mentioned.  Again, I'm just trying to clarify some of the service details that were perhaps not provided and some of the cost implications that were not provided.


MR. MORAN:  And if GEC has its own pipeline and is running its own plant, forgive me for saying so, it is none of your business, is it?


MR. SIMPSON:  In terms of what is our business, I think that is why we're here today, is to establish, at least this panel in some small part, what the costs are that GEC has submitted.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  The Board has some questions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Just first of all, Mr. Simpson, you've been providing us with quite a bit of evidence about the qualifications that you would put on GEC's evidence regarding its services and the costs of those services.


Is there some conclusion that you feel the Board should draw from that?  I mean, I gather that basically Union's evidence is that GEC, to the extent it has identified services and identified costs, has underestimated those.  To the extent that GEC has identified Union services and Union's costs, they have perhaps overestimated those.  


I'm wondering, is there some conclusion you wish the Board ‑‑ that you feel the Board should draw from that?


MR. SIMPSON:  To the extent this application made a cost comparison, I do think there is a conclusion the Board should draw, which is it has not been established by the applicant that the cost differential is valid.


They have options that have been presented which, in fact, aren't available, and GEC has suggested that when options are removed, costs go up.


There are costs that perhaps are available that we have discussed as ‑‑ sorry, options that are available that we've discussed that costs have not been included.  I think that is important.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  And there's been some discussion of the -- some of the physical facilities, and, for example, you most recently had a discussion with Mr. Moran about the physical interconnection between Union's system and Vector.  And you described, I believe, that the establishment of those facilities and other types of facilities like that were premised on Union's assessment of its system needs and its presumption or its assumption it would be a single-source provider.  You recall that discussion?


MR. SIMPSON:  I do.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Would it be fair to say that when Union's making those plans and adding facilities, is it also taking account of its ex‑franchise business?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  The contracts that I've referred to that Union has taken a position on these various pipelines over a variety of terms over time have been for our sales service customers.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  I'm asking, for example -- I will use a very specific example.  When Union made its physical interconnection with Vector, was that only made in the context of Union serving its own customers, or would part of the consideration have been the opportunities it might have presented for Union to also be offering the ex‑franchise services it offers?


MR. SIMPSON:  The Vector pipeline was built because the participants in Vector thought that was a wise economic choice.  Their destination, if you will, of choice was Dawn, so we made that interconnection.  And, simply, the contracts that Union took out on Vector, which is what I was trying to refer to, was simply for sales service requirements.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. CAMERON:  I hate to interrupt, but I don't think the witness understood the Vector interconnection you were talking about, Ms. Chaplin.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I thought I had an answer, but I'm happy to ask the question again and see if -- try to make it clear and see if the answer is different.


When Union made its physical -- built the interconnection with Vector, right, was part of the consideration -- when deciding whether to do that or not, was that solely driven by Union's own in‑franchise requirements, or is part of the consideration that Union made in that circumstance, as in many other circumstances, its ex‑franchise business?

     MR. SIMPSON:  I sense in the larger context of the interconnect, I guess, is what your question is.  And certainly any pipe connecting into Dawn presents higher liquidity levels.  This is a good thing.
     Union was certainly encouraged by the connection of Vector into Dawn.  I'm just imparting that it was Vector that was marketing to Dawn with their physical asset.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry for interrupting here but I'm maybe catching the same cross-purpose here.  Maybe I'm not hearing the words right.
     I believe Ms. Chaplin was referring to the interconnection from Vector into the Courtright station.  Were you?
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.
     MR. SIMPSON:  My apologies.  I thought you meant the original Vector line, Bcf a day into Dawn.  I'm sorry.  My apologies.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.
     MR. SIMPSON:  The connection into the Sarnia market was to reinforce and provide security of supply into the Sarnia area.  That did not have any connotations of 

ex-franchise customers in mind.  
     MS. CHAPLIN:  But to the extent that it is part of your integrated system, it is also, if perhaps indirectly, of benefit, of perhaps wider benefit to ex-franchise customers as well?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Perhaps.  I've not thought of it along those lines.  I simply had security of supply in Sarnia in mind.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Another area, I just would like to cover off, and I think this pertains to you, Mr. Dent.
     You've described in the context of negotiating T1 interruptible rates that in a sense what I think you've described - correct me if I'm wrong - is Union balances individual characteristics, but in the context of ensuring overall fairness.
     Would that be an accurate summation?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  The overall fairness is important.  I think at the end of the day, the individual rate doesn't have to be the same.  Again, those unique factors of a particular company come into play.
     For example, a customer like GEC that would be our largest customer on our system, at the end of the day, I would expect that on a unitized basis at relatively reasonable load factors, they would be the lowest customers on our system.  So again there is an individual element of it but there is also an element of fairness with respect to treating all customers in an equitable and reasonable way.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  In the first instance -- there's two questions.  The first one, the customer's perspective, how do they -- how can they judge that you're doing that balancing in an appropriate way?
     MR. DENT:  Well, I think at the end of the day, our track record is fairly good that customers do not have many complaints about the negotiations and arrangements they come to, that they arrive at with Union.  So we have a satisfied customer base.
     I'm not sure there is a lot of sharing among customers, but our customers may chat.  So there may be some of that informally happening.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  So your position is because people have not complained, that that is evidence that Union is discharging its obligation to be non-discriminatory, that it's doing that because people haven't complained.
     MR. DENT:  Well, I think that is one aspect of it.  The other aspect of it is our commitment to conduct those negotiations with our customers in that way, to apply those postage-stamp elements to our negotiations with our customers.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  But to the extent a customer doesn't have the same information that you have, in terms of what other interruptible customers are paying, a customer is not in a position to have that same information and judge, Well, to what extent am I similar and to what extent am I different?  

How would they be in a position to come to a conclusion one way or another, as to whether or not you were doing -- you were using, exercising your judgment in an appropriate way?
     MR. DENT:  I think there is a large element of trust between Union and its customers, and customers do trust our integrity in dealing with them.  So I think that would be the key element.
     As far as anything postage, say compare A to B, certainly that wouldn't be available, but there is a high level of trust between us and our customers.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Ms. Chaplin, being the regulatory person on the panel, the negotiations are always conducted with an eye to the fact that we may have to defend those negotiations before the Board, and to the fact that the customers have the right to come to the Board.  So Mr. Dent may not take that into account directly, but I definitely do when we ask -- when he asks me if something is appropriate.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Chaplin.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  I just have one.  I recognize there is a related undertaking on this, related to competition and I believe the undertaking was to supply factors that are -- underpin what you pull into play when applying the competition, as one of the overriding principles or one of the things you consider in negotiating a rate.  But it had been mentioned, I think by Mr. Dent and Mr. Kitchen, that in the context of the competition that you're looking at competitive fuels; is that correct?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, that is correct.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  Could you give me a couple of examples of a real situation where you would be contemplating that you would be in competition with other fuel sources.
     MR. DENT:  Well, we have a number of customers, I suppose, in the Leamington area that have the ability to switch from natural gas to basically oil or an oil distillate.  And there's been some erosion of our market because of that.
     So we would be very concerned in the agricultural market with the fuel switching, for example.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  And I suppose the larger picture, if you are to lose out on those negotiations or whatever you're offering isn't accepted and they do choose another fuel, it is back to the pooling principle of other customers going to pick up any loss that you have through a rate-setting process?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  That's correct, from the point of view of a lost load, that's a lost benefit for the entire system and that that can occur.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  When we're talking competitive fuels then, is there any difference between competitive fuels of other physical fuel types or competitive fuel in that someone else is supplying the same fuel, in that someone else is supplying the molecules of natural gas?  Is that the same end result that you are concerned with in the competition, that other fuel sources include other peoples' supply of natural gas, the same end result you would be concerned with?
     MR. DENT:  As long as natural gas was burned by the customer, the meter spun, whether it came from company A or company B, there would be no impact.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  Whether or not it came through your system or not?
     MR. DENT:  Oh, if it came through our system, absolutely that would have an impact.  If it didn't come through our system, our system wasn't metered by us, that's just as if it didn't occur.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  That's all I have.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.  

Gentlemen, just one question.  I guess I'm looking at you, Mr. Simpson.
     There was some exchange a few minutes ago about what conclusions should this panel draw from the discussion today, the discussion of you, panel.
     You talked about the options that have been presented by GEC to the Board, that they're not costed right; they don't -- you know, the costs are different?  They're not what they think or expect; it would be higher.
     But also I sense from your testimony today that some of the options are not physically possible or they're not physically there, or if it could be possible, it will take some money, some investigation, some money.
     So first of all, am I right so far, that some of the options that they presented to the Board, they're probably of higher cost than they think.  Secondly, some of them don't even exist.  And it would take time and additional money to make those possible.  Is this what I am to draw from your testimony today?
     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, sir.  And I would just add a third point.  So your point was costs may be higher, services mentioned might not be available.  And third, costs that weren't included, which is kind of a corollary to your first point.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And Mr. Moran said in his refined way - it's not my refined way - why do you care?  Why does Union care?  If they want to do it themselves, why does Union Gas care?


Of course I will ask you later, should the Board care?


MR. SIMPSON:  My impression was that it was an anchor point within their application, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  The cost consideration?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  What about the physical considerations?  They didn't tell us -- they didn't tell us that, This is how we're going to connect.  This is exactly how we're going to operate our system.  


They haven't told us any specific way.  They're talking about options.  So are you bringing some of those options into question?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm simply bringing some of the costs of those options into question.


MR. VLAHOS:  But not the physical characteristics or the physical operation of those options?


MR. SIMPSON:  None other than the ones that I have removed from being available.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right, which leaves a bunch of other options?


MR. SIMPSON:  A few.


MR. VLAHOS:  A few, all right.


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Chair, just to add to Mr. Simpson's comments, if I may, one of the considerations that we feel is important is whether or not the bypass is credible, and there's two aspects to credibility and we put those in the evidence.


The one aspect is, Can they own, operate, finance the pipeline?  Do they have that ability?  That's been laid out very clearly in Board decisions.  


The other issue of credibility is, Can they do what they say they're going to do?  And I think that, to some extent, is what section 3 of our evidence dealt with.  To say that this is the service you're going to contract for or this is how it's going to work is different from whether or not that will actually work.


And so from our point of view, that goes to the issue of credibility, as well.


MR. VLAHOS:  Again, Mr. Kitchen, I guess let's discuss what I was trying with Mr. Simpson.  Are they going to be able to do what they think they can do?  Is it, again, from a cost perspective or from a physical perspective, which eventually I guess physical would also work into cost.  But I'm worried from a do-ability, from a physical sense, first of all.  Can they survive without Union Gas?


MR. SIMPSON:  There's been a lot of discussion about the services that remain as an option.  The one that we didn't talk much about is, When is gas -- if it's not available on a back-haul basis, as we've discussed, when is it available on a forward-haul basis?  And there's been days when it is not.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  We're going back now to discussing the options.  I guess my question is:  You are questioning the physical capability of the connections that they are thinking of, aren't you?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I am.


MR. VLAHOS:  Some of them, not all of them?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Generally, you're questioning the costs of those options?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think when I -- I think it is really both, sir.  Physically, when the volume is less than theirs, and then ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  But it is possible for GEC to continue with its plan and construct and operate perhaps at a higher cost, you're suggesting.  Maybe not take advantage of some of the options they think they can, but, under certain options, they can build and operate perhaps at a higher cost?


MR. SIMPSON:  Well, that's possible.  I don't think we know.  There haven't been firm contracts that have been brought forward, even on a conditional basis.


So to assume that that is, without a doubt, available and it's just a matter of cost, I don't think that they've established that.


MR. VLAHOS:  So what do we need?  More?


MR. SIMPSON:  If the concern of the Board is can they secure firm service on Vector, at whatever cost that may be, I would think they would at least need to see some demonstration of a contract, a conditional contract, the ability for some of the parties that they've been dealing with to represent that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And that goes to the criterion of, which Mr. Kitchen has mentioned, that they have to demonstrate credibility and they have not done so, because they have not given us all of that information?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Those are the Board's questions.


Any re-direct, Mr. Cameron?


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. CAMERON:

MR. CAMERON:  I have one brief question in re-direct.


I'm looking at Exhibit 2.2, the schematic, as I ask the question.  I don't know if it is necessary for anyone else to.  But, gentlemen, you mentioned that one of the reasons that Union built its Vector interconnect at the Courtright station was to accommodate future growth in the Sarnia area.


And I think, Mr. Kitchen, it was you that mentioned that if GEC isn't attached to this ‑‑ to the Union system in the manner described in the schematic at Exhibit 2.2, that that Union system would be used less efficiently.


My question is this:  If Union were to construct the facilities for which application is made in this proceeding, to serve the GEC station, would any other facilities, compression or looping or anything else, be required to serve the GEC plant?  Anything other than the 12-inch line?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  That's my only re‑examination.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.


This panel is excused, with our thanks.


I see it is 4 o'clock now.  What's the plan?  I heard some rumours about switching panel 4 with ‑‑


MS. LEA:  I think that that may have been conditional on the idea that we might have some time left over today, and we don't.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, don't run now.  How much time do you need?


MS. LEA:  Unfortunately, I don't know for sure.  It is not my witness.  Can I ask what the plan is now, gentlemen?  If we presume that we're starting up again on Monday, is it preferred that we start with Union's fourth panel or that we go to the Society's panel?


MR. MANNING:  I know that Mr. ‑‑ thank you for that.  I thought that Mr. Kellway has an appointment on Monday morning at 9:30, which he was going to rearrange in anticipation of it holding over, and then changed it back when we thought he might appear this afternoon.


So things are ‑‑ it is a little bit of a moveable feast.  I suppose that if we think panel 4 on Monday morning will go on for a little while, then I would ask that Mr. Kellway could be given a firmer time when he could come along on Monday.


MS. LEA:  What time ‑‑


MR. MANNING:  I think that -- forgive me.


MS. LEA:  I was just wondering what time he thought he could arrive and keep his appointment?


MR. MANNING:  11:30, if that doesn't envisage a possible gap.


MR. VLAHOS:  His commitment is in the morning?  I'm sorry, I cannot hear you very well.  His commitment is in the morning or afternoon?


MR. MANNING:  In the morning, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  It's in the morning.  Okay, so if that is the case, then I guess we should not change from the original plan.  We should go through with panel 4, and then have your witness at the end.


MR. MANNING:  That sounds correct, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  The only ‑‑ can counsel give me some idea as to how much time we may need, in total, with the Society's witness.


MS. LEA:  How much in‑chief is there?


MR. MANNING:  Sorry?


MS. LEA:  How much time?


MR. MANNING:  Relatively little.  I'm not making an opening statement.  If you recall, I'm limited just to taking Mr. Kellway through the tabs.


MS. LEA:  I understand the Board needs to hear an argument as to what documents might be appropriate for him to refer to?


MR. MANNING:  As a preliminary matter, which I understand Mr. Cameron agrees with, but Mr. Moran doesn't.  So that will be, I would have thought, a ten-minute discussion, and then it would be a question of what cross there might be from parties.  I understand there is relatively little.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Lokan, how long do you plan to be?


MR. LOKAN:  I would be just a few minutes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just a few minutes.  Mr. Moran?


MR. MORAN:  Well, Mr. Chair, I have an objection to Mr. Kellway's qualifications to give the evidence as I understand he is here to give.  So I guess based on your ruling on that, I either have no questions or very few.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Let's take one scenario, okay.  How much questions would you have, should the ‑‑ should he be admitted as testifying?


MR. MORAN:  Fifteen minutes or less.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  I don't anticipate having either argument or questions for the witness.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, I guess -- the Board is prepared to sit a little longer today, if it is within a matter of half hour to 45 minutes, which seems doable.
     MS. LEA:  I'm not available for that length of time, sir.  I'm sorry we didn't discuss that before.  You can certainly proceed without me.
     MR. VLAHOS:  It's all in the public interest.
     MS. LEA:  You can proceed without me.  I'm okay with that, but I will have to leave the room at 4:30.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Do you have questions?
     MS. LEA:  I have a few questions, yes, depending again on what the witness says.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Can we try it that way.  Can we bring the witness up and we can excuse Ms. Lea at 4:30.  She will have to go first with her questions.
     MS. LEA:  I'm just providing the panel with the documents, Mr. Manning.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.
     MS. LEA:  Mr. Kellway, do you want to take the stand, please.
     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if --
     MS. LEA:  We're not on air.     

MR. WARREN:  I wonder if those of us who don't have any questions of this panel might be excused?
     MR. VLAHOS:  Certainly, Mr. Warren.  Thank you for being here today.
     Mr. Manning, you may want to speak to the matter that you have before we deal with the witness, in terms of swearing him in.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MANNING:
     MR. MANNING:  Yes, indeed.  Thank you, indeed.  Thank you, Mr. Chair and panel members for accommodating -- thank you, Mr. Cameron.  I'm okay here.  There's too much movement.
     There are three documents which I believe Ms. Lea has supplied to you, which I was hoping to introduce.  I was hoping that they would prove to be helpful and, indeed, uncontroversial.
     The first of those documents is a correct -- a minor correction of a statutory reference in the evidence in tab 3 of the SEP intervenor evidence.  There's an exhibit which just sets that out, and Mr. Kellway would speak to that so the Board at least has an accurate reference before it.
     The second document is a page from the website of the Michigan government, and that is just evidencing something in the letter, in tab 3 of the SEP intervenor evidence, namely the State of Michigan non-attainment air quality levels, and that's on a government website and is a publicly-available document.
     And the last thing, which may seem slightly odd but I was hoping it, again, would prove helpful in clarification, is an extract from the submissions which the Society made in response to the GEC application to strike out all of its evidence, which was granted in part by the Board. 
     It's section 3 of that, cumulative assessment.  And the reason I thought it would be useful was, in fact, triggered by something Mr. Moran himself had said when contesting earlier in the week the -- whether Mr. Kellway should appear as a witness.  It was that he had no will say statement.
     Having considered the matter afterward, I realized that, in effect, all of the issues which were relevant to cumulative assessments, which is the one issue on which the Board has indicated that it will turn its mind out of the matters we put forward, are contained in this part 3, and that it will be a very convenient form of reference.  It is a document which is already on the record, and furthermore, it is a document which the parties, meaning the applicants, have had an opportunity to make their own submission on in advance.  So it is not as though we're introducing a new document which the parties have not seen and on which they have not been able to comment.
     So those are my suggestions.  I understand that Mr. Cameron has no problem with them, but Mr. Moran has indicated that he has a concern, which I believe relates to Mr. Kellway's qualifications to give evidence on these matters.  I assume that is not a restatement of his attempt to block Mr. Kellway from appearing.  And in brief discussion with Mr. Moran just now, he suggested, and I think it is sensible, that we swear in Mr. Kellway, we deal with his qualifications, and then Mr. Moran would have the opportunity to question him on those before proceeding further, so that you could have the opportunity to rule on this point.  Thank you.  

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran.
     MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  At the time that we were speaking to this matter earlier this week, I did not have a CV for Mr. Kellway.  I now have one.  And as I indicated to Mr. Manning, I did have an objection with respect to his qualifications in being able to speak to, essentially, environmental matters as set out in the documents that have been filed by SEP.  I guess that would extend to the document from the Michigan government website that Mr. Manning wants to file as well, which deals with air emission issues in Michigan.
     So what I would suggest, as Mr. Manning has suggested, perhaps Mr. Manning could be permitted to attempt to qualify Mr. Kellway.  I can ask some questions with respect to his qualifications, and then we can make some submissions and you will have an opportunity to decide whether, in fact, Mr. Kellway is qualified to give the evidence that he proposes to give.
     MR. MANNING:  Sir, forgive me interrupting.  That is a slightly different position than I understood from Mr. Moran.
     I thought Mr. Moran was only raising these issues on the additional documents that I was asking to be admitted.
     What he has just said is he wants to revisit the entire ability of Mr. Kellway to speak as to the evidence that has already been filed.  With great respect, that has already been dealt with earlier in the week.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Where has it been dealt with, Mr. Manning?
     MR. MANNING:  I thought we dealt with it when there was an application to prevent Mr. Kellway from being a witness.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, I don't recall there was such an objection.  I recall the filing of certain material to be categorized as evidence.  Is this what you're referring to, the motion and the decision on the motion?
     MR. MANNING:  No.  It was a --
     [The Board confers]
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, as you will --
     [The Board confers]
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, Mr. Manning.  You may want to refresh my memory and our memories as to what you're referring to.
     MR. MANNING:  Yes, sir.  With pleasure.  It was suggested that Mr. Kellway should not appear, and the conclusion to that, to jump straight to it, was that I would be -- Mr. Kellway could appear.  He would be sworn in.  We would not be able to make an opening statement.  That I would be able to take Mr. Kellway through the tabs of evidence, and presumably his CV, and then the matter would be left to cross‑examination, and that was your order on that at the time.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Manning, sorry to interrupt you.  Now I'm putting it into perspective.  You're talking about during the hearing?


MR. MANNING:  Yes, indeed.


MR. VLAHOS:  I was trying to search back days ago as to -- and there may be a different process for that.  It wasn't.


So you have taken our -- I guess our decision on the process going forward as qualifying your witness as an expert witness?


MR. MANNING:  No.  I haven't said he is an expert witness.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, that we have qualified the witness to speak to those matters?


MR. MANNING:  Yes, indeed.


MR. VLAHOS:  You feel that Mr. Moran has no right, or anybody else, to raise concerns about the gentleman's ability to speak to those matters?


MR. MANNING:  I think that is right.  I think his qualifications may go as to weight of evidence, and that will be a matter for the Board, and indeed Mr. Moran is quite capable of cross‑examining.


MR. VLAHOS:  Has Mr. Moran had Mr. Kellway's CV or did the Board have his CV at that time?


MR. MORAN:  No, Mr. Chair.  It was delivered a couple of days later, after that matter was first raised with you.


MR. MANNING:  I think that is correct, sir.


[The Board confers]


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, I'm just trying to see if I can shortcut things here.  


We're looking at Mr. Kellway's CV.  Without having to go through the argument of whether he qualifies as an expert or not, would you accept him as a policy witness for the organization he's working in?


MR. MORAN:  Well, Mr. Chair, the documents that he is here to speak to are all environmental documents.  Exhibit 3 in the SEP evidence is a letter to Mr. O'Mara, director of Environmental Assessment Approvals Branch, regarding their bump‑up request on the environmental assessment carried out on the power station and the associated transmission line.


And tab number 4 is excerpts from the Environmental Review Report that was filed in that EA process and, as I understand it, sets out some information about ambient air quality in the area that the plant is being proposed.


And tab number 7 is a paper that is entitled "Canada‑Wide Standards For Particulate Matter, PM, and Ozone".  Now you have a website excerpt that deals with air emission issues in Michigan.


 So if Mr. Kellway is the person who is here to speak to air quality issues with respect to the power plant, then the fact that he's a staff specialist, policy, doesn't necessarily qualify him to speak to those issues, given his credentials.


He has a bachelor of arts in political studies and he has a masters of industrial relations, and then if you look at the occupations that he has held since then, there is nothing on his résumé that appears to qualify him as a person who can speak to air emission matters, in terms of the documents that he is supposed to be speaking to.


MS. LEA:  Perhaps it would be of assistance if Mr. Manning indicated exactly what he proposes to qualify Mr. Kellway as.


MR. MANNING:  Yes, I can certainly speak as to that.


What I had proposed to do was to take Mr. Kellway through certain elements of his CV and speak precisely to his experience, and although he is not sworn in yet, I will speak briefly to that.


The first two documents in the SEP's evidence, which have been excluded ‑‑ so I'm not seeking to go to the content of those in any way, but include a document prepared by the Society of Energy Professionals on Ontario's supply mix into the future, and that was prepared originally by Mr. Kellway and involves study of and comparison of alternative fuel sources and their effects on the environment.


So whilst he's not a scientist, he certainly, in policy terms, has made a detailed study and been a long-time advocate on these issues.


So his involvement is entirely appropriate.  It may be a question of the weight to be placed on his evidence as to how far that should be taken, and Mr. Moran will have the opportunity to do that, but the idea that he should not be allowed to appear in connection with what remains of the SEP's evidence can't be right.


There is another issue.  I mean, although it is correct that Mr. Moran saw Mr. Kellway's CV after this discussion took place, he has had, from then until now, to suggest to me that he was going to oppose Mr. Kellway's appearance again.  To allow Mr. Kellway to come along for most of today and only make this known at this final moment is a surprise to me.  I'm sure it is a surprise to Mr. Kellway, and not the manner in which I would have thought Mr. Kellway should be treated.


If this were going to be an issue, then it should have been flagged pretty shortly after Mr. Moran had seen the CV.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cameron, do you have anything to add?


MR. CAMERON:  No, I don't.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, just so it is clear, I'm not objecting to Mr. Kellway's appearance here, simply to his qualifications to speak to certain issues, and that's all.


I did advise Mr. Manning yesterday that I was going to object to the qualifications.  Unfortunately, we didn't reach Mr. Kellway yesterday, but the process for doing so requires him to be here, because one has to ask him questions, and ‑‑


MR. MANNING:  Forgive me, Mr. Moran ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, why don't we just go ahead and accept the witness, swear him in, and then we can take it from there as to what kinds of questions that may come up?  Mr. Moran will object, I'm sure, when he thinks it's appropriate, and then we'll have to rule on those things.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, Mr. Kellway, could you please come forward?


SOCIETY OF ENERGY PROFESSIONALS PANEL 1:


Matthew Kellway; Sworn

MR. MANNING:  May I proceed, sir?


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, yes.


EXAMINATION BY MR. MANNING:

MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  Mr. Kellway, you've heard much of this discussion, so you can see the sensitivity of the context in which your evidence is given.


So I think the first thing I should do is go to your CV, of which Mr. Moran has my copy.  I'm not going to go through the whole of your CV, Mr. Kellway, but I will touch on some salient points.


You hold a B.A. in political studies from Queen's University; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  I do.


MR. MANNING:  You have a Masters degree in industrial relations from the University of Toronto?


MR. KELLWAY:  I do.


MR. MANNING:  You were at one point, I see, an economist wit the office of economic policy at the Ministry of Finance?


MR. KELLWAY:  I was.


MR. MANNING:  And you have been an officer of the Society of Energy Professionals and staff specialist on policy since 1997?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, my role with the Society has changed over the years.


MR. MANNING:  Could you clarify that?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.  I've been staff specialist, policy, since ‑‑ well, for almost two years.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  I just want to touch on what you do in the course of your policy work, and specifically on issues relating to fuel sources for energy supply, and further particular, the detail that you get into on air quality issues and socioeconomic issues arising from that.  Could you just give some idea of what you have dealt with in the work you have done professionally within the SEP?


MR. KELLWAY:  Certainly.  I think it is helpful for the panel to know that the Society of Energy Professionals represents almost 6500 professional and supervisory employees in the electricity industry and related industries.
     And amongst our membership, we have what I think people in this room would accept as experts on a broad range of matters related to the electricity industry, from environmental matters through to transmission issues, distribution issues and generation issues and a lot of the science work if not all of the science that goes behind the various forms of generation.
     My role for the Society is one of policy formulation on industry matters, in part, at least.  And that involves an effort to essentially synthesize the expertise of our membership on these matters, and in doing so, I need to arrive at at least an adequate understanding of the issues myself in order to formulate Society policy on matters related to different forms of generation; to the emergence of the market in the industry; to environmental impacts of different forms of generation, et cetera.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  And it's right to say in doing that, that you have to consider a good amount of scientific or semi-scientific materials and literature in understanding the, for example, air quality and 

socioeconomic impacts?
     MR. KELLWAY:  That is true.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  You're not a scientist, though, are you?
     MR. KELLWAY:  I am not.
     MR. MANNING:  Right.  So we're not holding you out as a scientist expert in the science of air quality, but we are holding you out as somebody who has been thoroughly involved in the policy aspects and making submissions to various government bodies in your role as an officer of the Society of Energy Professionals on those issues.
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  

I would like to turn now to the evidence, and I believe that you have that.  I'm going to take you through all of the tabs even though some of them have been excluded, just so that you're clear of the constraints as to what you're speaking to and to what you're not.
     Tab 1, Ontario supply mix into the future, proposals from the Society of Energy Professionals in 2005, that was a document, I think, that you prepared and you're aware that that's been excluded by the Board from our evidence?
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  Tab 2, submissions regarding the OPA procurement process submitted by the Society in 2005, also I believe prepared by you and also, you understand, that that's been excluded.
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.
     MR. MANNING:  Excuse me.  Thank you.  Tab 3, this is the bump-up request, as it is colloquially known, a letter to Mr. O'Mara, the Director of Environmental Assessment Approvals Branch at the MOE.  This is regarding the GEC environmental assessment and an elevation request, which as we've heard, has been refused, and there are a few requests in with the Minister of the Environment which may or may not have been resolved today.  So we have discussed that.  But you're familiar with that.
     And that is still in.  And so may I assume that you adopt that as your evidence?
     MR. KELLWAY:  I do, subject to the correction that I think has been circulated.

MR. MANNING:  That was my next question:  Are there any changes?  So would you like to deal with that?
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.  The correct reference on page 4 of 9 under the heading "USEPA non-attainment zone," should be "Designated non-attainment of the US national ambient air quality standards for 8 hour ozone and PM 2.5 under the Michigan air pollution control rules."
     In place of "Designated non-attainment under 40 CFR part 81 (Federal Register, January 5th, 2005, Volume 770, number 3)."
     MR. MANNING:  I suspect there should be a closed quote there, but thank you.
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.
     MR. MANNING:  I would ask that that is admitted as an exhibit.
     MS. LEA:  Do you have extra copies, Mr. Manning?
     MR. MANNING:  Yes, I have several extra copies.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That was written in the record, Mr. Manning, the changes?  Are you seeking to put an exhibit number to what was just read on the record?
     MR. MANNING:  This is for the amendment to tab 3, sir.  It's a revision just to correct a reference within it.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Which was read into the record right now, was it?
     MR. MANNING:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  We don't need an exhibit number then.
     MR. MANNING:  That's fine.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.
     MR. MANNING:  There is another document which is this website page of the Michigan government website.  And as mentioned earlier, I have asked that that is also admitted as an exhibit.  And that just contains some information to support the US non-attainment statement, which is contained also in the letter to Mr. O'Mara in tab 3.  So that, I do think, will need an exhibit number.
     Then moving on, Mr. Kellway.  In tab 4, we have excerpts from the Greenfield Energy Centre LP, environmental review report.  And although you didn't prepare that, to the extent that it's relevant to your evidence and you've referred to it, do you adopt that as your evidence?
     MR. KELLWAY:  I do.
     MR. MANNING:  Tab 5, we have “Canadian Energy Research Institute Levelized Unit Electricity Cost Comparison and Alternate Baseload Generation in Ontario report in 2004.”      That's a document that's been excluded.
     In tab 6, we have the Board's own guidelines, “Environmental guidelines for the location, construction and operation of hydrocarbon pipelines.”
     Again, not prepared by you.  There is a question as to whether that is a document on the record.  But to the extent that the SEP has lodged it and to the extent it is relevant to your evidence, do you adopt it?
     MR. KELLWAY:  I do.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  Lastly, tab 7, “Canadian Council of Ministries of the Environment, Canada-wide Standards for Particulate Matter and Ozone in 2000.”
     Again, referable back to the information in tab 3, the letter to the director.  So far as relevant to your evidence, do you adopt it?
     MR. KELLWAY:  I do.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  That's everything.  I've not asked to make an opening statement or take Mr. Kellway through any of the documentation so I leave the matter to cross-examination.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.  

Ms. Lea, I see you have to depart.
     MS. LEA:  I think I can ask the questions that I need in a very few minutes. 

MR. VLAHOS:  I'm quite prepared to bring the witness back tomorrow.  I know this was a bit of a surprise to all.
     MS. LEA:  I appreciate that very much, sir.  But I have very few questions and I think it can be dealt with relatively expeditiously, of course that is what they all say.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, is that okay?
     MS. LEA:  None of my questions relate to any scientific expertise of the witness.
     MR. VLAHOS:  There are no matters you're going to bring up before Ms. Lea asks questions, are there?
     MR. MORAN:  No, Mr. Chair.  

As I've been sitting here listening to Mr. Manning, at this point, with respect to the qualifications, let's just get through this, we can argue it all at one time and deal with it in that fashion if it will make it go faster.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Lea.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA: 
     MS. LEA:  Thank you. 

Mr. Kellway, all of my questions relate to what appears at tab 3 of the Society's evidence.  And that is, I believe -- this is a letter to the Director of the Environmental Assessment and Approvals Branch of the Ministry of the Environment of Ontario; is that right, sir?
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  You have some knowledge of the contents of this letter?
     MR. KELLWAY:  I do.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I gather that this letter is a request for a recommendation to the Minister of the Environment that the GEC project, the whole project, be elevated to an individual environmental assessment; is that correct?
     MR. KELLWAY:  It is.
     MS. LEA:  When this letter refers to the GEC project, that's the plant and anything attached to it, am I right?  The generating station as well as the pipeline that we're here discussing?
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.  From the perspective of the Society, these are indistinguishable.
     MS. LEA:  I understand your position, sir.  I just want to make sure exactly what this letter is referring to.  Can you just clarify what this letter is referring to?
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.  The letter itself refers to the plant itself, the natural gas-fired generating plant.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, this is the request that we heard a little bit about earlier today that has gone to the Minister for appeal or a request for a bump‑up, if I can use the colloquial term, and we may have some information on that shortly; is that correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Actually, Mr. Chair, I think I can confirm now that the minister has denied the bump‑up request and I will be filing the statement of completion.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Moran, you've reminded me.  Before you leave today, you need to file those undertakings.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  I didn't deal with that when I came in because of another document emergency.


Okay.  So we're talking about the same process, sir, are we?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  And would that process have considered the effects on the air shed of the GEC power station?


MR. KELLWAY:  I think ‑‑ would the environmental review process that has been undertaken?


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. KELLWAY:  Certainly that was relevant to the process, yes.


MS. LEA:  Certainly it was the position of the Society that that process should take account of these effects?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, it is.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  It's indicated in this letter also that you have requested that the provincial Minister of Energy conduct an environmental assessment of the government's coal replacement plan; is that correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, it is.


MS. LEA:  What's the status of that request?


MR. KELLWAY:  We have not received a response from the Minister of Environment on that request, as of yet.


The original request went to both the Minister of Energy and the Premier.  The Premier kicked it over to the Minister of Energy, who subsequently kicked it over to the Minister of Environment, and we are awaiting a response from that Minister now.


MS. LEA:  So that's still with the Ministry of Environment at this point?


MR. KELLWAY:  It is.


MS. LEA:  You indicate also in this letter that you have requested that the federal Minister of the Environment conduct a joint panel review of the GEC project; am I correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Now, in the Society's requests and interventions into these processes, have any of the effects of the GEC project that you're asking this Board to consider not been raised in the discussions with these -- in these other processes?


MR. KELLWAY:  I think that it's correct to say that they have all been raised through other processes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  I wonder if you could turn to page 3 of that letter, page 3 of 9.  The second paragraph or perhaps the first complete paragraph is entitled "Proper Forum".


You indicate there -- or, rather, the letter indicates here that the only proper forum for consideration of all of the environmental impacts of the GEC project is an individual environmental assessment.


Is it still your view that that is the most appropriate forum in which this should take place?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, I think it is most appropriate that some regulatory or government body take account of alternatives to the GEC proposal, and I take it that it is the environmental assessment process that is best able or perhaps only able to take account of alternative means of generating that electricity or perhaps of conserving.


MR. MANNING:  If it assists Board counsel, the individual ‑-


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I'm happy with the witness's answer, Mr. Manning.  Thanks.  Just to finish that line, I think that I just wanted to establish -‑ now I've forgotten.  Sorry.


Yes.  When you refer to the project, again you're talking about the power plant, not merely the pipeline?  I know you say they're indistinguishable, but I want to make sure you're including it all.


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, I am including it all.  And I would say, given Mr. Moran's news about the Minister's refusal to bump up the project, that my perspective on the role of this Board's review of these issues becomes all the more important.


Someone, somewhere has to take account of the environmental impacts of the GEC proposal, and it would appear, if Mr. Moran's news is correct, that the Minister of Environment is declining to do so in the proper way, and it's my thought and hope that this panel will do that.


MS. LEA:  By that, you mean including alternatives to ‑‑ alternatives to the power station?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, I'm not sure that this panel can.  Others, including our counsel, will know better than I do about jurisdictional matters, but it is my understanding that this panel has, within its jurisdiction, consideration of cumulative effects of this proposal, the pipeline proposal, and those are pretty much indistinguishable from the plant itself.  I'm hoping that those will be given proper consideration by this panel.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I'm sorry, Mr. Manning, to interrupt you.  It's just at this end of the day, if I don't finish a thought, I completely lose it.  What were you trying to tell me?


MR. MANNING:  I think you clarified it yourself, which is, indeed, that the individual assessment being requested was a comparison of needs and alternatives which the screening process, which has taken place to date, does not do.  So you have drawn that out, I think, in your cross‑examination.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions of this witness.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  I will excuse myself now, if that is acceptable.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, it is.  Mr. Lokan?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. LOKAN:

MR. LOKAN:  This letter is dated July 8, 2005.  I understand this is the original request to the Environmental Assessment and Approvals branch, Mr. O'Mara?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, it was.


MR. LOKAN:  That request was denied and that the review process to the Minister followed that?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, it did.


MR. LOKAN:  And that there is a subsequent set of submissions by the Society in mid October to the Minister asking for the Minister to review that decision?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, there was.


MR. LOKAN:  I understand from Mr. Moran that it's that subsequent step that has just, if he's correct, been denied as of today?


MR. KELLWAY:  That's my understanding, as well.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  I would like to ask that the ‑‑ this will be my last question ‑‑ that the record be completed by the Society producing those subsequent submissions for the Board.  Would it be possible to obtain those for the Board?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, it would.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, it is late in the day, Mr. Lokan.  The latest submissions by the Society which have not been acted upon?


MR. LOKAN:  The ones which have been most recently turned down, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Have been turned down.  We don't have those here?


MR. LOKAN:  We have Walpole Island's submissions, which were given in response to an interrogatory, but we don't have the Society's.  They would be dated October 15, 19, something in that area.  It's those that, as I understand it, the Minister was specifically acting upon when she denied the request, if Mr. Moran is correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Any objections by anyone?


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think in the motion you already heard my position with respect to the original tab 3, and it remains unchanged.


[The Board confers]


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Lokan, what turns on it if we have them or don't have them?


MR. LOKAN:  I think we're going to hear from various parties, including Mr. Moran, some argument and submissions about what exactly the Minister has decided and the submissions of that ‑‑ and the significance of that.  In these circumstances, I would suggest it's very helpful to the Board to know what was before the Minister, and what the Minister said "no" to.


Then it will be easier for the Board, from the Board's point of view, to put into context the discussion about cumulative effects and what the Board should or should not be looking at.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Why don't you go ahead and submit them or someone can submit them for the record?


MR. MANNING:  We will submit them, sir.  Thank you.


MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, just following up on that, if they're going to file their submission, given the Minister's decision, they will also have received a letter from the Minister indicating what her decision is.  So for completeness of the record, I would suggest that PW and SEP file that response, as well.


MR. MANNING:  I'm not aware we've received one as yet, but, yes, if we have that, we would ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  If there is a response from the Minister, would you please file that?


MR. MANNING:  Yes, of course.  Yes, indeed, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  If not ‑‑ sorry.  You're going to file -- are you going to file today the Minister's letter?


MR. MORAN:  No, I'm not.  What I'm filing is the statement of completion.  The way the process works, if the Minister determines that it's not necessary for an environmental assessment to be carried out, then the Greenfield power station and transmission station have fully qualified for that requirement, and the proponent then issues a statement of completion and files that with the Ministry, which then is a signal to the Ministry the EA process is over now and it's open for provincial agencies to issue other permits.


MR. VLAHOS:  I just wasn't sure where that communication goes.  Does it go to the -- you know, some public file?  Does it go to the ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  The statement of completion is filed with the Ministry, the Ministry of Environment.  It just indicates that the environmental assessment process is complete.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Okay.


MR. MORAN:  That's all it is.  And I have copies here.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Are you going to file those?


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  I had copies.  The Board Staff assisted me with that, but they are two pages and not stapled yet.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why don't you file them tomorrow, then?


MR. MORAN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Chaplin suggested, Mr. Manning, the undertaking to produce the documents should be given an undertaking.


MR. MANNING:  I'm happy to give an undertaking.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it will be U5.6.


UNDERTAKING NO. U5.6:  PRODUCTION OF SEP'S DOCUMENTS

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Now, with that, Mr. Lokan?


MR. LOKAN:  That completes my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Mr. Scully?


MR. SCULLY:  No questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland.


MS. NEWLAND:  No questions, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  No questions.  Mr. Moran?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN:

MR. MORAN:  Briefly, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Kellway, when I look at your CV, I see that you have a degree in political studies; is that correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  It is.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And so that's not a science degree, is it?


MR. KELLWAY:  It is not.


MR. MORAN:  No.  When I look at your CV, I see you have a masters in industrial relations?


MR. KELLWAY:  I do.


MR. MORAN:  Again, that is not a science degree?


MR. KELLWAY:  It is not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And you've held a number of positions, and just to speed it up, none of those positions have been positions where you had responsibility for carrying out scientific work; is that correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So you have no formal training in atmospheric science or air emissions or environmental science; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  I do not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And you have never carried out any scientific research of your own either, have you?


MR. KELLWAY:  I guess it depends what you mean by that, in my current ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  You haven't gone out into the field and measured things against a hypothesis, and then made conclusions with respect to your hypothesis in order to be able to publish results?


MR. KELLWAY:  No.  My research is limited to reading literature on these matters.


MR. MORAN:  So you read a lot?


MR. KELLWAY:  I do.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And you haven't published any scientific papers in any journals, have you?


MR. KELLWAY:  I have not.


MR. MORAN:  But you apparently have read some?


MR. KELLWAY:  I have.


MR. MORAN:  You've never been employed as a scientist, have you?


MR. KELLWAY:  I have not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So you're not here today to offer any expert opinion to this Board about the impact -- any environmental impact that the pipeline project might have on the environment; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  I am not here as an expert, no.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And, equally, you're not here to provide a scientific opinion on the environmental impact that the power station might have on the environment?


MR. KELLWAY:  Just an opinion, not a scientific one, I guess, because I'm not a scientist.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  Your lay opinion as a well‑read person?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And when I look at tab 4 of the evidence filed by SEP, I understand that this is an excerpt from an environmental report carried out by AMEC Consultants on behalf of Greenfield Energy; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And AMEC, as I understand it, is an environmental consulting firm?


MR. KELLWAY:  I think, in part it is, yes.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And they carried out a number of procedures to put together an environmental assessment to determine what the environmental impacts would be of the Greenfield Energy power station and associated transmission line; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  But not the pipeline?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well --


MR. MORAN:  Have you read their report?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.  I mean, it's -- as I said, I mean, it's a hydrocarbon line, in the terminology of the Board, and I think it's indistinguishable.  I mean, it's there to transport gas for some purpose.


MR. MORAN:  That wasn't what I was asking you, Mr. Kellway.  AMEC carried out an environmental review of the power station and the associated transmission line for the purposes of the electricity project's regulation; right?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  They did not carry out an environmental review of the pipeline, did they?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, here we have a difference, I guess.  I would suggest to you ‑ and this is why I am here, because these are indistinguishable things - the pipeline is there to carry natural gas through to a generating plant, and the cumulative effects, in part, in large part, are there through the use of the natural gas carried by the pipeline.


MR. MORAN:  AMEC did not carry out a review of the hydrocarbon line, did they?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, I think I've done my best to answer your question, Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  It's okay to say you don't know if you don't know the answer to the question.


MR. KELLWAY:  I have an answer to the question, Mr. Moran, and I have provided that answer.


MR. MORAN:  You read the report that AMEC produced?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  In that report, it's clear that they have reviewed the impacts of the power station and the impacts of the transmission line, but they have not reviewed the impacts of the hydrocarbon line; correct?


MR. MANNING:  I think that calls on the witness -- Mr. Chair, forgive me intervening, but it calls --


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Manning, I can't hear you.


MR. MANNING:  I will speak more directly into the microphone.  It calls on the witness to make an interpretation of what the effects of the pipeline are, which is going to be the subject of submissions to the Board.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Manning.  I'm sorry.  I'll tell you what I heard.


MR. MANNING:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  The AMEC report, was any research, any study, any recommendation with respect to the gas pipeline, which is an issue before this Board today -- I think that is how I heard the question.


Mr. Moran, am I wrong on this?


MR. MORAN:  No, you're correct, Mr. Chair.


MR. MANNING:  If it's worded in the way you just said it, that's fine.  I heard something slightly different from Mr. Moran.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Kellway, can you answer that?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, with due respect, I think I have.  I take it Mr. Moran is trying to ask me whether there is, for example, any analysis of perhaps the construction effect on the environment of the pipeline, and to that I would say "no".  If that's the question, then that would be the answer that I'm providing.


MR. MORAN:  What was studied in that report was the power station and its impacts, and the transmission line and its impacts; right?  That was the point of the AMEC study?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Now, you have an excerpt from the AMEC study, as I indicated, at tab 4 of your evidence.  As I understand it, this excerpt provides a description of the climate in the area of the proposed power station on the first page of the excerpt; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, it does.


MR. MORAN:  And on the second page, there's a table showing some meteorological data; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes. 


MR. MORAN:  You're not a meteorologist, are you?


MR. KELLWAY:  I'm not.


MR. MORAN:  You're not here to tell the Board about which way the winds are going to be blowing and what might be in those winds; right?


MR. KELLWAY:  I'm not, but I don't think one needs to be a meteorologist to do that, but I'm not here to do that.


MR. MORAN:  Then the bottom half of that page starts talking about air quality and over onto the next page, and it's a description of existing air quality in the Sarnia area; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  It is.


MR. MORAN:  And there's a table on the following page which shows some measured concentrations of selected pollutants?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Right?  And then the next part talks about the existing acoustical environment at the proposed project site; right?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes. 


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And then there is a table showing some results from some monitoring of the existing acoustical environment at the site; correct.


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  That's it?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And you've adopted this as your evidence? 
MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  So based on your evidence, I guess what we can tell from this is there seems to be some noise, but we don't know what the significance of those levels are, because obviously you're not a sound expert; right?


MR. KELLWAY:  I am not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  We can see that there's some selected pollutants have been measured at a number of monitoring stations at certain levels, but you're not in a position to tell the Board what that means in terms of the existing environment in Sarnia; right?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, I think I am.  I didn't take these measures, but I do understand that levels of fine particulate matter in the Sarnia area exceed the Canada‑wide standards, and the document that was put in from the department of Environment Quality from Michigan goes to the issue of the Sarnia ‑‑ sorry, St. Clair Township on the American side, being a non‑attainment zone, and that area being part of the same air shed as Sarnia, so ...

     MR. MORAN:  So you want to offer your opinion as to what all that means, despite the fact that you're not an air scientist?  I understood you weren't here as an expert to offer that kind could of opinion.  


MR. KELLWAY:  No, I'm not here as an expert, but I would suggest to you that one doesn't have to be an expert to read and understand literature put out by the Government of Ontario and the Government of Michigan here about air quality in these areas.


And what they say is that there are cumulative effects of burning natural gas in this air shed.


MR. MORAN:  I thought we were talking about the AMEC document at tab 3.  You're not here to interpret this data for the Board, because you're not an expert on how this data is put together.  You didn't do the modelling.  You don't know what it means.  All you see is the results; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  I'm not here to interpret this document.


MR. MORAN:  There is nobody here from AMEC who actually did the work and could explain it because they have the expertise.  There is nobody here from AMEC to explain what this means either; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Not that I'm ware of, no.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Now, the last tab, tab 7, is a document that was put out by the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.  It's entitled "Canada‑Wide Standards For Particulate Matter, PM, and Ozone".  You adopted this as your evidence; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes, I have.


MR. MORAN:  Were you involved in the preparation of this document?


MR. KELLWAY:  No, I wasn't.


MR. MORAN:  Did you work with any of the people who were involved in the preparation of this document?


MR. KELLWAY:  No, I did not.


MR. MORAN:  Do you have any understanding of what they did in order to prepare this document?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, I'm not sure what you mean by "any understanding".


MR. MORAN:  Let me put it this way.  Since you didn't work with any of the people who put this document together, you're not in a position to understand what they did, how they did it and why they did it, because you didn't work with them; right?


MR. KELLWAY:  I did not work with them.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  As I understand it, this is a paper that discusses Canada‑wide standards for particulate matter; correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  It is.


MR. MORAN:  Then as I understand it, you filed a -- something that you downloaded off of the Michigan government website?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And were you involved in any of the work that produced the results that are set out in that document?


MR. KELLWAY:  I was not.


MR. MORAN:  Did you talk to any of the people who did the work that produced the results that are in that document?


MR. KELLWAY:  I have not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So it is fair to say that you're in the position of a layperson who can read what it says, and, at the end of the day, what it says is there was some non‑attainment of something in Michigan; right?  That's what it all ends up to?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, I would like to think my understanding of it is a little more sophisticated than that.


MR. MORAN:  Fine.  Mr. Chair, those are all of my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Kellway, were you here yesterday in my discussion with Mr. Wesenger regarding the guidelines and what they mean, their applicability?


MR. KELLWAY:  No, I wasn't here.


MR. VLAHOS:  Have you read the transcript of yesterday?


MR. KELLWAY:  Sorry, I have not read the ‑‑ yesterday's transcript.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. KELLWAY:  I have, in part, but not the whole thing, so ...

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  You're a staff person of the Society of Energy Professionals.  That's an organization that I'm sure has certain missions, certain mandate.  Can you tell me how environmental issues fit into this?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, we have a broad interest, I guess, in some sense.  I guess there are arguments over what all of this means, but we do have a public interest as part of our union, and, as such, environmental matters are important to us.  Environmental matters are also intimately connected, as we know, with fuel choice and technology and the generation of electricity.  And as our members work in that industry, we have an interest.


MR. VLAHOS:  But public interest, you have to help me a bit more with it.  The public interest mandate is what?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, we don't have a public interest mandate.  It is just to suggest, sir, that our interests aren't narrowly confined to the labour relations interests of our union membership.  They are more broad than that, understanding that our members are also citizens of the province and breathers of the air of their communities, et cetera, et cetera, so ...

     MR. VLAHOS:  Some examples of activities of late that go beyond the employment considerations?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, we have a broad interest in industry‑related matters, particularly over the last ten years as the industry ‑‑ there's been lots of public policy discussion about the future of the industry, and there's been significant transformation in the industry, generally.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you for those answers.


MR. KELLWAY:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Those are the Board's questions.


Mr. Manning, any redirect?


MR. MANNING:  I have a few questions.  I will try to be brief.

Thanks to the Board for staying this very late hour.


MR. VLAHOS:  How long, Mr. Manning?


MR. MANNING:  Less than ten minutes, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  I will hold you to that, though.  We will hold you to ten minutes.


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. MANNING:

MR. MANNING:  That is entirely fair, sir.  Thank you.  Just to run through a few things, just to repeat what we said earlier - and Mr. Moran has gone to some lengths to draw out - you're not held out as being a scientist?


MR. KELLWAY:  No.


MR. MANNING:  Right.  The documents that Mr. Moran referred you to, let's just turn briefly to those.  The Greenfield Energy Centre Environmental Review Report, who was that prepared for?  I mean, it's correct -- I don't want to go into the detail itself.  It's self-evident it was for the Greenfield Energy Centre, and, as we know, that was produced to the Minister of the Environment; is that your understanding?


MR. KELLWAY:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. MANNING:  This is an environmental review report, and that's different from the full environmental assessment that will be carried out if the Minister had granted the request that we have recently heard about the bump‑up; is that correct?


MR. KELLWAY:  That's my understanding.


MR. MANNING:  Would that environmental assessment have been a considerably more detailed review, or about the same as this environmental review report, had it been ordered to be carried out?


MR. KELLWAY:  My understanding is it would have been a much broader exercise.


MR. MANNING:  Did the Ministry of the Environment, to your knowledge, go out, having received this report, and carry out their own testing?


MR. KELLWAY:  Not to my knowledge.


MR. MANNING:  Insofar as you have adopted the report, am I right in understanding that was entirely for the purpose of using it as the basis for the matters set out in the letter to Mr. O'Mara in tab 3?


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.


MR. MANNING:  The information about significant unmitigated environmental effects in that letter in tab 3, which relate to air quality, water and socioeconomic effects, is it correct to say that that information was drawn ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, this is Mr. Manning's witness.  If he has direct questions to ask that arose out of the cross‑examination, I think that is appropriate, but he is actually cross‑examining his own witness at the moment.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning?


MR. MANNING:  Well, could you clarify where the information for the letter to Mr. O'Mara was drawn?


MR. KELLWAY:  Well, the information was drawn from a variety of sources, including the environmental review report produced for Greenfield Energy Centre.  It also included -- it was drawn from other documents, Ministry of Environment documents, as well as a document at tab 7, and formed the ‑‑


MR. MANNING:  In preparing the letter to Mr. O'Mara, the scientific evidence relied on was in the ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Manning is leading the witness again, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, I would have thought that your questions to the witness in re-direct would deal only with the matters that have been raised directly through cross‑examination by another counsel, in this case Mr. Moran.  So I'm just trying still to make the links of what you're asking him.  


MR. MANNING:  I suppose it is ‑‑ I know it is simply this, sir.  Mr. Moran went to some pains to go individually through the individual documents and I think it is appropriate that Mr. Kellway be allowed to show the interrelationship of the documents between themselves.  My questions are only designed to deal with that element of his cross‑examination.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I guess if he has some follow-up questions on the documents, that's one thing, but it is quite another thing for him to actually lead the witness.


It is his witness, and the questions have to be direct questions and can't be leading questions in order to create a record that can't otherwise be created.


MR. MANNING:  That is entirely correct, sir, and I don't pretend to or wish to lead the witness, save to assist the time scale and the urgency of concluding this afternoon.


I entirely take that point.


You were asked -- I think this is my final question, Mr. Kellway.  You were asked by the Chairman for examples of activities in the environmental sphere of late.  I wonder if you could just clarify to the Board how the documents, in the first two tabs ‑‑ I don't ask you to speak to the content of those documents, but how those sort of documents relate to those activities.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, how is that relevant?  I mean, the documents have been excluded, so I'm not sure what relevance they have.


MR. MANNING:  Well, in demonstrating the answer to the question that was asked by Mr. Chairman, Mr. Moran, quite simply.  They are examples of the Society's involvement in ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, I will allow that question, since I have asked it.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  If it was asked on my behalf, I would seek to withdraw it, sir, but ...

     MR. MANNING:  Simply this, just to clarify to the Board the question you replied to from the ‑- Mr. Chairman about the Society's activities and the relevance of documents such as those in tabs 1 and 2.


MR. KELLWAY:  Yes.  Well, the energy issues, as part of the public policy debate that's been ongoing in this province for at least ten years, from the Society's perspective are indistinguishable from environmental issues.  If you're asking a question about the use of energy, you're asking questions also about environmental issues.


And so these documents speak to our position on environmental issues and environmental impacts of different forms of generation.  There is a clear connection between the energy economic issues or market issues that are out there about how our electricity industry is to be structured, and the type of technology, therefore, that comes into play in the generation of electricity; and, therefore, the environmental impacts of that technology, and it's all interrelated.  I hope that is responsive to the question.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  Sir, that is all my questions.  I'm grateful.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.  Mr. Kellway, thank you very much for being here.  You are excused.


MR. KELLWAY:  Oh, thank you for accommodating my issues on Monday.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you all for having the stamina today.  So we will return tomorrow then at 9 o'clock ‑‑ sorry.


MS. CHAPLIN:  You can come tomorrow.


MR. VLAHOS:  We will return Monday at 9 o'clock to 1:00 p.m., and it is my hope we can complete the evidentiary portion on Monday, but we will see.  We will adjourn until then.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:15 p.m.
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